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a Mahratta fleet of five vessels off Geriah, on
the Tth of April. This fleet was not, it ap-
pears, apprized of the peace; and Macleod,
full of impatience, temerity, and presumption,
instead of attempting an explanation, or sub-
mitting to be detained at Geriah for a few
days, gave orders to resist. The Ranger was
taken, after almost every man in the ship
was either killed or wounded. Major Shaw
was killed, and Macleod and Humberstone
wounded ; the latter mortally. He died in a
few days at Geriah, in the twenty-eighth year
of his age, and was lamented as an officer of
the most exalted promise; a man, who nou-
rished his spirit with the contemplation of
ancient heroes, and devoted his hours to the
study of the most abstruse sciences connected
with his profession.”
The English army was distributed in the
conquered provinces without any regard to
military science. Tippoo Sahib, well informed
of all that had taken place, and having bronght
his powerful army across from the Carnatie,
now entered upon the theatre of British tri-
umph and folly, Mathews still remained in
command, in consequence of the misfortune
which had befallen Macleod. He was not
prepared for an invasion of his newly-acquired
conquests by Tippoo Sultan in person. He
believed that his highness was in the Carnatic,
contesting for its mastery with General Stuart.
Mr. Murray thus deseribes the inroad of Tippoo
and the conduct of Mathews :—“Tippoo was
greatly annoyed on learning the fall of this im-
portant place | Bednore], and the near advance
of the enemy towards his capital. DMathews
was soon informed that successive corps were
throwing themselves on his rear, and sur-
rounding him with a force against which he
would be unable to cope. He had by this
time obtained permission from the Bombay
government to act according to his own dis-
cretion ; but he was now so elated by his easy
victory, that he placed blind confidence in
fortune, and even, according to certain state-
ments, believed himself aided by some super-
natural power. Thus, reposing in full security,
hie allowed his communications with the sea
to be intercepted, while his troops were sur-
rounded by Tippoo’s whole force, aided by
the science of Cossigny, a French engineer.
The garrison were driven into the citadel,
and, after a brave defence, were reduced to
the necessity of capitulating, though on fa-
vourable terms, receiving a promise that they
should be safely conducted to the coast.
When the Indian prince obtained admission
into Bednore, he proceeded to the treasury;
but, to his rage and dismay, found it empty.
Orders were then given to search the persons
of the English officers, on which unhappily
VOL, 11,
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was found a large sum both in money and
jewels, considered always in that country
public property.. Upon this discovery he
considered himself absolved from all that he
had stipulated ; the prisoners were thrown
into irons, and committed to the most rigorous
durance in the different fortresses of My-
sore.’*

T'o the south, the skill and vigour of a civil
gervant of the company, named Sullivan, in
connection with Colonels Fullarton and Lang,
secured great advantages. Caroor and Din-
digul, Palgaut and Coimbatore were captured.
Fullarton was so sucecessful, that towards the
end of the war he thought of marching against
Beringapatam, and was preparing to carry
that project out when peace was proclaimed.
While these events were going on in the west
of the peninsula, Stuart remained unwilling to
undertake anything in the east. The impor-
tunities of Lord Macartney, and the irritation
of his own officers, had at last some effect, and
in June he began a march which was intended
to support the efforts of the forces in Bombay.
While Stuart was doing nothing, M. Bussy,
who had before distingnished himself so much
during the war in the Uarnatic between the
English and French, arrived from the Isle of
France with large reinforcements. Dy the
13th of June, Stuart took post to the south
of Cuddalore ; Bussy, confronting him, oceu-
pied strong intrenchments defended by for-
midable redoubts, The English attacked him,
stormed a portion of the French works, and
captured a number of guns. Stuart, who had
proved so incompetent in the general and
comprehensive movements of a campaign,
showed himself a master of his profession on
the actual field of combat. This cirenmstance
confirmed the belief entertained in Madras,
that the inactivity of Stuart had arisen from
jealousy and dislike of Lord Macartney, and
the refusal of that governor to allow the ge-
neral the extraordinary powers which had
been held by Sir Eyre Coote. However this
may have been, the general battled bravely
and wisely with Bussy and his French army
at Cuddalore.

While the English were storming the
French lines, the fleet of Admiral Suffrein
appeared, and after the battle took on board
twelve hundred of Bussy's troops. Soon after
the English fleet encountered Suffrein; a long
engagement ensued, issuing in a drawn battle,
a very common case in those days when the
fleets of England and France met off those
coasts. Sir Edward Hughes, who commanded

the English navy, endeavoured to bring Suf-
frein to action again on the following day, but
* Mistory of British India.’ By Hugh Murray, Esq.,

F.R.S.E., p. 879 el
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that admiral successfully evaded these efforts.
Sir Edward then bore away for Madras roads ;
Suffrein, expecting such a course, cruised
about until opportunity was afforded of re-
landing the 1200 men he had received, and
with them he also landed 2400 more.

Bussy was now strong, and, selecting the
most efficient portion of his troops, he made a
well-planned and desperate sortie against the
English lines. The fight raged long and
fiercely, but never for a moment did the Eng-
lish give way on a single point. Stunart main-
tained his position everywhere unfalteringly,
and repulsed the French so decisively, that
the flower of their troops were left dead before
the English trenches. Certain Hanoverian
troops in the English service distinguished
themselves on the occasion by coolness and
discipline, which effectually supported the

more forward and fiery valour of the British, |

and gave confidence to the passive perform-
ance of duty by the sepoys. Colonel Wilks
relates an interesting aneedote connected with
this battle, in which the Hanoverian com-
mander had an honourable part:—* Among
the wounded prisoners was a young French
sergeant, who so particularly attracted the
notice of Colonel Wangenheim, commandant
of the Hanoveriax: troops in the English ser-
vice, by his interesting appearance and man-
ners, that he ordered the young man to be
conveyed to his own tents, where he was
treated with attention and kindness until his
recovery and release. Many years after-
wards, when the French army, under Berna-
dotte, entered Hanover, General Wangen-
heim, among others, attended the levee of the
conqueror. ‘ You have served a great deal;
said Bernadotte, on his being presented, ‘ and,
as I understand, in India.” *I have served
there) ‘At Cuddalore?’ ‘I was there.
‘Have you any recollection of a wounded
sergeant whom you took under your protec-
tion in the course of that service ?* The eir-
cumstance was not immediately present to the
general's mind ; but, on recollection, he re-
sumed: ‘I do, indeed, remember the circum-
stance, and a very fine young man he was.
I have entirely lost sight of him ever since;
but it would give me pleasure to hear of his
welfare.” ¢ That young sergeant, said Berna-
dotte, ‘was the person who has nowthe honour
to address you, who is happy in this public
opportunity of acknowleding the obligation,
and will omit no means within his power of
testifying his gratitude to Gieneral Wangen-
heim." 'The sergeant had become one of the
most distingnished of the generals of France :
it is almost unnecessary to remind the reader
that he subsequently attained the exercise of
sovercign power in Sweden.”
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Bussy had suffered go much in his sortie for
the relief of Cuddalore that he was in no con-
dition to make further efforts, and Stuart
would in all probability have destroyed  his
army, or compelled it to surrender, had not
intelligence been received by both comman-
ders of peace in Burope. Previous to the
cessation of hostilities between the English
and French, Tippoo Sahib continued his con-
quering career in the west. It is probable
he would have overrun all Western India, so
incompetent were the council of Bombay, and
the commanders-in-chief appointed by them,
had not the skill and bravery of some inferior
officers, in charge of fortified positions, resisted
his progress. This was the case on the coast
of Malabar, where several British forts held
out, but the most glorious and obstinate re-
sistance he encountered was at Mangalore
and Onore. Two British officers of compara-
tively humble rank, so directed the defence of
those cities that Tippoo and his lieutenants
were baffled and hindered in their general
measures. Finding it impossible to conquer
Britigh valour, when directed by competent
command, whether in the field or the breach,
Tippoo directed the investment of all places
having English garrisons, and the cutting off
of all supplies, so as to compel the garrisons
to surrender from famine. The numerous
army of the Mysoreans rendered this strategy
safe and expedient.

Soon after Bednore surrendered so igno-
miniously to Tippoo, he laid siege to Manga-
lore and Onore. The garrison of the former
was commanded by a brave and skilful officer
named Campbell; that of the latter by Tor-
riano, whose courage and gkill had seldom
been surpassed even in the annals of British
warfare. During the period which elapsed from
the time Tippoo laid siege to Mangalore to
the arrival of the news from Europe which
stopped hostilities at Cuddalore between Stuart
and Bussy, the garrison of Mangalore behaved
with the greatest intrepidity, Campbell ani-
mating the troops by his wisdom and conduct.
At that juncture the garrison was full of
hope, although surrounded by vast numbers
of the enemy. Tippoo himself by his pre-
sence encouraged the besiegers in every way
he could devise; but in vain. When the intelli-
gence of peace arrived, it was announced to Tip-
poo, and an armistice proposed, as one of the
articles of the treaty enjoined that the native
powers should have four months given to
them to adjust differences and fall in with the
treaty of concord between the two great Eu-
ropean powers. Tippoo was in a situation to
refuse any overtures for peace, had not the
French in his service immediately prepared
for departure on the reception of commands
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from Bussy to do so. Tippoo stormed and
raved with passion, and even threatened per-
sonal indignity to the French; but as they
firmly refused co-operation, he was obliged to
allow them to depart. Fearing that both
T'rench and English would unite against him,
if he refused the four months" armistice, he
reluctantly consented. The armistice ex-
tended also to Onore and the forts of Malabar.
According to the terms of the armistice Man-
galore, and the other places in the hands of
the British, were to be periodically supplied
with provisions. Tippoo considered that no
faith was to be kept with the English, who
had so basely betrayed and broken faith with
his father. It is not probable that, under
any circumstances, Tippoo would have ob-
sorved any treaty or armistice longer than
superior force constrained. At all events, in
this instance he resolved to render the armis-
tice virtually inoperative. He did all in his
power to prevent it. His lientenants at Onore
and the other forts were instructed to pursue
the same tactics. Works of offence against
all these places were carried on, while the
English conscientiously, in this and every other
particular, observed the agreement into which
they had entered. The gallant officer in
command at Mangalore besought relief from
Bombay; but the incompetent council did
nothing for his relief. It was in vain he pro-
tested that the sufferings of his troops passed
human endurance ; the council still remained
inactive. There were means which might
have been used for his relief, but the council
subsequently justified itself for neglecting
them, by alleging that they could not send aid
in face of the agreement of the armistice.
This plea was obviously a mere cover for
their supineness, because it was plain they
could not be bound by an armistice which
was broken by the power with which it was
made. Even when the four months of the
armistice expired, nothing was performed by
the authorities of Bombay to relieve the en-
during and noble garrison. It is remarkable
that, in the history of British power in India,
through the seventeenth and eighteenth cen-
turies, the civil servants of the company ge-
nerally, and the most favoured admirals and
generals, were utterly incompetent to meet
the duties and emergencies of their position.
A miserable mediocrity characterized the vast
majority of those who should have been se-
lected to occupy the posts they held by the
tests of high intelligence and practical ability.
England always found some few men like
Clive, Hastings, Coote, &e., in her moments
of peril; and Campbell at Mangalore was a
man of the elass who, in spite of the medio-
crities, gained England her renown.
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The history of his achievements, and those
of his brave soldiers, with the result of their
devotion under circumstances of shameful
neglect, has been given by Mill in summary,
but yet in terms sufficiently comprehensive
and complete for the purpose of a full know-
ledge of the facts :—“ At last a cessation of
hostilities, including the garrisons of Onore
and Curwar, was concluded on the 2nd of
August, Of this agreement one important
condition was, that the English garrison
should, three times a week, be furnished with
a plentiful market of provisions, at the rate of
Tippoo's camp. This was evaded, and prices
were daily in such a manner increased, that a
fowl was sold at eight, and even twelve ru-
pees; and other things in a like proportion.
At last the market was wholly cut off; and
horse-flesh, frogs, snakes, ravenous birds,
kites, rats, and mice, were greedily con-
sumed. Even jackals, devouring the Dodies
of the dead, were eagerly shot at for food.
The garrison had suffered these evils with
uncommon petseverance, when a squadron
appeared on the 22nd of November, with a
considerable army under General Macleod.
Instead of landing, the general, by means of
his secretary, carried on a tedious negotiation
with Tippoo; and having stipulated that pro-
visions for one month should be admitted into
the fortress, set sail with the reinforcement,
on the 1st of December. Even this supply
was drawn from damaged stores bought of a
navy agent, and of the beef and pork not one
in twenty pieces could be eaten, even by the
dogs. Another visit, with a similar result,
was made by General Macleod, on the 31st
of December. The desertion of the sepoys,
and the mutiny of the Huropeans, were now

daily apprehended ; two-thirds of the garrison
were sick, and the rest had scarcely strengthi
to sustain their arms; the deaths amounted
to twelve or fifteen every day; and at last,
having endared thege calamities till the 23rd
of January, the gallant Campbell, by whom
the garrison had been so nobly commanded,
offered, on honourable terms, to withdraw the
troops. The sultan was too eager to put an
end to a siege, which, by desertion and death,
had cost him neatly half his army, to brave
the constaney of so firm a foe; and they
marched to Tellicherry, with arms, accoutre-
ments, and honours of war.”

The defence of Onore was, if possible, still
more intrepid, and was more fortunate, if for-
tune be a term to apply to what came to pass
in the result of the extraordinary wisdom,
perseverance, and heroism of Captain Tor-
riano. The character of this hero may be
illustrated by a few preliminary facts con-

nected with his relation to Onore during the
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war. When General Mathews commenced
his operations in Malabar, while yet Hyder
lived, and his army ravaged the Carnatic,
Torriano was ordered by the general to attack
Onore, then garrisoned by the troops of My-
sore. Ielaid siege to it, and, although it was
defended by a powerful garrison, furnished
with all the appurtenances of war, he was in
six days in a condition to make the assault.
This he did with so much skill, that the place
was captured with little loss of life on either
side. The victor was as humane as he was
brave; he set the garrison at liberty, except
the principal officers, and treated them and
the sick with the kindest consideration and
care. This he did while Hyder was loading
English officers, his captives, with irons, and
consigning them to pestiferous and gloomy
dungeons. Mathews appointed the conqueror
of Onore its commandant. He soon made it
amagazine for the English in that part of the
newly-conquered territory, and he besought
the council of Bombay, through his general,
to strengthen the garrison, provide it with
supplies, and furnish such means as he knew
were available for increasing its defensive
strength. He foresaw that Hyder or his son
Tippoo would never allow the English to re-
tain their conquests without a struggle, and
would seek to reconquer the shores of Ma-
labar and the west country, even if obliged to
sacrifice the Carnatic in the attempt. The
Bombay council sent no supplies; very mo-
derate aid in food and men would have
enabled Torriano to accomplish his plans; but
no notice was taken of his good reasoning or
hisimportunity, His masters were conceited,
arrogant, and vulgar men,

Soon after Torriano was installed as com-
mandant of Fort Onore, he discovered that
“the killadar” of Hyder had hid his jewels
during the siege by the English. He restored
them to the owner, and sent him away free.
The traders of the place had followed the ex-
ample of the killadar, and hid their valuable
effects deep in the recesses of the neighbouring
jungle. He brought them thence, and restored
them to their owners. His detractors, envious
of his fame, and anxious to please the incom-
petent rulers of Bombay, afterwards endea-
voured to create an impression that he had
possessed himself of the jewels and merchan-
dise.* The inhabitants who had fled returned,
many of the natives of the surrounding country
possessed of property took up their residence
in the place, anxious to live under the govern-
ment of one so equitable and generous.

An island at the mouth of the Onore river,
called Fortified Island by the English, was

* Oriental DMemoirs, By James Forbes, F.R.S. 4
yols,, 4to. London, 1813, ;
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still in the hands of the enemy. Torriano
laid siege to it, and the garrison capitulated.
His acts of generosity and justice there also,
were such as have been already related in
connection with his occupation of the more
important fortress. He continued to govern
the city in a manner which obtained the ho-
nour and respect of troops and people for the
short time the authority of the English re-
mained undisputed. But soon, like the ap-
proach of a thunder-cloud, silent and porten-
tous, the army of Tippoo advanced: and
then, as the pent-up thunders finding vent,
it rolled the terrors of renewed war over
all that portion of Western India. Tippoo
found little resistance; imbecility, and even
cowardice, dishonoured the arms of England.
Torriano remonstrated against the military
folly of his superiors, especially the surrender
of Barcelore, from which the garrison fled in
abject terror to Onore, which place they would
hardly have been able to reach had he not
taken measures to ensure their safe arrival.
Yet, with these beaten and cowed soldiers,
who, under stupid commanders, were so spi-
ritless and discomfited, he maintained one of
the most gallant defences recorded in history,
so completely did his own heroism penetrate
and inspire all around him, A committee of
English civilians at Bednore ordered him, at
this juncture, to abandon Onorve, spike his
guns, and destroy his stores. He replied that
his general had ordered him to keep Onore,
and he would keep it, and declined obedience
to any orders but such as came from his com-
mander-in-chief, informing the committee, in
terms at once courteous and firm, that no
British general could give such orders in re-
ference to a place of such relative importance.
He remained drilling his recruits and feeding
the fugitives from Barcelore until the career
of Tippoo led him to expect an early visit.
He went out upon a reconnaissance with a
portion of his troops, attended by one field-
piece, and encountered the vanguard of a corps
d'armée of Tippoo, under the command of
Lutoph Ali Bey, a Persian who had served
Hyder with distinction. It was then the
middle of May. The assailants were ten
thousand men, The Persian general sent in
a flag of truce, demanding an unconditional
surrender, and received a reply brief and de-
fiant. Soon after a skirmish occurred, in
which neither party had advantage : the Eng-
lish, however, fell back before the superior
force of the enemy. A second flag of truce
was sent in, renewing the demand for sur-
render, to which no reply was returned.

On the 10th of June, a breaching hattery
began to play upon the fort, whick the author
of Oriental Memoirs deseribes thus ;—¢The
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rampart was narrow and bad; the high walls
not more than three feet thick, generally more
a mass of mud than of masonry, and through
which an eighteen-pound shot easily passed.”
By field works and other defences the en-
gineer officer supplied, as far as possible, the
deficiencies of the old fortifications, and dur-
ing the night the garrison and citizens worked
hard to repair the damages done by the fire
of the enemy during the day.

About the middle of June a sortie was
effected, which tended much to increase the
heart of the garrison, and to dispirit the
enemy. Seven guns were spiked, and a con-
siderable number of the enemy bayoneted,
before they could prepare for defence, so sud-
den was the onslaught. Torriano had only
gix men wounded. One of these was left be-
hind with both thighs broken. The Persian
general, in admiration of the bravery dis-
played, sent him into the city. Torriano re-
warded the bearers, and sent a present to the
Persian chief, with thanks for his humanity
and courtesy. The troops that effected this
gallant sortie were British. A second sally
was not so fortunate ; the troops led out were
sepoys, and they deserted their leaders. Tor-
riano himself, with desperate resolution, but
with great difficulty, rallied them in time to
save the officers.

The enemy was now daunted, and the anger
of the previously polite Persian increased to
fury. Three countrymen, who had rendered
services to the English foraging parties, were
seized, their hands cut off, and, in this muti-
lated' condition, sent within the English lines.

On the 1st of July the breaching batteries,
strengthened by a numberof very heavy guns,
opened with decisive effect. The walls were
really shalen; the loss of life was counsider-
able; most of the officers were wounded, and
among them Torriano himself. The Persian
commander heard by his spies that the Eng-
lish commander was hit mortally, and he sent
in an old woman to bring him more authentic
tidings on the subject; determining, if her
report should prove favourable, to storm the
breach which his batteries had already made.
"The vigilance of Torriano soon detected the
old woman, He sent her back with the mes-
sage, “ Shonld he on any future occasion send
female emissaries, they might possess more
youth and beauty; that they should be well
received, and returned to his camp with as
much safety as the antiquated duenna who was
then conducted out of the garrison.” The
sufferings of the garrison from the fire of the
besiegers now became great, and the sepoys
shirked duty in every possible way. These
men were mostly reeruits from central India,
fine looking, stalwart native soldiers; but they
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had no manliness, nor loyalty to the cause

~which they were there to defend.

The want of provisions, and the appearance
of fever, soon produced desertion among these
men, which Torriano in vain endeavoured to
stop by means of kindness, and by rewards.
He at last caught one of the fugitives, and
proclaimed that he would spare his life if no
further desertions took place. His comrades
cared mnot for his life: that night numerous
desertions took place. The next day the
native troops were paraded in front of the
breach, and the apprehended deserter was
blown through it from the mouth of a cannon,
All means were taken to make this ceremonial
impressive. The troops were marched to the
glow measure of funeral military musie; the
drums rolled to the dead march, and the eul-
prit was conducted with a stern and imposing
solemnity to the place of execution. These
proceedings produced no effect; the sepoys had
no ear for any kind of musie, cared little for
human life, were inspired by no magnanimous
sympathies, and were plotting desertion on a
large geale, while the captain was hoping for
important results from the appalling scene.
That night a number of sepoys, officers and
men, went over to the enemy.

Thus matters continued, the enemy trust-
ing to their cannon, the English to tleir skill
in repairing the demolitions effected, and to
their gallant sorties ; until at last, on the 24th
of August, Captain Torriano was officially in-
formed of the armistice by a messenger sent
by the Dritish agent from the sultan’s camp
before Mangalore. So far- as Onore was
concerned, it contained these stipulations :—

“ A guard shall be placed in the fort from
the sultan’s troops, and one in the trenches,
from the fort, to observe that no operations
are carried on, nor any works erected on
either side.

“ A bazaar, or market, shall be daily sup-
plied to the fort, containing all kinds of pro-
visions, which the troops belonging to the
garrison shall be allowed to purchase.

“Thirty days’ provision may be received
monthly from Bombay, but no military stores
orammunition will be allowed to enter the fort.”

Lutoph Ali determined to render nuga-
tory the armistice, just as Tippoo himself wag
prepared to do at Mangalore. The English
commander, finding that all the stipulations for
the suspension of arms were violated, except
that the enemy did not open their batteries or
attempt to storm the place, applied to the
commander-in-chief of Tippoo’s army, to
whom Lutoph was second in command. "l‘he
Persian pretended to send these communica-
tions, but retained the letters, Torriano had
no means of sending any communications
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from the city, but through the harcarrahs of
the sultan.

Lutoph Ali effectnally prevented the en-
trance of provisions. To the remonstrances
of the English captain he returned the most
polite answers, but in no way altered his pro-
ceedings, He had obviously resolved to starve
the garrison. The Englishman managed, how-
ever, by threats of a sortie, to exact some at-
tention to his demands for permission to secure
supplies. Matters were in this state when,
on the 27th of September, Mr. Cruso, a British
military surgeon, arrived at the mouth of the
river, and, after some detention in the camp
of the besiegers, was permitted to enter the
fort. He brought letters from Captain Camp-
bell, the gallant defender of Mangalore, full of
admiration of the defence of Onore conducted
by its commander. The surgeon also brought
letters from General Macleod, which, as might
be expected from that officer, were satisfactory
in no respect, excepting only that they ex-
pressed his esteem for the hero of Onore, and
his admiration of the glorious defence that had
been made. Torriano had written letters to
Macleod, which Lutoph Ali pretended to for-
ward ; it now appeared that he had withheld
the whole of this correspondence,

After all, there was no great improvement
in the conduct of the enemy, or the condition
of the besieged. Rumours of treachery also
reached the ears of the HEnglish commandant,
and he was obliged to use the most vigilant
precautions, sleeping very close to the chief
breach. Lutoph Ali was recalled by the sul-
tan, or the chief commander of the Mysorean
armies ; and a Mysorean, a bigoted Moham-
medan, assumed the command of the blockad-
ing force. Torriano immediately addressed
this person, Geeneral Mow Mirza Khan, ex-
pressing the hope that the terms of the armis-
tice wounld be loyally observed in future, Mirza
professed acquiescence in all that the British
officer required, and proferred his friendship
in terms of lofty adulation. Mirza falsified
all these fine professions almost the moment
they were made. The blockade was more
striet than ever. Mirza also sought, under
various pretences, to get a large body of
troops within the British lines; and especially
insisted upon the necessity of sending four
hundred men within the English works, to
repair two of the sultan’s ships which lay in
the river. This was first demanded by his
predecessor, and was now pertinaciously nrged
by Mirza. Torriano satisfied himself with cold
refusals; but finding that Mirza persisted in
the urgency of his suit, and hearing that force
was to be employed, the English captain sent
a peremptory refusal. The communication,
as described by Forbes, is so characteristic,
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that it will interest the reader, who cannot
fail to admire the heroic and indomitable
man :—“ Captain Torriano, justly incensed,
desired the sccond emissary to acquaint his
master that, conceiving the request to have
been first made in obedience to the sultan's
commands, while his own mind reprobated
his conduct, he had preserved great modera-
tion in his answer, which he flattered himself
would have been ascribed to its true source,
a personal delicacy to Mirza, DBut since a re-
petition of the demand had been made, he
deemed it an insolent puerility, so little be-
coming the character of Mirza, that he hoped
he did not err in imputing it to the short-
sighted policy and chicanery of the Brahmins
by whom he was surronnded. That the proper
time for restoring the ships would be when
the sultan’s troops were able to take the out-
works in which they stood; until that event,
the commander was determined not only to
leep possession of the vessels, but if wood for
fuel was not immediately supplied for the gar-
rison, the ships would be broken up for that
purpose.”

After this Mirza became exceedingly hos-
tile, and in various ways broke through the
armistice in an ostentatious and vielent man-
ner. Torriano prepared to remew hostilities,
when the Mysore commander alarmed at the
possible consequence to himself of having
provoked snch a result, made apologies, but
even while he made them was devising fresh
expedients for depriving the garrison of op-
portunity to procure provisions. Among the
various military qualities of Torriano, was
the faculty of cbtaining information of the
purposes and proceedings of the enemy.
He carried on communications with Manga-
lore through the medium of a spy, after he
found that letters which the Mysorean gene-
ral promised to convey were detained. The
account given of the agent employed by Tor-
riano for this purpose, by Forbes, is extremely
interesting. He thus deseribes the modus ope-
randt of this emissary, and the peculiar per-
sonage himself :—“ Although the daring spy
had to pass through the enemy’s camps before
Onore and Mangalore, he effected the purpose
required by entering through a hole in the
wall of the latter fortress, when strictly
blockaded by Tippoo Sultan. The messenger
returned with Colonel Campbell's answer,
and being then desired to take whatever sum
he thought proper, from a bag of venetians
placed before him, he not only declined this
mode of remuneration, but submitted it en-
tirely to the generosity of the commandant;
and further requested that he would become
his banker, declaring that he would continne

to serve him faithfully, and would never re-
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ceive any reward until he might conceive
that he was suspected by the enemy, when
he should avail himself of the fruit of his
labours to such an extent as, in his opinion,
he could carry off free from molestation. . . .
He was a squalid, meagre figure, without
the smallest appearance of enterprise, but
possessing great acuteness and firmmness of
character . . . .. The period at length arrived
when he called upon the commandant, and
informing him that he had reason to con-
clude himself suspected by the enemy of
holding an intercourse with the fort, he must
consult his safety by a precipitate and secret
flight. To this no objection could fairly be
made. The garrison had essentially bene-
fited in many instances by his firmness and
fidelity, and he was entitled to trace out his
own line of conduct whenever it seemed most
advisable. On parting, Captain Torriano
was not without anxiety for his safety; he
told him the fate of Onore could not long
remain undecided ; that, should he survive
until that period, it was his resolution to
reward his services still further by settling on
him a pension, provided he could contrive to
join him in any of the company's districts.
He was then desired to remunerate himself to
the fullest extent of his wishes, and ample
means set before him for the purpose. He
was, however, satisfied with little, saying
that, in the event of his being seized, and
much money discovered upon him, the very
circumstance would prove his destruection.

He then took his leave, and passed the Eng-

lish posts ; but whether he succeeded in effect-
ing his escape into the interior part of the
country, or was taken in the attempt and put
to death, has never been known, no tidings
having ever been heard of him since that
period.”

By some critics the opinion has been enter-
tained that this spy was after all in the inte-
rest of the enemy, or that he ultimately became
so. 'The opinions of Forbes are the most
reliable, as he was well acquainted with the
views of Torriano himself, who was hig friend,
and he had also the narrative of Surgeon
Cruso to guide-him in his memoirs, and Cruso
was the diplomatist of the little garrison from
the time of his arrival, until the war was
over. Through the medium of the spy,
Captain Campbell sent word from Mangalore
that he had reason to believe an attack on
the garrison of Onore was contemplated in
gpite of the armistice. Torriano took effectual
measures to prevent its success, but such
news much increased his anxieties. The next
day a letter and some provisions came from
General Macleod, whose conduct was pre-
cisely that which Mill, with such terseness,
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describes :—“The Mysorean general, finding
that all other modes had failed, of causing the
garrison to depart during the armistice,
adopted plans to seduce the allegiance of the
sepoys. In this, he was successful ; they were
loyal only so long as fortune favoured the
brave. The sepoys within had to be watched
as vigilantly as the Mysoreans without. Thus
the year 1783 closed over the still beleaguered
and suffering garrison. Mirza, in defiance
of all military honour, and of his own word,
received the deserters, who, as the year
1784 began, became still more numerouns.”
In January, pestilence spread rapidly. Mr.
Cruso, the surgeon, thus described its effects:
— Disease was mnow so prevalent, that
hardly one man in the fort remained un-
tainted; eight or ten died daily, and so soon
became offensive that a number of graves
were constantly kept in readiness; but the
dogs, savage with hunger, generally tore up
the dead bodies at night, and strewed the
outworks with their mangled remains,”

At this juncture a British officer, an ensign,
deserted to the enemy, and a numerous body
of native soldiers accompanied him. This
was the heaviest blow the suffering garrison
had received, and not until then did the head
of the noble Torriano droop. Still his gal-
lant heart bore up against all calamities, his
courage fell not. It soon became obvious
by the proceedings of the enemy, that the
English officer who had forsaken his country,
and his honour, had given every information
whieh his previous position enabled him to
possess. This was a fresh task upon the
vigilanee of the unslumbering commandant.
Before the month of January clesed, the con-
dition of the garrison and the town from
disease and hunger became truly horrible.
Forbes thus deseribes it, basing his descrip-
tion upon the account of Cruso :—*The for-
tress exhibited a dreadful scene; the hos-
pitals overflowed with patients in every stage
of the horrid disorder already mentioned.
The bodies of the diseased were for the most
part so distended by putrid air, as scarcely
to leave a trace of the human frame; and it
was with difficulty a feature could be distin-
guished in the countenance; while their
laborious breathing indicated every appear-
ance of strangulation. The ear could no-
where escape the groans of the dying, nor
the eye avoid these shocking spectacles; but
why should language attempt to describe dis-
tress, which the conduet of the sufferers painte:
in more vivid eolours? These poor wretches,.
formerly subjects of a sovereign whose soul
never knew mercy nor felt for human woe,
when the victorious flag of Britain first waved
on the ramparts of Onore, fled to it as an
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asylum from the sultan’s oppressions, and
received protection; yet now did these de-
voted beings, snatching a transient degree of
strength from despair, crawl into the public
road, and waiting there until the commanding
officer went his evening rounds, prostrated
themselves at his feet, imploring permission to
quit this dreadful scene, and, as a lighter evil,
meet the vengeance of an incensed tyrant.
Their prayer was granted, and the same
prineiple of national honour, which originally
ensured them protection, was now extended
for their safety. Proper persons were ap-
pointed to see them go out in small parties
after it was dark, hoping by this precaution
that such as were not too much exhausted to
reach the enemy’s lines unperceived might,
from their deplorable condition, excite the
commiseration of the sentinels at the out-
posts, and ultimately reach the distant vil-
lages. The following morning presented a
dreadful spectacle. On the preceding even-
ing, eighty-eight of the inhabitants, men,
women and children, had been permitted to
leave the fort; but were so entirely ex-
hausted that their route to the sultan’s
trenches was traced by a line of dead bodies,
with the more aggravated spectacle of living
infants sucking the breast of their dead
mothers.”

Even the horrors of Kars, during the
Russian war of 1855-56, did not surpass in
intensity those of Onore during this faithless
and terrible blockade. With the increase of
sickness came the increase of treason :—* All
the sepoys posted in the outworks, headed by
their jemautdar, had agreed to desert to the
enemy the following night. The guards were
directly withdrawn from the outworks, and
the guns brought into the fort. The jemaut-
dar, suspected to be the ringleader, was put
in irons, and sent into close confinement;
where, conscious of his guilt, he committed
suicide.”

Torriano now addressed General Macleod,
who still kept sailing about the coast, effect-
ing no good, and doing much mischief, The
letter is a touching memorial of the glorions
soldier :—* Regardless of my own fate, I
cannot but acutely feel the sufferings of my
brave comrades, who, although now greatly
reduced in number, a prey to disease, sur-
rounded by death, and deceived by fruitless
promises of relief, still adhere to me. Within
the short period of six weeks, five hundred
persons, soldiers and natives, have fallen vie-
tims to a cruel pestilence which rages within
these walls, Desertion mnearly keeps pace
with death ; so serious and so incredible is
the former, that amongst the number lately
gone over to the enemy is a British officer.
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“ Mirza is daily urging us, in the strongest
terms and most threatening manner to capi-
tulate. Every means in my power shall
be exerted to defend this place while a grain
of rice remains for subsistence; but I trust
the British arms will not be so shamefully
tarnished, as to admit this fortress unsup-
ported to fall into the enemy's hands. Of
my few officers, death has deprived me of
one, desertion of another; my garrison is
reduced to sixty effective men. The quantity
of provisions remaining in the fort is very
small, and great part of the rice is much
damaged.

“The enemy have received a strong rein-
forcement, and the buxey informs me they
are to be increased by ten additional bat-
talions; on their arrival more hostile mea-
sures will be adopted.

“ I have great reason to be apprehensive
for the safety of Fortified Island.

“T will not relinquish the hope that I
shall not be left to a capitulation, even
though accompanied by the best terms, and
originating in the most absolute necessity.”

A form of disease new to the garrison,
scurvy, broke out in the beginning of Feb-
ruary ; but this was checked by the skill of
Cruso, and the sanitary measures of the
commandant.

On the 4th of March, Fortified Island was
attacked and taken by the foe. The sepoys
were enlisted in Tippoo’s service; they always
sympathised with the fortunate. The English
officers were robbed. The ecapture of the
island was contrary to the agreement existing ;
and when Torriano demanded redress and its
restoration, the Mysorean commander forged
a story which proves in a striking manner
the utter faithlessness and falsehood of the
native character in India in every grade of
life among Mohammedans. Dr. Cruso thus
relates the fabrication by which the Moham-
medan general accounted for his having
possession of the island, and of the British
prisoners :—* Extraordinary as it may appear
to those unacquainted with the duplicity and
chicanery of the Indian character, Mirza po-
sitively denied having attacked the island;
and gravely replied that the English officer
commanding there had for some time given
great disgust to his sepoys, by refusing them
proper provisions, whilst he luxuriously feasted
upon poultry and liguors sent from time to
time for the use of the gentlemen at Onore.
At the time his people were thus disaffected,
this imprudent officer endeavoured to seduce
the. wife of a naique, who was by caste a
Brahmin, and at length had recourse to vio-
lence. On this outrage the husband flew to
his comrades, interested them and their je-
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mantdar in his cause, and they went in a body
to the officer’s quarters ; where, remonstrating
with a freedom which he construed into inso-
lence, they were threatened with death. The
aggrieved party had immediate recourse to
arms, and attacked the officer, who was sup-
ported by half his garrison. This occasioned
the irregular fire heard at Onore. While
these mutual hostilities were pending, one of
the sultan’s boats, accidentally passing For-
tified Island, was hailed by the mutineers,
who entreated to be taken on board. This
being reported to Mirza, he sent over a mes-
senger to the English officer to represent the
folly of continuing at his post with only eleven
men, recommending him to leave the island,
and offering him every accommodation in his
camp, until an opportunity presented itself for
proceeding to an English settlement. The
officer declined quitting the island, but desired
Mirza would send over a sufficient force to
take charge of the fort: his request was com-
plied with, and these were the men who had
been seen from the ramparts of Onore. All
this was related by Mirza in the gravest man-
ner ; and the jemautdar, the Brahmin naique
and his wife, with five sepoys (tutored for the
purpose, at the peril of their lives) were
brought into the durbar, to corroborate
Mirza's story. It is almost unnecessary to
observe that the whole of this tale was a fa-
brication of the sultan's officer to deceive the
commandant.”

Famine, pestilence, and desertion within,
perfidy and harassing blockade without, con-
tinued to afflict the suffering garrison and its
heroic chief, when, on March 7th, General
Macleod paid one of his flying visits on the
coast. As usual, he made proffers of service
which he made no attempts to perform. At
last, deliverance came. The honour of the
garrison and its intrepid commander were
saved. Peace was concluded, and the Madras
commissioners sent a ship to convey the gar-
rison away, and orders to Torriano to deliver
Onore to the nabob’s officer. The commis-
sioners, however, neglected to make any pro-
vision in the treaty for the protection of the
inhabitants who had sided with the English,
or for the removal of military stores. L'or-
riano had by boldness and dexterity to secure
these objeets.

Mirza entertained his former enemy mag-
nificently, and seemed quite unconscious of
having merited reprobation by his eruelty and
perfidy. Forbes describes the closing scene
of this in the following paragraph:—*The
guard was now ordered to leave the fort:
while they were embarking, the Soubahdar
Missauber, having locked the gates on the
inside, at a gignal made by Captain Torriano,
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struck the British colours, and coming through
a sally-port, resigned the keys to the sultan’s
officer ordered to take possession; whose de-
tachment waited without the outworks until
this ceremony had taken place. The whole
being now salely embarked, Captain Torriano
followed with two chests of treasure belonging
to the company. Night coming on, they were
obliged to anchor under the guns of the fort
until daybreak, when the Wolf gallivat and
all the boats proceeded over the bar; the
officers embarked on board the Hawke India-
man, and the whole fleet sailed for Bombay.”
Torriano exhausted his means and his influ-
ence in rewarding his brave followers. As
far as his power allowed, he made promotions,
and distributed presents which were at all
events valuable as coming from him. He
was himself neglected. He obtained a brevet
majority after considerable delay! The day
in which he lived and fought, and served his
country so well, was unfavourable to the re-
ward of the meritorious, Interest with the
government, not genius or devotion, advanced
men in the path of military promotion. On
the eastern side of the peninsula, the govern-
ment of Madras seemed determined to exceed
that of Bombay in folly and weakness. They
placed reliance on the promises of Tippoo and
his generals, who never kept faith themselves
nor showed any confidence in the word of
others. The English, Tippoo's father had
too much reason to distrust; and the sultan
himself was not disposed to forget the fact.
The Madras government, in May, 1785,
appointed commissioners to treat with Tippoo,
and these men acted with credulity and irre-
solution, betraying extreme ignorance of
everything which the task imposed upon
them demanded. Colonel Fullarton, who, in
the south, had carried all before him, driving
Tippoo’s commandants from their strongholds,
and possessing himself of a country fruitful
and well cultivated, was ordered to give up
his conquests, in order to appease Tippoo,
and make peace (which the commissioners be-
lieved was sure) more satisfactory. In vain
Fullarton resisted and remonstrated ; the ig-
norant commissioners, worthy representatives
of the Madras council, insisted upon obedience,
The celebrated missionary, Schwartz, wasin-
terpreter to these gentlemen, and he also
remonstrated upon the folly of the course
pursued. “Is the peace so certain,” said the
astufe and pious interpreter, “ that you quit
all before the negotiation is ended? The
possession of these rich countries would have
kept Tippoo in awe, and inclined him to rea-
sonable terms. But you quit the reins, and
how will you manage the beast?” When,
however, Fullarton had reluctantly and tar-
3F
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dily surrendered most of his conquests, the
impracticable commissioners, in great alarm,
ordered him to resume them.

The commissioners, having expended much
useless time in preliminary negotiations with
Tippoo’s lieutenants and vakeels, at last pro-
ceeded to the head-quarters of the sultan's
army, to arrange with him in person a peace
based upon the principle of the status quo
ante bellum. On their way to the camp of
the sultan, they were treated with indignity,
and their progress impeded in every way by
the sultan’s officers. On their arrival there,
tents were assigned them and a gallows erected
opposite each. Communications with their
countrymen were prohibited. The first piece
of intelligence they received was of the mur-
der of General Mathews and many other
English prisoners, some of them officers of
merit and distinction. Mr. Schwartz, the
missionary interpreter, was seized and sent
away, and the commissioners were not ac-
quainted with any of the languages of India.
Colonel Wilks declares that those gentlemen
meditated flight. He rests his authority on
the testimony of Captain, afterwards Sir
Thomas Dallas, who commanded the escort
which accompanied them. According to that
officer’s testimony, their plan was to leave the
officer and his escort in the hands of the
enemy, who would have murdered them, and,
by an ingenious stragatem, they hoped to es-
cape to the ships. A native servant of the
captain understood English, and had been
employed as interpreter, in consequence of
the impossibility of procuring an educated
person. This man, while lying outside the
tent of one of the commissioners, where they
were all assembled, overheard a conversation
amongst them and with a surgeon from one
of the ships in the roads, who was the chosen
agent of the project. The native servant,
being attached to his master, revealed the
danger to which he was exposed, who took
successful measures to prevent the execution
of the plot. In England, when this charge
was made, such of the commissioners as were
then alive denied the truth of the statement >
but General Dallas affirmed it. Those who
are curious as to the disputed points of Indo-
English history in connection with the wars
in Mysore, may see the narrative at length in
the pages of Colonel Wilks.* Weighing the

* Wilks® Sketcles, vol. ii. pp. 515—517.
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evidence as produced by that gallant officer
against the defence of Mr. Huddlestone, the
gallant colonel seems to make out a ease too
formidable for successful denial.

1t was not until the 11th of May, 1784,
that the treaty wassigned. Probably Tippoo
would have prosecuted the war, and placed
the bodies of the commissioners on gibbets,
had the folly and imbecility of these gen-
tlemen as well as of the councils at Bombay
and Madras determined matters; but Hast-
ings, far off in Calcutta, extended his super-
vision to all the wide field of war and diplo-
macy in which the English were engaged,
and the influence of his intellect and of his
name was felt in the camp of the Mysoreans
and the durbar of their king. The English
prisoners who had been geized contrary to
the armistice, received no compensation ; nor
did the relatives of the men whom Hyder had
caused to die by incarceration, or of those
who were assassinated by Tippoo’s orders.
It was characteristic of English politicians
that the sufferings and wrongs of their coun-
trymen, however nobly endured, and however
serviceable to their country, were overlooked
in negotiations when an end was to be accom-
plished. The diplomatists of the crown and
of the company were alike in this respeet ;
the wrongs of individual sufferers and the
merit of particular servants were regarded
with indifference, if the public object in view
at the time could be promoted, or apparently
promoted, by that indifference. Often, when
a little attention and care would secure public
objects, and protect or secure redress for the
wrongs of individuals, there was such a want
of feeling, sympathy, and justice among the
ruling classes of Englishmen, that the claims
of their less influential brethren were totally
unheeded.

On the whole, Tippoo was a gainer by the
treaty and by the war, but the revenues of
the Inglish were in such a condition as to
make it imperative upon the governor-general
to accomplish a peace with Mysore.# The
desire of the directors at home for speedy
terms of accommodation was, on the same
grounds,intensely urgent.§ From these causes,
the proclamation of peace with Tippoo Sahib
was regarded by Hastings as fortunate to his
government.

* Stewart’s History of Bengel, London, 1813,

T Hislory of the Last India Company, London, 1798,
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CHAPTER LXXXIX,

NAVAL OPE RATIONS IN THE INDIAN SEAS DURING THE WAR WITH MYSORE, FRANCE, SPAIN,
AND HOLLAND—CAPTURE OF NEGAPATAM, TRINCOMALEE, ETC, FROM THE DUTCH—
LOSS OF TRINCOMALEE TO THE FRENCH.

Dunixe a considerable portion of the time in
which hostilities were waged with Mysore, it
will be seen from the foregoing pages that
war existed with France, and that the French
were the active and efficient allies of Hyder
and his son Tippoo. The war with France
greatly complicated the relations of the Eng-
]ish. wit]} both those sovereigns, and led to
various independent actions, especially at sea.
The English had the advantage on the ocean,
but the battles fought were indecisive. The
French for the most part evaded general en-
gagements, and succeeded in landing troops
and stores, or in bearing them away from one
place to another. They were afraid of the
English at sea, yet did not show such a de-
cided inferiority as to justify the extreme
respect which they entertained for the naval
power of England. The French admirals
were, in the Indian waters, far more active,
vigilant, and wary than the English. The
latter, by their slow movements and want of
watchfulness, often allowed French squadrons
to effect what they wonld not have dared to
attempt had the English commanders been
sufficiently on the alert. It has been already
seen that the fleets under the command of
the English admiral, Hughes, and the French
admiral, Suffrein, had various skirmishes off
the Coromandel coast. Suffrein, early in
1781, collected the elements of a maritime
force in DBrest, and the English at the same
time organized a fleet. The supposition in
England was, that the expedition was intended
for the Spanish Main. The British govern-
ment, however, intended it for the Hast: at
all events, that was the direction ultimately
given to it. It is probable that from the first
the acquisition of the Cape of Good Hope,
and the assertion of British ascendancy in the
East, were the ends designed. “ One ship of
seventy-fonr guns, one of sixty-four, three of
fifty, several frigates, a bomb-vessel, a five-
ship and some sloops of war composed the
squadron; of which Commodore Johnstone,
with a reputation for decision and boldness,
received the command. A land force, con-
gisting of three new regiments of one thou-
sand men each, was placed under the conduct
of General Meadows, who had procured fame
in the action at St. Lueia with D’HEstaing.
On the 13th of March, in company with the
grand fleet destined for the relief of Gibraltar,
the armament sailed from St. Helen's, and,

including several outward-bound East In-
dianien, with store-vessels and transports,
amounted to upwards of forty sail. The se-
cret, however, of this expedition had not heen
so vigilantly gnarded as to eseape the sagacity
of the Dutch and the French. The armament
under Suffrein was ultimately destined to
reinforce the squadron now at the Isle of
France; and to oppose the English fleet in
the Indian seas. But the particular instrue-
tions of that officer were, in the first instance,
to follow, and counteract the expedition of
Johnstone, and above all, his designs upon the
Cape of Good Hope. For the sake of water
and fresh provisions, the English squadron
put into Prava Bay in St. Jago, one of the
Cape de Verde Islands; and, having no ex-
pectation of an enemy, cast their anchors as
chance or convenience directed. A consider-
able proportion both of men and of officers,
partly for business, partly for pleasure, were
permitted to go on shore; and the decks were
speedily crowded with water-casks, live stock,
and other incumbrances. On the 16th of
April, after nine o'clock in the morning, a
strange fleet, suspected to be Krench, was
seen coming round the eastern point of the
harbour; and Suflvein, separating from the
convoy with his five sail of the line, soon pe-
netrated to the centre of the English fleet.
The utmost dispatch was employed in getting
the men and officers on board, and preparing
the ships for action. The French ship, the
Hannibal, of seventy-four guns, led the van,
and coming as close to the Iinglish ships as
she was able, dropped her anchors with a re-
solution which excited a burst of applause
from the British tars, She was followed by
the ship of Suffrein, of equal force. Another
of sixty-four guns anchored at herstern. And
the two other ships, of sixty-four guns each,
ranged through the fleet, firing on either side
as they proceeded along. The ships being
extremely near, and the guns being played
with unusual fury, much destruction was
effected in a little time.  After the abatement
of the first surprise, several of the Indiamen
brought their guns to bear upon the enemy
with good effeet. Within an hour, the French
ships at anchor had suffered so terribly, that
the last of the three, having lost her captain,
cut her cables and began to withdraw, Thus
deserted astern, and despairing of success,
Suffrein followed her example, and gave the
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signal to retreat; the Hannibal alone re-
mained, a mark for every ship the guns of
which could be made to bear upon her; and
displayed a resolution which may be com-
pared with the noblest examples of naval
heroism. She had lost her foremast and
bowsprit; her cable was either cut or shot
away ; in the effort of hoisting more sail to
get out of the fire, her main and mizen masts
went overboard, and she remained, as it were,
a hull upon the water. Sustaining the weight
of a dreadful fire, to which, enfeebled as she
was, her returns were slow and ineffectual,
she yet joined the rest of the ships at the
mouth of the bay; and, being towed off,
erected jury-masts, and proceeded with the
fleet. An attempt on the part of the English
to pursue was totally ineffectual. They sus-
tained not any considerable loss, mnotwith-
standing the closeness of the action, and the
crowded situation of the ships. Their own
steady and determined bravery counteracted
the effects of surprise, and baffled the well-
concerted scheme of the enemy. They re-
mained fo refit and provide till the 2nd of
May, and on approaching the Cape, ascertained
that Suffrein had arrived before them. Though
previous to the arrival of Suffrein, that settle-
ment, then supposed of great importance, was
not in a condition to have offered any consi-
derable resistance to Meadows and Johnstone,
it was now accounted vain to make on it any
attempt.”™*

At this juncture, a Dutch fleet of East In-
diamen lay in Saldanha bay. The admiral
resolved to eut them “out, and the enterprise
was attended with success. The commodore
returned with his own ship and the prizes
and frigates to Burope. The restof the fleet,
with the troops, proceeded to India. Suffrein
strengthened the garrison at the Cape, so as
to resist any attack from the English, and di-
rected his course also to India. After various
delays caused by winds and currents, the fleet
arrived on the coasts of the peninsula on the
6th of December. The larger ships, with
General Meadows and the principal part
of the troops, went in quest of Admiral
Hughes, then commanding on the Indian
station ; the smaller vegsels, transports, and
the remainder of the troops, arrived at Bom-
bay on the 22nd of January, 1782. The
troops which landed at Bombay, after refresh-
ing and tarrying a few days, were dispatched
for Madras, and arrived while that city and
the Carnatic were in terror from the arms of
Hyder. The arrival of these timely reinforce-
ments enabled the British officers, in spite of
the wrangling of the councils, to make head
against the foe.

* Mill, vol. iv. book v, chap. v.
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While these events proceeded in connection
with the new expeditions from France and
England, others were passing which it did
not belong to the provinece of the last chapter
to relate, but shall here be recorded.

During the time Ingland was at war with
Mysore, the Mahrattas, and the French, Spain
and Holland were also her enemies. Fortu-
nately, the contest with the Mabrattas was
first closed, as seen in former pages; and
peace in Europe soon after occurring, left
the company free to direct its whole strength
against Mysore, a perception of which made
Tippoo Sultan, however reluctantly, come to
terms,

Holland being at war with England, Lord
Macartney determined to take some action
against Dutch interests in India, notwith-
standing the numerous demands which were
made upon his time and resources as governor
of Madras. Soon after his arrival, he drove
the Duteh out of Sadras and Pulicat, and in
October, 1781, he determined to reduce, if
possible, the very important settlement of
Negapatam. The command of the troops
destined for this task, was given to Sir Hector
Munro. The fleet under Sir Edward Hughes
was to cover the operations. Colonel Braith-
waite and his detachment were ordered to
unite themselves to the foree under Sir Hee-
tor Munro’s command, swelling his little
army to nearly four thousand men, which was
dispatched on the enterprise. On the 2lst,
the seamen and marines debarked. On the
50th, the lines and redoubts were stormed.
On the 3rd of November, trenches were
opened to cover an approach against the north
face of the fort. On the 6Gth, batteries for
breaching were opened within three hundred
yards.

The Duteh governor refused to surrender,
it having been contrary to the military law of
Holland for any officer to surrender a fortified
place until a practicable breach was made.
Between the 6th and 12th the breach was
effected. The first use made of it was by the
Dutch themselves, for the purpose of sorties,
which were made with great spirit and deter-
mination. The English were prepared for
this, and repulsed the attacks upon their
trenches with their usual firmness. The go-
vernor offered to capitulate if honourable
terms were conceded, which, not being re-
fused, Negapatam was taken possession of
without storm. The surrénder of this place
was not very honourable to Dutch courage.
The number of prisoners far exceeded the
number of assailants. The surrender of such
an important place, the chief settlement of the
Batavian Company on the Coromandel coast,
commanding the southern boundary of Tan-
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jore, proved how far Dutch spirit, as well as
power, had fallen in India. The English
made prize of a large quantity of warlike
stores. It so happened that the investments
had not been made for two years, so that a
very great (uantity of valunable merchandise
was gecured by the vietors.

Negapatam was the basis of operations
against all the Dutch settlements in Coro-
mandel. They fell almost without a blow.
This had an important effect upon the Mysore
war, for Hyder Ali immediately evacuated the
forts of which he had taken possession in
Tanjore. The policy of Lord Macartney,
although opposed strenuously by Sir Eyre
Coote, answered his expectations, and pro-
bably produced an effect upon the war with
Mysore, which his lordship did not contem-
plate.

On the 2nd of January the fleet sailed
from Negapatam, taking on board five hun-
dred soldiers, and proceeded against the
Dutch settlements in the Island of Ceylon,
Trincomalee was the chief of those settle-
ments.  On the 4th the fleet arrived off that
harbour. Means were taken instantly to re-
duce the fortifications by which it was pro-
tected. On the 11th the last of these forts,
and the strongest, was stormed, and Trinco-
malee fell to the possession of the victors.
The Dutch were now completely humbled in
India, and when tidings of the peace with
that power and its Furopean allies arrived in
India, Holland had little to lose in the penin-
sula. The French fleet arrived on the Coro-
mandel coast in January, and intercepted
several English vessels; one British frigate
of the largest class, separated from her com-
panions in a fog, was surrounded and capturad
after a peculiarly gallant defence.

Sir Edward Hughes left Trincomalee on the
last day of January, having performed his
part in reducing that place. He was in want
of stores, and many of his erews were sick.
He arrived at Madras on the 11th of Feb-
ruary, having had & very narrow escape of
encountering a far superior force under Suf-
frein, a commander superior to any, except the
gallant captor of Madras, who had commanded
French naval forces in the East. In the open
roads of Madras the danger of Hughes con-
tinued to be as great as it well could have
been anywhere, for his ghips were much im-
paired by long service, and consisted of only
six of the line. The next day the squadron
which brought General Meadows and his
troops also arrived. This consisted of one
seveuty-four, one sixty-four, and one very
large frigate, and had also a very narrow
escape of being intercepted by the enemy.
Twenty-four hours after, the French admiral
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appeared, and passed Madras in line-of-
battle. The above dates are given from Mill.
Auber gives different dates, and is more par-
ticular in basing his information upon a com-
parison of documents. He relates the arrival
of both admirals, and the results, in the follow-
ing manner:—“ On the 8th, Sir Edward
Hughes arrived at Madras from Trincomalee,
vith the Superd, Haeter, Monarch, Bedford,
Worcester, Kagle, and the Sea-horse frigate.
On the 10th he was joined by Commodore
Alms with three ships of the line, and one
transport containing General Meadows and
Uolonel Fullarton, with four hundred king’s
troops. On the 15th the French fleet ap-
peared off Madras, and on the 16th stood to
the southward. The English admiral weighed,
and followed the enemy till they were sepa-
rated from their frigates and transports. Sir
Edward Hughes made the signal for chasing
the latter, on which the Zs¢s, being the fore-
most, came up with and re-took the Lawusris-
ton, a large transport laden with military
stores and three hundred troops, together with
several English vessels with grain which had
been captured by the enemy on the coast.
The enemy’s fleet bore down, and having the
advantage of the wind, brought eight of their
ships to engage five of the English, the other
ships on either side not being able to get into
action. The engagement lasted from four
until half-past six, when the French ceased
firing, and hauled their wind. The Superd
and Lzeter were much damaged, having many
shot between wind and water. Sir Edward
Hughes went to Trincomalee to refit, and re-
turned to Madras on the 10th of March to
renew the attack on the enemy, whose
ships had been dispersed during the action.
Their hospital ship, the Duc de Toscanne,
having come to anchor in the roads of Nega-
patam, in the belief that it was a friendly
port, was captured by the Chapman India-
man. On the 8th of April, Sir Edward
Hughes came again in sight of the French
squadron, then consisting of eighteen sail.
On the 12th, the French, having the wind,
engaged him ; the action commenced at half-
past one p.ar., and ended at forty minutes past
gix. Both fleets anchored within five miles of
each other until the 19th. In the interval,
Sir Edward Hughes had refitted all his fleet,
with the exception of the Monmouth, which
had lost her main and mizen-masts, their
places being supplied with good jury-masts.
The enemy made a show of renewing the
engagement; Sir Edward Hughes waited,
with springs on his cables, but the enemy,
after approaching within two miles, stood out
to sea, and was seen no more. Sir Edward
Hughes's force consisted of twelve ships, in
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which there were two hundred and forty- |

seven killed, and three hundred and twenty
wounded. The number in the French ship
Hero, the flag-ship, killed and wounded, was
two hundred, the admiral being obliged to
shift his flag from her to the djaz."%

Were it not for the jealousy which both
Hyder and Tippoo entertained of the French,
the latter would have been able to effect much
more against the English during that war.
Thus, when the French gained Cuddalore, as
the ostensible allies of Tippoo, they immedi-
ately proceeded to act as if the place were their
own, offering indignity to Tippoo’s officers.
The latter resisted, and Tippoo ordered his
governor to turn them out. The French
were gtrong enough to keep possession, but in
doing so they would have separated them-
selves from the Mysore power, and have been
beaten in detail by the English, they were,
therefore, obliged to leave Cuddalore, and
being denied by Tippoo’s officers the means of
carriage, and draft bullocks, they had to carry
their own baggage and drag their own guns.

In July 1782, Hyder Ali having arranged
with the French admiral a surprise upon
Negapatam, both parties attempted to exe-
cute the concerted plan. Suffrein was to
land troops close to the place, and their land-
ing was to be supported by Hyder Ali. It
was the object of the French admiral to effect
his part of the arrangement without fighting,
but his fleet having been deseried by ‘Admi-
ral Hughes, that officer compelled him to give
battle. 'The conflict was close and severe.
Suffrein preferred close warfare, contrary to
the general tactics of the Irench admirals.
After maintaining for an hour and a half a
fire which appeared to be equal, the French
line showed symptoms of disorder, and a
speedy victory for the English would have
terminated the fight had not the wind sud-
denly shifted. This enabled Suffrein to cover
the line of disabled ships by such as suffered
least, and disconcerted the hopes and plans of
Sir Edward. The French admiral was the
better tactician. Notwithstanding the skill
of the French commander, two of his ships
struck their colours; he immediately fired into
them, and continued to do so, until they again
hoisted French colours. The battle was, on
the whole, in favour of the British. The
English occupied the roads of Negapatam.
The French were unable to accomplish their
purpose, and sheered off for Cuddalore, This
was done, however, with such coolness as to
amount to a challenge to renew the battle.
This Hughes could not do, having suffered
50 much in the previous conflict. When Ne-
gapatam was secured, he went to Madras to

* Auber, vol. i. chap. si. pp. 618, 619,
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refit. Suffrein was more active and acute;
he refitted at Cuddalore with admirable expe-
dition, and was ready for sea before Sir Ed-
ward. Mill gives the following account of
the energy and devotion of Suffrein :—* He
was a man that when the exigency required,
would work for days, like a ship’s carpenter,
in his shirt. He visited the houses and
buildings at Cuddalore, and for want of"
other timber, had the beams which suited his
purpose taken out. To some of his officers,

who represented to him the shattered condi-

tion of his ships, the alarming deficiency of
his stores, the impossibility of supplying his

wants in a desolated part of India, and the

necessity of repairing to the islands to refit ;

the whole value, he replied, of the ships was

trivial, in comparison with the object which

he was commissioned to attain ; and the ocean

should be his harbour, #ill he found a place

in India to repair them.”

On the 1st of August, Suffrein proceeded

to sea, and reached Point de Galle, in the

Island of Ceylon, where he was reinforced

by two ships of the line from Europe, and

met also military reinforcements. Oun the 25th,

he anchored in the bay of Trincomalee. He

attacked and conquered the English garrison,

and on the 31st of August, the French flag

waved upon the ramparts of the fort. All

this time Hughes was at Madras, and con-

ducting the refitting of his squadron in a

very leisurely manner. Lord Macartney re-

monstrated with him on the 5th of the month,

assuring him that the I'rench fleet had

steered southwards on the 1st. Hughes, in

the spirit which the English admirals gene-

rally showed in India, piqued himself on the

eminence of his profession, and his distinetion

as an officer of his majesty’s navy, and would
not be dictated to, nor advised by a servant of
the company, nor by civilians of any sort.
He stayed where he was, until, as so often
happened with our admirals in the last war

with Russia, when their services were urgently

required, it was “too late.” On the 20th of
August he put to sea, three weeks after

Suffrein left Cuddalore. The English admi-

ral did not reach Trincomalee for a fortnight,

and found the flag of France floating over
the battlements. Hughes was then anxious
to redeem his reputation by a naval victory.,

Suffrein, superior in force by the extent
of one ship of the line and three frigates,

as well as in the total number of guns, sailed
out fearlessly. A long, fierce, and sanguin-
ary conflict ensued, in which Suffrein dis-
played undaunted courage, first-rate seaman-
ship, and an activity such as has seldom been
surpassed. His captains neither showed skill

nor courage ; half their number were deposed
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by him when the battle was over. Hughes
also showed himself brave and skilful in his
profession, and his officers and men proved
themselves far superior to the enemy. A
decisive victory crowned the efforts of the
Linglish, but night setting in soon after, and
with that suddenness in which it descends so
near the line, the enemy escaped. So anxious,
however, were the French captains to get
away, that several vessels were disabled, and
some lost in the attempt. Suffrein brought
in his shattered ships all but two, which
Hughes neglected to make prizes, so that
Suffrein sarcastically said, when he after-
wards conducted them into port, “they ave
presents from the English admiral.” Hughes,
notwithstanding all the time he had taken to
refit in Madras, was short of provisions, water,
and ammunition, and was unable in conse-
quence to attack, or even to blockade, Trin-
comalee, and gailed away to Madras, appa-
rently incapable of forming any definite plan
or purpose, for he was no sooner in Madras
than he intimated his intention to proceed to
Bombay.

At Madras he was urged to join in the
expedition against Cuddalore, then projected,
and where afterwards, General Stuart so
severely chastised the French General Bussy ;
without assigning any reason, Hughes re-
fused to assist the expedition. He was an
admiral holding the king's commission, and
was not to give account of his actions to such
persons as the council of Madras, servants of
the Hast India Company. He would neither
take part in the attack on Cuddalore, nor
stay on the coast during the ensuing monsoon,
but would go to Bombay :—“ If the coast,”
says Mill, “ were left unprotected by a British
fleet, while the harbour of Trincomalee en-
abled the enemy to remain, and while Hyder
was nearly undisputed master of the Carnatic,
nothing less was threatened than the extir-
pation of the English from that quarter of
India.  Beside these important considerations,
the council pressed upon the mind of the
admiral the situation of the presidency in
regard to food ; that their entire dependence
rested upon the supplies which might arrive
by sea; that the stock in the warehouses
did not exceed thirty thousand bags; that
the quantity afloat in the roads amounted
but to as much more, which the number of
boats demanded for the daily service of his
squadron had deprived them of the means of
landing ; that the monthly consumption was
fifty thousand bags at the least; and that, if
the vessels on which they depended for their
supply were intercepted (such would be the
certain consequence of a French without an
English fleet upon the coast), nothing less than
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famine was placed before their eyes. .The
admiral was reminded that he had remained
in safety upon the coast during the easterly
monsoon of the former year, and might still
undoubtedly find some harbour to afford him
shelter. A letter too was received express
from Bengal, stating that Mr, Ritchie, the
marine surveyor, would undertake to conduct
his majesty’s ships to a safe anchorage in
the mouth of the Bengal river. And it was
known that Sir Richard Bickerton, with a
reinforcement of five sail of the line from
England, had already touched at Bombay,
and was on his way round for Madras. The
admiral remained deaf to all expostulations.
In the meantime intelligence was received
that the enemy was preparing to attack Ne-
gapatam. The president had already pre-
vailed upon Sir Eyre Coote to send a detach-
ment of three hundred men, under Colonel
F'ullarton, into the southern provinces, which,
since the defeat of Colonel Brathwaite, had
lain exposed to the ravages of Hyder, and
were now visited with scarcity, and the pros-
pect of famine. Within two days of the
former intelligence, accounts were received
that seventeen gail of the enemy’s fleet had
arrived at Negapatam, and that the place was
already attacked. The most earnest expos-
tulations were still addressed to the admiral
in vain; and the morning of the 15th of
October exhibiting the appearance of a storm,
the fleet set sail, and disappeared. The fol-
lowing morning presented a tremendous spec-
tacle to the wretched inhabitants of Madras;
several large vessels driven ashore, others
foundered at their anchors, all the small craft,
amounting to nearly one hundred in number,
either sunk or stranded, and the whole of the
thirty thousand bags of rice irretrievably
gone. The ravages of Hyder had driven
crowds of the inhabitants from all parts of
the country to seek refuge at Madras, where
multitudes were daily perishing of want.
Famine now raged in all its horrors; and
the multitude of the dead and the dying
threatened to superadd the evils of pestilence.
The bodies of those who expired in the
streets or the houses, without any one to inter
them, were daily collected and piled in carts,
to be buried in large trenches made for the
purpose out of the town, to the number, for
several weeks, of not less, it is said, than
twelve or fifteen hundred a-week. What
was done to remove the suffering inhabitants
to the less exhausted parts of the country,
and to prevent unnecessary consumption,—the
governor sending away his horses, and even
his servants,—could only mitigate, and that to
a small degree, the evils which were endured.
On the fourth day after the departure of BSir
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Idward Hughes and his fleet, Sir Richard
Bickerton arrived, with three regiments of
one thousand each, Bir Jobhn Burgoyne's
regiment of light horse, amounting to three
hundred and forty, and about one thousand
recruits raised by the company, chiefly in
Treland ; but as soon as Sir Richard was
apprised of the motions of Sir . Hughes, he
immediately put to sea, and proceeded after
him to Bombay."”

It is mournful to contemplate the repre-
sentation of ignorance, pride, and obstinacy,
on the part of a DBritish naval commander,
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| bility that like causes in the constitution of our
navy would produce like effects, such sad
stories might be related without anxiety for
the present or the future, if even with shame
for the past. The admiral had no further
opportunity to do much good or evil. Peace
with France, Spain, and Holland, followed
by peace with Hyder, left India in tranquillity
as to foreign enemies, and the different coun-
cils, commanders, and governors, more lei-
sure for those mutnal bickerings in which
they perpetually indulged. Hastings, having
composed these, as far as genins and self-

which is here made without any exaggera-
tion. The terrible consequences are also |
depicted faithfully. If there were no proba- |

command could compose them, at last, as
already related, retived from the scenes of his
struggles and lis fame.

CHAPT

ER XC.

HOME AFFAIRS—EFFORTS OF THE EAST INDIA COMPANY TO ASSIST THE CROWN IN THE
WARS WITH FRANCE, SPAIN, AND HOLLAND—DISCUSSIONS IN THE HOUSE OF COMMONS
IN REFERENCE TO THE COMPANY'S AFFATRS —IMPEACHMENT OF HASTINGS—ACQUITTAL

—RETIREMENT FROM PUBLIC LIFE—DEATH—THE COMPANY RESOLVE

STATUE TO HIS MEMORY.

Frox 1778 to the termination of the parlia- |

mentary prosecution of Hastings, the directors
and the company were much engrossed with
home matters, while the state of their affairs
in India demanded alsounremitting and serious
attention.

In 1778-9 extraordinary exertions were
made to resist the combination of France and
Spain against British influence everywhere,
but especially in the Hast. Instructions were
sent overland to India for the reduction of
Pondicherry, and the governors and coun-
cils were urged to prosecute the war with all
their energy.

In April, 1779, the general court of pro-
prietors voted unanimous thanks to the secret
committee, for the spirited orders they issued
for operations against Pondicherry and the
French, and presented them with sums of five
hundred, and three hundred guineas, for the
purchase of plate. Thanks were also voted to
Bir Hector Monro and Admiral Sir Edward
Vernon, to each of whom was given a sword
set with diamonds, valued at seven hundred
and fifty guineas. Three gnineas bounty to
each was voted for the first two thousand
able-bodied seamen, two guineas each for the
first two thousand ordinary seamen, and a
guinea and a half each for the first two thou-
sand landsmen who should volunteer to serve
on board the fleets of his majesty. Resolutions
were passed by the court of directors ‘“to

|
|

TO ERECT A

yards, to be delivered over to such officer
as his majesty might appoint to receive
them.”

The following résumé of the home events
in which the company was interested at that
time is as correct as it is brief :—* The affairs
of the company at this time engaged much of
the attention of parliament. In 1779, an act
had been passed declaring that the £1,400,000
borrowed of the public had been repaid by
the company, and that as their bond debt
was reduced to £1,500,000, they were autho-
rized to declare a dividend of eight per cent.
The territorial acquisitions and revenues were
also. to remain with them for another year,
and the persons who at the passing of the
act were in the offices of governor-general
and councillors in Bengal, were to hold the
same during its continuance. In the follow-
ing session Lord North acquainted the house
that the company had not made such proposals
for the renewal of their charter as were
deemed satisfactory, and he therefore moved
that the Speaker should give the three years’
notice required by the aet, previously to the
cessation of their exclusive privileges of trade.
Mzr. Fox and Mr. Burke strongly opposed the
minister, and asked whether he was not con-
tent with having lost America? Whether
he could point out a single benefit which his
motion was capable of producing, and whether
he desired to behold those scenes of anarchy,

build three 74-gun ships, with masts and 1 confusion, distress, and ruin, which his idle
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and impotent threats might produce in the
company's possessions in India.”*

Mr. Fox argued that the ministerial mea-
sure was impracticable, and that the govern-
ment and the nation would prove themselves
ungrateful to the country, if such a proposition
were tolerated. He declared that the disputes
between the minister and the company arose
from the desire of the former to grasp the
patronage of the latter.f In order to give
time for deliberation, an act was passed con-
tinuing the same privileges to the company
as in the preceding year, to be reckoned from
the 5th of April, 1780.%

On the 12th of January, 1781, a select
committee of the house was appointed to in-
quire into the petitions of the company and
the inhabitants of Bengal, against the consti-
tution of the supreme court and the action of
British law generally.

On the 27th of April, Lord North proposed
the appointment of a secret committee to in-
(uire into the causes of the war in the Car-
natic. The celebrated Edmund Burke de-
manded that the committee should be open;
but, as the foreign enemies of England would
watch the progress of such inquiry in an open
committee, and profit by the information to
be obtained, Lord North carried his point.
Lord North, throughout the session, displayed
an open enmity to the company, the real
source of which was, what Charles Fox
charged upon him, a desire to grasp the pa-
tronage. Bdmund Burke was not less an
enemy, but he was insidious.

At length the two acts were passed: the
one concluding an agreement between the
public and the company;§ the other to re-
dress and prevent the recurrence of the com-
plaints against the supreme court at Caleutta.(|
By the first-mentioned act the company’s ex-
clusive privileges were continued till 1791,
with three years' notice ; during which time
the #territorial acquisitions and revenues were
to remain in their possession. After a divi-
dend of eight per cent. on the capital of
£3,200,000, three-fourths of the surplus pro-
fits were to go to the public, and one-fourth
to the company. Accounts of the state of the
company's affairs were to be laid before the
lords of the treasury and the general court.
During the war with France, Spain, and Hol-
laud, the company were to pay one-fourth of
the expense of his majesty’s ships in India.
After peace, the company were to bear the

* Auber's Rise and Progress of the Eust India Com-
paiy, vol. 1. chap. xi. p. 572.

t Parliamentary History, 1780, vol. xxi.

+ 20 Geo. I1I. cap, 56.

§ 21 Geo, I1L cap, 65.

|| 21 Geo. III, cap. 70.
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whole. The company were allowed to re-
eruit, and to have two thousand men at one
time ready for embarkation during war, but
only one thousand in peace. The parties
filling the offices of governor-general, com-
mander-in-chief, and members of council, were
to be removable only by the king on repre-
sentation of the directors, who might appoint
to vacancies on the approbation of the erown.
The commander-in-chief, if appointed by the
directors a member of council, was to take
rank as two members, but was not to succeed
to the government unless specially appointed.
British subjects were not to reside more than
ten miles from the presidency without leave
from the government.

Two important provisions were also in-
serted. In addition to the enactment of’
1773, which required the directors to send
to his majesty’s government copies of all
letters from India relating to the political,
military, or revenue affairs of the company,
a provision was now inserted that copies of
all letters proposed to be sent by the direc-
tors to India relating to those subjects,
should first be submitted for his majesty’s
approval, and if no disapprobation was ex-
pressed within fourteen days to the proposed
despatch, the same might be forwarded to
India.

The other was a clause suggested by the
heavy drafts which had, at a former period,
been drawn from India, and nearly ruined
the company, being, the minister remarked,
“the private fortunes of Asiatic plunderers,”
who would again seize upon the opportunity
of doing so with avidity. Lord North, in
alluding to the acceptance of presents, ob-
served that it would be proper to interdict
their receipt entirely, for which purpese it
would be well to form a court of judicature
in this country for the trial of offences com-
mitted in India. This suggestion, though
not acted upon at that time, was adopted at
a later period.

The other act related to the supreme court,
and was passed to appease the minds of many
persons who dreaded the consequences of the
powers assumed by the supreme court of
India.

The appointment of Lord Macartney to the
governorship of Madras was one of the signs
of the times, as it regarded the progress of
ministerial and parliamentary opinion respect-
ing the company. The governing class in
England became intensely desirous of obtain-
ing such posts as the governorships of presi-
dencies, and more especially the office of go-
vernor-general, for members of their class.
Lord Macartney was the first governor ap-
pointed by the direct intervention of the go-

3a
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vernment, and he unfortunately went to India
in the spivit of one who felt that he did not
owe his appointment to the company, and
was superior in rank, as well as the origin of
his appointment, to the company’s servants.
He made, therefore, little account of the
opinion of Hastings, who was only a com-
pany’s official, although governor-general of
Bengal. Lord Macartney was a polite man,
capable of governing his temper, and pos-
sessing much suavity of manner to inferiors
in station; but he had a high opinion of his
order, his office, and the source whence he
derived it, and hence all harmony between
the governments of Madras and Bengal were
from the day of his arrival in India until
Hastings left it impossible. At home, his
lordship’s measures and interests were backed
up by the government,

Tidings of the appointment of Sir Elijah
Impey, by Governor-general Hastings, to the
Suddur Dewanny Adawlut, reached England
in October, 1781. The directors doubted
the legality of the proceeding, and parlia-
ment took up the matter with considerable
heat. A committee of inquiry was nomi-
nated, and reported in strong terms upon
the illegality of the conduct of Hastings and
of Impey. An address of the whole house
to his majesty demanded the recall of Sir
Elijah to answer to the house for his ac-
ceptance of the office. The directors passed
a resolution, on the 24th of April, removing
him.

A report was made by the secret committee
appointed to inquire into the canses of the
war in the Carnatic. Mr. Dundas, the chair-
man, submitted to the house an enormous
geries of resolutions, which amounted to no
less than one hundred and eleven. The reso-
Iutions were divided into three classes, each
class containing three distinet heads. The
first regarded the general system of govern-
ment; it censured the conduct of Mr, Hast-
ings as governor-general, and that of Mr.
Hornby, governor of Bombay, and declared
it to be the duty of the directors to recall
them. The second and third classes related
to the affairs of the Carnatic. On these a
bill of pains and penalties was brought in
against Sir Thomas Rumbold, J. Whitehill,
and P. Perring, Esqrs., for breaches of public
trust, and high crimes and misdemeanours,

On the 28th of May, the house of commons
came to the following resolution :—

“ Resolved, That Warren Hastings, Esq.,
governor-general, and William Hornby, Esq.,
president of the council at Bombay, having in
sundry instances acted in a manner repugnant
to the honour and policy of this nation, and
thereby brought great calamities on India,
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and enormous expenses on the company, it is
the duty of the directors to pursue all legal
and effectual means for the removal of the
said governor-general and president from
their respective offices, and to recall them to
Great Britain.”

These measures violently agitated the courts
of directors and proprietors. Various meet-
ings were held, and debates of the fiercest
nature took place in them. On the 19th
of June, a special grand ecourt was convened
by requisition in the usual manner, when the
following resolutions were passed :—

“Resolved, That it is the opinion of this
court, that the removing of Warren Hastings,
Esq., the governor-general of Bengal, or any
servants of the company, merely in compliance
with a vote of the house of commons,—without
being satisfied that the grounds of delinquency
against the said Warren Hastings, or such
other servants, are sufficient of themselves to
vindicate the directors in coming to such a re-
solution,—wonld wealken the confidence which
the servants of the company ought to enter-
tain of the justice of their employers, and will
tend to destroy that independency which the
proprietors of East India stock ought to enjoy
in the management of their own affairs.”
“Resolved, That it be recommended to the
court of directors not to carry into effect any
resolution they may come to relative to the
removal of Warren Hastings, Esq., till such
resolution shall have been approved by a
general court.”

From the 20th of June to the 9th of Octo-
ber, the directors, in various meetings, dis-
cussed the condradictory conclusions to which
the house of commons and the eourt of pro-
prietary had arrived, and passed resolutions
at last in harmony with those of the commons.
It being well understood that the directors
passed these resolutions under pressure from
the government, and seven of the directors
having recorded a protest against the recall
of Hastings, the court of proprietary again
meton the 21st of October, and again passed a
resolution by a majority of three hundred and
fifty-three votes in a house of five hundred
and three persons, forbidding the removal of
Hastings, vindicating him from the imputa-
tions thrown on him by parliament and a
majority of the directors, and attributing to
the directors themselves the misfortunes, wars,
and debts, which the resolution alleged Hast-
ings by extraordinary fidelity and ability had
done much to retrieve. On the 22nd of Oc-
tober the directors rescinded their resolution
against Hastings,

There were frequent changes of ministry;
but the tone of parliament and of government

was adverse to the company, In April, 1788,



Quar. XC.]

Mr. Dundas brought in a bill for the beiter
government of India. It was rejested. The
gession terminated without any further attack
upon the company. During the recessthe cele-
brated India bill of Fox and Burke was framed.
Mr. Burke was then in the government. Mr,
Fox brought in his bill on the 18th of No-
vember. The company petitioned against it.
Burke delivered one of his most eloquent
and imposing orations in its behalf. His de-
seriptions of the misdeeds of the company were
exaggerated ; and those of the civilization,
and excellent qualities of the people and go-
vernments of India, were contrary to fact and
philosophy. Against Hastings the speech was
virulent. 'The bill passed the commons, and
went np to the lords: the company again peti-
tioned. The lovds threw out the bill. The
king was known to be opposed to it, and
a large popular party in the country was
equally so. The commons passed most serious
resolutions condemnatory by implication of
the course pursued by the crown and the
peers. The ministry was dismissed, and
William Pitt appointed first lord of the trea~
sury and chancellor of the exchequer. Mr.
Pitt bronght in a bill *“for the better govern-
ment and management of the affairs of the
Fast India Company” on the 10th of January.
The commons rejected it. On the 25th of
March parliament was dissolved. The court
of proprietors of India stock manfully sup-
ported Hastings, and resolved that he should
not be recalled.

When Hastings reached England, as be-
fore related, he proceeded at once to London.
In June, 1785, he received in person the
thanks of the very same court of directors
which censured and sought to remove him,
when they supposed the favour of the cabinet
would be secured by doing so.

In January, 1786, Major Scott announced
in parliament that Mr. Hastings was anxious
to defend himself against the aspersions
thrown on him by Mr. Edmund Burke, and
challenged the great philosopher and orator
to bring forward his impeachment. This was
imprudent, and rather prejudiced than served
the case of Hastings in the house. At length
that impeachment was made, so notable for
the amazing eloquence displayed in it, espe-
cially by Sheridan and Burke. It is gene-
rally considered that Hastings did not display
his usnal ability in managing his defence, and
this is attributed to the fact that he had not
been ‘accustomed to work with English agen-
cies and in English modes. Nearly his whole
life had been gpent in India, and his mind had
become adapted to Indian intrigues. Tord
Macaulay says, “Of all lis errors, the most
serious was, perhaps, the choice of a cham-
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pion, Clive, in similar circumstances, had
made a singularly happy selection. He put
himself into the hands of Wedderburn, after-
wards Lord Loughborough, one of the few
great advocates who have been also great in
the house of commons. To the defence of
(live, therefore, nothing was wanting, neither
learning nor knowledge of the world—neither
forensic acuteness nor the eloquence which
charms political assemblies. Hastings en-
trusted his interests to a very different person,
a major in the Bengal army named Scott.
This gentleman had been sent over from India
gsome time before, as the agent of the go-
vernor-general. It was rumoured that his
services were rewarded with oriental muni-
ficence; and we believe that he received
much more than Hastings could conveniently
spare. 'The major obtained a seat in parlia-
ment, and was there regarded as the organ of
his employer, It was evidently impossible
that a gentleman so situated could speak with
the authority which belongs to an indepen-
dent position. Nor had the agent of Hastings
the talent necessary for obtaining the ear of an
assembly, which, accustomed to listen to great
orators, had naturally become fastidious. He
was always on his legs; he was very tedious,
and lie had only one topic, the merits and
wrongs of Hastings. TEverybody who knows
the house of commons will easily guess what
followed. The major was considered as the
greatest bore of his time, There was hardly
a day on which the newspapers did not con-
tain some puff upon Hastings, signed Asi-
aticus or Bengalensis, but known to be written
by the indefatigable Scott ; and hardly a month
in which some bulky pamphlet on the same
subject, and from the same pen, did not pass
to the trunk-makers and the pastry-cooks.”
Much of what his lordship has said of
Major Scott, in the above passage, is correct;
but, on various grounds, Scott was an agent
well adapted to the purposes for which Hast-
ings had chosen him. His knowledge of all
the cireumstances, personally and practically,
on the ground of which the governor-general
expected to be called to account, was perfect.
He was well acquainted with all the person-
ages who figured in these transactions. His
industry was unwavering, and his personal
friendship and admiration for Hastings the
warmest. Hastings did not select him as his
agent in view of a parliamentary impeach-
ment, but in view of attack in the courts of
directors and proprietors. Bcott was a far
more suitable agent for this purpose than
Wedderburn would have been. He knew
the ways of the directory, the tone and tem-
per of the proprietors, his whole time was
given to work among them for Hastings, and
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he did so successfully, His entering parlia-
ment was an after-thought, and he was there
very useful to his friend ; he corrected innu-
merable misstatements, and was “always on
his Jegs " for that purpose during the debates.
Many a rhetorical flourish, very captivating
to the house of commons was made sheerly
ridiculous by a dry, prosy, but true statement
from Scott. There was no putting him down,
he was proof against all ridicule, reiterating
his dry facts, financial, military, political, and
personal, until they ceased to be disputed.
He was a bore in the sense Lord Macaulay
proclaims it, and he was so also to the enemies
of Hastings, by his unsleeping vigilance, his
physical endurance, and his ever-pestering,
worrying statements and counter-statements,
which were confounding to his antagonists,
not one man among whom knew anything
of the subjects of debate, except Burke.
Burke, Dundas (the Lord Advoeate of Scot-
land), and Sir Philip Franeis, were the only
men of great’ mark acquainted with Indian
affairs, DBurke had read on the subject, with
a view to an Indian appointment from the
ministry, which he knew he could never re-
ceive from the company; and he was em-
bittered, therefore, against the latter and its
agents. His mind was inflamed with envy
against Hastings as much as was that of
Francis, Burke was, from these circum-
stances, an indefatigable student of Indian
affairs. Sheridan spoke with glowing elo-
quence on subjects of which he knew nothing.
Dundas learned much of Indian affairs when
he served as chairman of the committee which
produced the hundred and eleven resolutions.
Francis, of course, knew Calcutta well, and
the doings of members of the supreme council
but of the languages, peoples, and mind of
India he knew little, almost nothing. A
plain, stern, dogged, persevering, matter of
fact man, “well up” in Indian affairs, was
very useful to Hastings in the house, and ab-
golutely indispensable among the constituency
of the company. With these Scott had con-
stant intercourse: there was probably not a
director, not a single member of the pro-
prietary, with whom Scott had not talked
over the whole question. All the holders
of India stock might have had Secott's ar-
guments by heart. Hastings foresaw this,
and made his selection judiciously, It is
quite true, as Lord Macaulay affirms, that
Hastings was destitute of a parliamentary
advocate possessing the splendour of elo-
quence which Burke, Sheridan, or Wedder-
burn possessed; but that was not, as Lord
Macaunlay represents, his fault:; nor did the
circumstance of Wedderburn being Olive's
adviser and defender show any superiority of
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judgment on the part of that great man to
Hastings in the selection of his advocates, for
Wedderburn had been the early friend and
associate of Clive, and offered his services,
which were, of course, thankfully accepted.
Had Hastings found a similar friend, he
would have gladly made his eloquence,
tact, and legal knowledge available; but
Hastings had spent many years in India, and
had formed few new friendships in England.
None of his old schoolfellows and early com-
panions were in a condition to do by him as
Wedderburn did by Clive. Yet many men
of note, and among them those who believed
that he had acted very wrong in several of
the proceedings for which he was called in
question, were indignant at the malignant
persecutions with which Burke and others
pursued him, and made themselves his friends.
Lords Mansfield, Lansdowne, and Thurlow
(the Chancellor) were foremost among them.
Pitt was another of the eminent men who
donbted the propriety of various parts of the
conduct of Hastings, but was scandalized at
the virulence of the proceedings against him.
He had even privately confessed to Major
Scott (for the untiring major had interviews
with all the ministers) that Hastings deserved
high rewards from his country, which he, as
minister, was only prevented from recom-
mending his majesty to confer, by the fact that
a vote of censure remained on the journals
of the commons. The leading opponents of
government were the leading opponents of
Hastings in the house; but the king, the
holders of Indian stock, and the country, were
intensely prejudiced against that party. The
whigs in and out of the house opposed him,
and a small but powerful section of the tories,
especially those who were disappointed of
places by the government. One of the most
fertile sources of attack against Hastings out
of the house was the history of his marriage,
and the name of Imhoff, and the guilt of his
divorced wife, formed the material of the
sarcastic squibs which were flung about in
the clubs, coffee-houses, and journals, Lord
North and Fox were accused of adding light
labours of this kind to their relentless oppo-
sition in the house. Hastings did much to
provoke all this, by an ostentatious defiance
of his enemies. This did not arise, as Lord
Macaulay supposes, from indiseretion and an
undervaluing of his enemies; it arose from
the fact that he was not conscious of guilt in
the transactions where his lordship considers
his guilt manifest. In some matters where
his most ardent friends could not have de-
fended him, he believed himself to have been
in the right, and remained in that belief to

the end of his days. His conscience was
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neither tender nor enlightened: he was not,
in any sense of the word, a religious man;
but, as a politician, he was convinced that
the course he had taken in India was that
which his duty to the company and to his
country demanded. The consciences of Burke,
Francis, Sheridan, North, or Fox seem to
have been neither more tender nor more en-
lightened than that of Hastings. There is
no donbt that the defiant attitude which he
took also arose from his determined character.
He was not & man to quail before any foe.
He who could coolly write despatches in re-
ference to negotiations with the Mahrattas,
when barred up in a house at Benares, with
a few soldiers to defend him against half a
million of fanatics, was not to be put down
hy the force of faction or the eloquence
of political adventurers, however vast and
dazzling the powers they might bring against
him in the contest. It is remarkable that
Hastings appeared to feel as little and fear as
little the great weight of character and publie
station whicl some of his opponents brought
against him, as he did the genius and personal
hostility of others, The courage and per-
sistence of Hastings were sustained by the
openly avowed favour of the court. The
king was his friend. .Clive had derived much
protection from the royal favour, Hastings
even more. 'The ladies of the court scandal-
ized many by their attentions to Mrs. Hast-
ings, and it soon became evident that those
who wished to find favour near the throne
must not be remembered among the per-
secutors or prosecutors of Warren Hastings.
The first note of war on the part of the oppo-
sition was an application for papers, by Ed-
mund Burke., Only some of these were
aranted. In April, 1786, the impeachment
was produced, and Hastings was informed
that he might be heard by counsel at the bar
of the house. Hastings defended himself in
person. He was not an orator. He was a
great writer, and relied much on the power
of his pen for his defence. It was elognent,
but of vast length, and tired the patience of
a honse much fonder of exciting logomachies
than of business statements.

In the beginning of June, Burke brought
forward that part of the impeachment which
related to the employment of lnglish troops
in Rohileund, in the service of the vizier, for
a stipulated price. Burke affected to believe
that he would have the support of Dundas,
who formerly, as chairman of a committee
of inquiry, condemned the Rohilla invasion.
Burke must have known that the versatile
Dundas would not be bound by such a cir-
cumstance; this was patent to the whole
house, and the folly of selecting the least vul-
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nerable point of the defence in the hope of
catching the support of Dundas, or showing
his inconsistency, was apparent to all the
members not blinded by envy of Hastings, or
pledged to the opposition. Dundas, as mili-
tary men would say, turned the enemy’s flank,
He declared that although Hastings did wrong -
in supporting the aggressive designs of the
Nabob of Oude, yet he had atoned for that
fault, and won beside the lasting gratitude of
his country by subsequent services. The
tactics of Burke were indiscreet, and the spirit
of his speech not less so. The feeling of the
house was strong against him. Many of his
expected supporters, finding that his first
movement displayed bad generalship, forsook
him. Only sixty-seven voted for the motion,
in a house of one hundred and eighty-six mem-
bers. A considerable number of the supposed
supporters of the prosecution slunk away.
Pitt spoke not, but voted for Hastings. The
house of commons, on report of a secrel coti-
mittee, had censured the Rohilla war ; a majo-
rity of the directors had censured it ; but since
then the whole of the facts had become known,
they had been discussed with great ability in
the court of proprietary by men the first and
ablest in connection with Indian affairs, their
speeches had been published, the error and
the extenuation had been canvassed, and the
commons in its final verdict refused to be car-
ried away by the clap-trap of ready speakers,
or affected by glowing antitheses of rhetori-
cians with less claim to principle than Hastings
himself, were all the wrong-doing attributed
to him chargeable at his door.

It was universally expected by the public
that the impeachment would now drop, and
even the government seems to have thought
so, for Lord Thurlow openly spoke, mot-
withstanding the reserve of Pitt, of the
desirableness of creating Hastings Baron
Daylesford.

On the 13th of June, the country, if not the
house, was startled by a renewal of the prose-
cution. Fox brought forward a resolution,
condemnatory of what was called the depo-
sition of the Rajah of Bemares. Fox was
eloquent on the occasion. Francis was learned,
epigrammatical, and malignant as a demon.
Pitt exposed the party purpose of Fox, the
personal hatred of Francis, and enlogised in
one of the most statesman-like of his speeches
the policy, courage, and justice of Hastings
in the transaction for which it was sought to
condemn him. After an eloquent justification
of Hastings, the house was astonished by the
minister’s declaration, that he should vote for
Fox's motion, because the fine laid upon
Cheyte Sing was too heavy, althou gh Hastings
did right to fine him ! Pitt's vote was clearly
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not an honest one. Like Fox himeelf, he had
aims of his own in view, and he would uphold
or sacrifice Hastings as best promoted those
aims, He deemed it politic to conciliate the
opposition, and appear impartial. From the
first, he was unwilling to be thought the par-
tizan of Hastings, while he denounced the
prosecution in the private circle of his friends
with unsparing severity. What made the
conduct of Pitt in the house most extraordinary
was, that the usual ministerial circular had
gone out to his party the day before, request-
ing their presence in the house to vote against
the motion of Fox. The change of opinion
was attributed to Mr. Dundas, who, on this
subject, influenced the mind of the premier.
The persuasives by which Dundas succeeded
were appeals to the love of power, and the
ambition characteristic of Pitt. Hastings was
more a favourite at court than himself, and
Pitt was led by the insinuations of Dundas to
believe that he would soon become his rival,
as either a peerage or dishonour must result
from the impeachment. The effect of Pitt's
tergiversation upon the suceess of the motion
was decisive. 1t was earried by one hundred
and seventy-five against sixty-eight, many in
the majority declaring that they voted against
their conscience to support the policy of the
minister.

In 1787, the prosecution was renewed.
The first charge opened was in connection
with the conduct of Hastings to the begums
of Oude, a portion of his public life more open
to censure than any other. Sheridan intro-
duced the charge in the most brilliant ora-
tion ever made by him, and which produced
an effect in the house greater than probably
any other speech ever delivered. After
Sheridan's speech, the debate was adjonrned.
‘When the house resumed, it was evident that
the eloquence of Sheridan had decided the
motion. The house was now as much carried
away by eloquence, irrespective of the merits
of the question, as upon the first resolution
they were coldly insensible to the finest pas-
gages of the orator, and looked only to the
facts of the cagze. 'The influence of Pitt,
however, had as much to do in forming the
majorities on all the motions, as either elo-
quence or justice. Pitt supported Sheridan,
as he had supported Fox, One hundred and
seventy-five against sixty-eight carried the
motion.

The party carrying on the impeachment
were now sure of victory, and hurried nume-
rous resolutions through the house. 'The
friends of Hastings began to forsake him,
as those of Clive had deserted him in the
hour of misfortune. The sergeant-at-arms
arrested him, aud brought him to the bar
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of the peers, where Burke was directed by
the commons to produce an impeachment
founded upon their resolutions. The period
for prorogation was too close to allow of pro-
ceeding with the case, and Hastings was
discharged on bail. At the opening of the
following session, the commons proceeded to
form a committee to manage the impeachment,
The leading members of the oppoesition were
called on to serve, and no name was objected
to until that of Francis was read, when a
large number of members objected to the in-
justice and indecency of the most malignant
personal enemy Hastings had being placed in
that position, 1t is much to the discredit of
the leading men of the opposition, that they
fiercely contended for the appointment of
Francis. Dundas and Wilberforce, believing
that Pitt would sustain the motion for the
appointment of Franeis, upheld it. Wilber-
force was especially ingenious in his argu-
mentative support. Pitt suddenly rose and
opposed the appointment of Francis. “The
heaven-born minister” had everything his
own way; his servile followers voted that
Francis was not a fit person to be nominated
on the committee,

On the 13th of February, 1788, the sittings
commenced, on the result of which the fate of
Hastings depended. The scene has been
portrayed by the brilliant pen of Macaulay.
In one of the happiest, richest, and most tervid
outflowings of his eloquence, he has impressed
the solemnity, importance, and the whole
aspect of the court upon the mind of this ge-
neration of readers. The trial, amongst other
things, was remarkable for the great number
and singular variety of notable persons who
were spectators :— The long galleries were
crowded by an audience such as has rarely
excited the fears or the emulation of an orator.
There were gathéred together, from all parts
of a great, free, enlightened, and prosperous
empire, grace and female loveliness, wit and
learning, the representatives of every science
and of every art. There were seated round
the queen the fair-haired young daughters of
the house of Brunswick. "There the ambassa-
dors of great kings and commonwealths gazed
with admiration on a spectacle which no other
country in the world could present. There
Siddons, in the prime of her majestic beauty,
looked with emotion on a scene surpassing all
the imitations of the stage. There the histo-
rian of the Roman empire thought of the days
when Cicero pleaded the cause of Sicily against
Verres, and when, before a senate which still
retained some show of freedom, Tacitus thun-
dered against the oppressor of Africa. 'There

were seen, side by side, the greatest painter
and the greatest scholar of the age. The
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spectacle had allured Reynolds from that easel
which has preserved to us the thoughtful
foreheads of so many writers and statesmen,
and the sweet smiles of so many noble ma«-
trons. It had induced Parr to suspend his
labours in that dark and profound mine from
which he had extracted a vast treasure of
erndition—a treasure too often buried in the
earth, too often paraded with injudicious and
inelegant ostentation, but’ still precious, mas-
sive, and splendid. There appeared the
voluptuous charms of her to whom the heir
of the throne had in secret plighted his faith.
There, too, was she, the beautiful mother of a
beautiful race, the Baint Cecilia, whose deli-
cate features, lighted up by love and musie,
art has rescued from the common decay.
There were the members of that brilliant so-
ciety, which quoted, eriticised, and exchanged
repartees under the rich peacock hangings of
Mrs. Montague. And there the ladies whose
lips, more persuasive than those of Fox him-
self, had carried the Westminster election
against palace and treasury, shone round
Georgiana, Duchess of Devonshire.”

Sucli were the spectators of the scene, and
the audience before which the eloguence of
England's best orators was about to be dis-
played. The descriptions given by Lord
Macaunlay of the appearance of Hastings on
this oceasion and his approach {o the bar, of
his eounsel and his aceusers, are amongst the
most graphic and life-like which his pen has
depicted :—'“The serjeants made proclama-
tion. Hastings advanced to the bar, and bent
his knee. The culprit was indeed not un-
worthy of that great presence. Hehad ruled
an extensive and populous country, had made
laws and treaties, hiad sent forth armies, had
set up and pulled down princes. And in his
high place he had so borne himself that all
had feared him, that most had loved him, and
that hatred itself could deny him no title to
glory, except virtne. He looked like a great
man, and not like a bad man. A person
sinall and emaciated, yet deriving dignity
from a carriage which, while it indicated
deference to the conrt, indicated also habitual
self-possession and self-respect; a high and
intellectnal forehead, a brow pensive, but not
gloomy; a mouth of inflexitle decision; a
face pale and worn, but serene, on which was
written as legibly as under the picture in the
council-chamber at Caleutta, Mens equa in
arduis : such was the aspect with which the
great proconsul presented himself to his
judges. His counsel accompanied him, men
all of whom were afterwards raised by their
talents and learning to the highest posts in
their profession : the bold and strong-minded
Law, afterwards chief-justice of the King's
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Bench ; the more humane and eloquent Dallas,
afterwards chief-justice of the Common Pleas;
and Plomer, who, nearly twenty years later,
successfully condueted in the same high court
the defence of Lord Melville, and subse-
quently became vice-chancellor and master of
the rolls. But neither the culprit nor his ad-
voeates attracted so much notice as the aceu-
sers. In the midst of the blaze of red
drapery, a space had been fitted up with
green benches and tables for the commons.
The managers, with Burke at their head,
appeared in full dress. The collectors of
gossip did*not fail to remark that even Fox,
generally so regardless of his appearance, had
paid to the illustrious tribunal the compliment
of wearing a bag and sword. Pitt had refused
to be one of the conductors of the impeach-
ment; and his commanding, copious, and sono-
rous eloquence, was wanting to that great mus-
ter of various talents. Age and blindness had
unfitted Lord North for the duties of a publie
prosecution, and his friends were left without
the help of his excellent sense, his tact, and
his nrbanity, But in spite of the absence of
these two distingnished members of the lower
house, the box in which the managers stood
contained an array of speakers such as, per-
haps, had not appeared together since the great
age of Athenian elognence. There were
Fox and Sheridan, the English Demosthenes,
and the English Hyperides. There was
Burke, ignorant indeed, or negligent of the
art of adapting his reasonings and his style to
the capacity and taste of his hearers, but in
amplitude of comprehension and richness of
imagination superior to every orator, ancient
or modern. There, with eyes reverentially
fixed on Burke, appeared the finest gentleman
of the age; hizs form developed by every
manly exercise ; his face beaming with in-
telligence and spirit,—the ingenious, the chi-
valrous, the high-souled Windham. Nor,
though surrounded by such men, did the
youngest manager pass unnoticed. At an
age when most of those who distinguish them-
selves in life are still contending for prizes
and fellowships at college, he had won for
himself a conspicuous place in parliament.
No advantage of fortune or connection was
wanting that could set off to the height his
splendid talents and his unblemished honour.
At twenty-three he had been thonght worthy
to be ranked with the veteran statesmen who
appeared as the delegates of the British com-
mons, at the bar of the British nobility.” This
was the future Earl Grey, the premier un'ﬁer
whose government the reform bill was carried.

The reading of the charges and answers of
Hastings oceupied several days. Burke tl}en
opened the impeachment in a speech which
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contemporaries deseribe as producing by the
solemnity and manner of the orator, as much
effect as by its powers of reasoning and mar-
vellous eloquence. Even Thurlow, the deter-
mined abettor of Hastings, uttered exclama-
tions of admiration, and, at the close of the
peroration, Hastings himself appeared affected,
notwithstanding the dauntless and proud front
he bore. Fox, Grey (afterwards Earl Grey),
Lord Loughborough (formerly the advocate
of Clive), and Sheridan, all betrayed an ani-
mus the most hostile to the prisoner at the
bar ; but the lord-chancellor, a host in him-
gelf (considering his abilities, boldness, and the
advantages of his situation), indicated from the
first a resolution to save him. The trial was
go protracted that public curiosity flagged,
and the persecutors became less confident.
Their great cards had been played, and the
game was not won. The defence of Hastings
was expected to be brilliant, and to come with
telling power when the impressions produced
by the orations of his accusers were worn
away. Such was the state of matters at the
end of June, and when both houses were
weary of the session. Only thirty-five days
were given to the trial; it was obliged to
stand over for another year.

In 1789 other business drew away the
attention of the honse and the public from the
trial; the illness of the king excited the popu-
lar sympathy greatly, and still further contri-
buted to cast the interest taken in the trial
into the shade. The friends of Hastings
grew bolder. Advantage was taken of in-
decorous expressions used by Burke, to move
a vote of censure upon him in the commons,
and it was carried. This deeply humiliated
the great man, and deprived him of much
moral power in his further prosecution of the
impeachment.

In 1790 parliament was dissolved, and the
temper of the new house towards Hastings
was tested by his Iriends, nearly as soon as
it had assembled. It was maintained that
the dissolution put an end to the prosecution.
Pitt and the opposition united in affirming
the contrary. Several of the articles of
impeachment were, however, withdrawn, in
order to facilitate the more rapid issue of
the case.

In 1791 the prosecution on the part of the
committee became less bitter, with the excep-
tion of Kdmund Burke, who clung to it with
all the tenacity of hatred which animated
Francig, who, although not on the committee,
was perpetually in communication with its
members, and was, out of the house, the life
of the prosecution, which still chased the
already severely punished and much suffering
Hastings.
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" In 1795 Hastings appeared before the bar
of the lords to hear juugment. The curiosity
of the public now returned with full force.
His opponent Loughborough was chancellor ;
his friend Thurlow was in opposition; the
committee for managing the impeachment was
broken up into various parties, its members at
enmity with one another ; and out of the body
of peers who took so deep an interest in
the trial at its commencement, sixty had
gone before the great tribunal, to render
their own last aceount. Twenty-nine peers
voted. Six voted against Hastings on the
charges in connection with Cheyte Sing and
the begums, a still gmaller number voted
against him on the other important articles
of impeachment, and on none of the relatively
minor charges was there a single voice against
him. He was informed from the woolsack
that he was acquitted. He bowed with the
same air of respectful dignity, firmness, and
self-consciousness, as when he approached
that bar nearly eight years before.

The decision met with almost universal ap-
proval. It was felt by the public that he had
been put to an enormous cost—a fortune had
beenexpendedin his defence; that his anxieties
for so many years were terribly penal; that he
had been pursued with bitter personal ani-
mosity and jealons political envy; that his

errors had been sought ont with a vindictive-
ness such as had never before been directed
againgt a public man, and that his great ser-
vices had been unrequited by the country for
whose greatness and glory he had done so
much. All men had come to the conclusion
that, but for Warren Hastings, the Asiatic
empire of England had vanished from beneath
her sceptre. A

Hastings returned from the bar of the lords
to his seat—the old family seat at Daylesford—
a victor, but terribly impoverished by his con-
test, He had purchased the old manor house
and estate, which had three quarters of a cen-
tury before passed out of the family. The
dream of his life's young morning was
realized—he was “ Hastings of Daylesford.”
But, alas! he took up his abode there when
fortune had done much against him, as well as
for bim ; and the remainder of his years were
destined to be spent in comparative obscurity.
The malignity of his enemies pursued him
still.  Francis, Burke, and Dundas were as
bitter as ever ; they lost no opportunity, pub-
lic or private, not merely to damage his repu-
tation, but to hurt his interests. But for the
generosity of the Kast India Company he
must have sunk into poverty.

Like many great men who have a genius
for public business and for government, he

was a bad manager of his private affairs; and
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he who, as governor-general of India, saved
an empire from financial anarchy, was more
than once on the verge of pecuniary ruin, as
“ Hastings of Daylesford.”

Pitt continued to regard him with envy,
because he enjoyed the king's favour; and
because, on Eastern affairs, if not in other de-
partments of statesmanship, he would have
been a superior authority if permitted to
emerge into public life. When Pitt retived
from power, Hastings was nearly seventy
vears old.

In 1813 he was examined as a witness be-
fore the commons on the subject of India; on
which oceasion the whole house rose in re-
spectful homage as he left its bar. Many
marks of public respect were paid to him
after that time by the Prince Regent, the
leading men of the day, and the people gene-
rally. He was also made a privy councillor.
His private life belongs rather to the biogra-
pher, but the closing scene was appropriate
to the courage and equanimity of his career.
On the 22nd of August, 1818, according to
Macaulay—on the 3rd of that month, accord-
ing to M. Auber and others—he closed his
life, having attained his eightieth year. On
that day he wrote to Colonel Toone in the
following remarkable terms :—“ I impose up-
on myself the last office of communication be-
tween you and me, to inform you that a few
hours remain, which are to separate us from
each other for ever. The infliction that must
end me is a total privation of the function of
deglutition, which is equivalent to the extremi-
ties of hunger, by the inability to take nourish-
ment. I have called you by the only appel-
lation that language can express me, ¢ Yar
Woofadar, my profitable friend; for such,
with every other quality of friendship, T have
ever experienced yours in all our mutunal in-
tercourse, and my heart has returned it (un-
profitably, I own), but with equal sentiments
of the purest affection. My own conscience
assuredly attests that I myself have not been
wanting in my duty to my respectable em-
ployers, I quit the world, and their service,
to which I shall conceive myself, to the latest
moment that I draw my breath, still devotedly
attached, and in the firm belief that in the
efficient body of directors I have not one in-
dividual ill-affected towards me. I do not

IN INDIA AND THE EAST.

413

express my full feelings; I believe them all
to be kindly, generously disposed towards me;
and to the larger and constituent body I can
only express a hope, that if there are any of a
different sentiment, the number is but few;
for they have supported me, when I thought
myself abandoned by all other powers, from
whom I ever thonght myself entitled to any
benefit. My latest prayers shall be offered
for their service, for that of my beloved coun-
try, and for that also whose interest both had
so long committed to my partial guardianship,
and for which I feel a sentiment in my de-
parting hours, not alien from that which is
due from every subject to its own.”

Thus tranquilly this serene and heroic man
passed away, after a career so eventful and
turbulent, in which, amidst all its tremendous
storms, he was ever calm, resolute, and great.

As it will not be necessary again to refer
to this eminent personage in the progress of
this history, except en passant, it may be
here noticed that, after his death, the most
marked tokens of respect for his memory were
shown by the Bast India Company, which,
he had so long and so faithfully served, and
which, during his long retirement from pub-
lic life, had soothed his sorrows and generously
provided for his wants. A court was called,
when the chairman, Campbell Majoribanks,
Fsq., passed a warm eulogy upon his memory.
The deputy-chairman, Mr. Robinson, after-
wards Sir George Robinson, who had served
in India as a civil officer of the company dur-
ing a portion of the time when Hastings was
governor, followed the chairman in terms of
high commendation of the personal and offi-
cial conduct of Hastings. The following re-
solution was passed :—

“ Resolved, That as the last testimony of
approbation of the long, zealous, and success-
ful services of the late Right Honourable War-
ren Hastings, in maintaining without diminu-
tion the British possessions in India against
the combined efforts of European, Moham-
medan, and Mahratta enemies, the statue of
that distinguished servant of the East India
Company be placed among the statesmen and
heroes who have contributed in their several
stations to the recovery, preservation, and se-
curity of the British power and authority in

| India."”
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: CHAPTER XOL
HOME AFFAIRS (Continued).

During the progress of the events connected
with Hastings, which necessarily occupied so
large a space in the last chapter, the general
affairs of the company occupied the attention
of parliament and the country., In 1784,
Pitt's bill was introduced. The new parlia-
ment met on the 19th of May, and the premier
took an early opportunity of bringing for-
ward his measure for the future government
of India. In the sketeh given of the history
of the company’s charters and eonstitutions,
Pitt's bill was noticed sufficiently. The bill,
after protracted discussions in parliament,
and between the government and the com-
pany, was carried; but it was necessary in
1786 to introduce another bill to amend it.

During that year Lord Macartney returned
from India, and immediately received a
challenge from General Stuart, whose strange
conduct in command of the Madras army
during the war with Tippoo has been already
noticed. His lordship was wounded. The
circumstance led to the formation by the
company of regulations against duelling of a
most stringent character.

Alfter the brief service of Mr. Macpherson
in the chair of the supreme council of Bengal,
and the refusal of Lord Macartney to ocenpy
it, the directors took measures to find an ap-
propriate successor to Hastings.
was a difficult one, and their choice eventually
fell upon Lord Cornwallis, He was appointed
governor-general and commander-in-chief,
and was the first upon whom the duty de-
volved of carrying out the act of 1784
General Sloper, who had previously assumed
the command in chief of the army, was re-
ealled upon & pension.

In 17387 the company made their first ar-
rangements for an overland mail, In the
same year, means were arranged for securing
an annual budget of Indian finance to lay
before parliament.

In 1788, when the first struggles for liberty
were indicated in France, fears were enter-
tained in England that a war between the
two countries would arise, from the principles
put forth in popular assemblies in that conntry.
The government of France was suspected of
being anxions to divert the minds of the
people from home topies to foreign conquests ;
and, as oriental dominion had always heen a
tempting object to the lovers of glory in
France, reasonable fears were entertained in

This task

[ or fancied he saw, symptoms of revived

hope amongst some of the native princes that
a coalition with some European power might
be formed. He communicated these fears
to the directors, and exercised increased
vigilance upon the movements of the native
chiefs, especially upon those of Tippoo Sultan.
At this juncture, differences sprung up be-
tween the government at home and the court
of directors, which led to intemperate dis-
cussiong in the house of commons and among
the proprietors of Indian stock.

In 1781 it had been decided by parliament
that for every thousand men sent out for the
defence of India by the government, the com-
pany should pay two lacs of rupees. Four
regiments had been ordered to be raised for
gervice in India in the latter part of 1787,
and discussions arose as to the rank of the
officers relative to those in the company's
service, Petitions from the latter, as to the
way in which they had been superseded and
otherwise treated by the royal officers, caused
discussions of an unpleasant nature in the
court of directors, and a long, angry, and un-
satisfactory correspondence between the go-
vernment and the court resulted. In order
to get rid of this difficulty, the directors de-
clined accepting the servieces of the four regi-
ments, T'he crown insisted on sending them
out. The company refused, in that case, to
pay for them. Thus matters stood when, on
the 25th of Febrnary, 1788, Mr. Pitt brought
in a bill to enable the crown to send out
troops without the consent of the company,
and to hold the company liable for their pay-
ment. The bill was opposed, and it ulti-
mately passed both liouses, containing clauses
which limited the number of king's troops
which might be sent to India, and maintsined
out of the revenue of that country.

In Augnst, 1789, the directors appointed
General Meadows to the government of Ma-
dras, and Colonel Robert Abercromby com-
mander-in-chief of Bombay.

At the close of that year, the directors
made arrangements to reduce their military
establishments, no danger such as had been
apprehended having arisen from the political
state of France. Lord Cornwallis was urged
to consult economy in the reduction of the
number of troops, native and European. At
that very juncture, a new and terrible war in
India was imminent. It is remarkable how

England that projects of fresh Indian wars | frequently, when the company were preparing
would be matured. TLord Cornwallis saw, | for retrenchment in military expenses, the
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political horizon became suddenly darkened
and the thunder-clond of war let loose its
fires. Tippoo Sultan was once more pre-
paring to brave the power of England.

The revenue settlements of Bengal occu-
pied the attention of the directors as well as
of the governor-general during 1789-90. What
has been ecalled the permanent settlement
of Lord Cornwallis received the approbation
of the directors. The merits of Mr. Shore
(the friend of Hastings) as a financier were
brought out more fully than previously by
the arrangements in connection with the per-
manent settlement. Mr. Pitt was greatly
strock with the ability displayed, and his im-
pressions of Mr. Shore’s great talents led to
that gentleman’s selection as governor-general
of Bengal, on the retirement of Lord Corn-
wallis. The permanent settlement was car-
ried into effect by orders from the court of
directors, in March, 1793, fulfilling one of the
clauses of the bill of 1784, * That, to prevent
future oppression, government were to be re-
quested to fix an unalterable tribute rent.”
As the correspondence between Lord Corn-
wallis and the directors was frequent and
their views concurrent, the measures taken
by his government in civil affairs, although
not originating at home, may in this chapter
be properly referred to.

In 1793 district courts were established,
for the satisfaction of litigants and the ends of
justice. The same year his lordship invested
the collection of revenue and the administra-
tion of justice in separate officers. In 1797
the British parliament substantially incor-
porated the regulations of Lord Cornwallis,
in these and other respects, in an act for
the internal government of Bengal. These
“regulations” for the administration of law
and revenue were mostly suggested by Hast-
ings, in previous provisions of a less perfect
order, according as circumstances arose in
his day allowing of such.

Matters in India now assumed the aspect of
impending war, and Lord Cornwallis pre-
pared himself for the issue. In other chapters,
the events of that war will be related; in this
place, it will be only necessary to say that
English interests were exposed to fresh
dangers, and English arms obtained fresh
triumphs, The conduct of Lord Cornwallis
was approved both by the company and the
parliament. Thanks and honours were la-
vished upon him, and if he received much
praise he deserved much. The war which
his lordship had conducted to such a suc-
cessful issue did not receive such cordial
support in parliament. The pacific decla-
rations of the act of 1784 were called for in
both houses, and read. A motion was made
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reaffirming the policy of that clause, in, if
possible, stronger terms. Amongst the most
ardent supporters of this motion was Lord
Rawdon, who afterwards himself, placed
in India in eircumstances very similar to
those of Lord Cornwallis, acted similarly to
that nobleman, and had his conduct brought
in question in a like way. It may indeed be
affirmed that most of the eminent men in the
British parliament who were forward to con-
demn the servants of the erown and company
in India, would, in the same circumstances,
from motives of patriotism and justice, have
felt themselves constrained to have acted an
identical part.

On the 21st of September, 1792, the court
of directors supposing that Lord Cornwallis
would return to England sooner than he did,
nominated Mr. Shore as his successor, The
revolutionary proceedings in France alarmed
the conservative susceptibilities of the Eng-
lish, and war was declared. Instructions to
this effect were sent out to Liord Cornwallis,
and were acted upon by his lordship with his
usual wisdom and valour.

On the 28rd of January, 1793, the East
India Company resolved, nemine contradicente,
that the statue of Lord Cornwallis should be
placed in the court-room of the India-house,
in order “that his great services might be
ever had in remembrance.”” In June follow-
ing, another resolution was passed, also with-
out a dissentient voice, granting his lordship
an annuity of £5000 as a reward for his
services.

The year 1793 was one of importance to
the East India Company, as the period ap-
proached when a new agreement must be
made with the public. It soon became ob-
vious that the just interests of the company,
and those of India, were to be made sub-
servient to political and interested parties
at home, if their measures could be car-

ried through parliament. The manufacturers
of Manchester were not free-traders in 1793,
and they raised a fierce clamour against
the importation of piece-goods from India,
and the exportation of any machinery to
India, by which cotton ‘cloth might be more
cheaply produced. These demands were
effectually resisted. The China trade of the
company, was, however, brought under modi-
fications less in the interest of the company,
and more in favour of the public. The com-
pany’s charter was renewed for twenty years
in spite of all opposition, personal, political,
and commercial,

~ BEdmund Burke opposed the appointment
of Mr. Shore, now made Siv John Shore, on
the ground of his friendship for Hastings.
It was supposed that the new governor-



416

general would exercise an influence in India,
with the company, and with the government,
adverse to the party of which Burke was the
head in the matter of the impeachment of
Hastings. “The chair” replied to Burke in
terms of becoming dignity, maintaining their
prerogative, asserting the obligation which
rested on them to select such high officials
on the ground of personal fitness, and repu-
diating on their part all party motives. Sir
John Shore was in England when this dis-
cussion arose. IHe entered upon the duties
of government on the 28th of October, 1793,
Major-general Sir Robert Abereromby as-
sumed the office of commander-in-chief, under
the court’s appointment of September, 1792,

Lord Hobart, who was a nominee of Mr,
Dundas, was appointed to the government of
Madras on the 23rd of October, 1793. He
was also nominated governor-general in case
of the removal, from any cause, of Sir John
Shore. Sir Charles Oakley, who was super-
seded by Lord Hobart, was, as a mark of
respeel, empowered to retain the reins of
office for one month after his lordship's arri-
val at Fort St. George.

The company, having had its attention
divected to Birmah, advised a mission from
Bengal to the King of Ava. Captain Symes
effected the purposes of the mission entrusted to
him, which gave greatsatisfaction tothe gover-
nor-general in India, and the directors at home.

Mr. Dunean was appointed to the govern-
ment of Bombay in 1795,

In 1796 important military arrangements
took place in London, under the supervision
of the directors, by which batta and other
extra allowances were fixed, a recruiting depot
established, furlough regulations made, and
retirement allowances for officers ordained,
the entire expense of which amounted to the
large annual charge of £308,000, A singular
sentence was written at this time in the com-
pany’'s communications with the government
in Bengal :—* That in reasoning upon political
events in India, all conclusions, from obvious
causes, must be liable to great uncertainty.”

Lieutenant-general Sir Alured Clarke was
appointed second in council, and commander-
in-chief at Madras. e was sent out in view
of a renewed war with Tippoo.

On the 24th of October, 1797, Sir John
Shore was raised to the Irish peerage, in re-
ward of his able services in India. The title
bestowed upon Sir John was an odd one in
connection with an Irish peerage, as it was
connected with an English seaport, his style
and title was Baron Teignmouth. His lord-
ship’s new honour was hardly needed to sus-

tain his influence in India, where he only for
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was conferred. In Mareh, 1798, he returned
to England. Previous to the return of lis
lordship, the Marquis Cornwallis was again
nominated for the governor-generalship in
India. Lord Hotham was not expected to re-
main in India, so that his provisional appoint-
ment would be of no avail. There were many
questions open which it was supposed the
Marquis Cornwallis yvas especially qualified
happily to close. The military arrangements
which at so much cost the company had formed
were not well received at Bengal. Differences
which arose when Hastings was in the chair
of supreme government, and Lord Macartney
in that of Madras, between the councils of
Caleutta and Fort St. George, still continued ;
the difficulties connected with the debts of the
Nabob of Arcot appeared to be interminable.
Bengal required a supervision such as it had
recently obtained from Sir John Shore, and
formerly from Lord Cornwallis. Such were
the leading reasons assigned by the directors
for wishing to send to India again the states-
man and general with whose former adminis-
tration they had been so well satisfied.

The Marquis Cornwallis did not proceed
to Bengal as intended. The public interests
in the British Isles required that some states-
man of great abilities and amiable disposition
should be placed at the head of the Irish
government, Thither he went. A terrible
Insurrection raged in that unhappy country
in 1798, followed by another, confined to
the capital, in 1803, which was led by the
amiable, gifted, brave, and patriotic Thomas
Addis Emmet, The followers of Emmet
did not partake of his noble spirit and honour-
able principles. They attacked Lord Corn-
wallis, unattended and unarmed, dragged
him from his carriage, and nearly murdered
him. When Emmet learned the event, he no
longer hoped for his country. He believed
that he had commanded men ambitious of
being soldiers, but whose ambition was satis-

fied with the rank of assassins. It is but just
to them, however, to state, that when they
learned who their victim was, they cursed their
own weapons, and bitterly repented of the
deed. The earl survived the attempt upon
his life, and was destined at a future period
again to govern India,

When the company found it impossible to
obtain the services of Lord Cornwallis, their
attention was fixed upon the Earl of Morn-
ington. This nobleman had formed a taste for
the study of Indian history and Indian affairs.
When at Eton his education was conducted
under the superintendence of Archbishop
Cornwallis, who then resided at the palace of
Lambeth, where, from 1771 to 1779, he was

a short time continued after his new rank

accustomed to pass the holidays. At the
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palace he frequently met the Farl of Corn- |
wallis, and the members of his family, as |
they passed much of their time with the pre-
late, their kinsman.

When, in 1786, Barl Cornwallis assumed
the governorship of Bengal, young Wellesley
was led to conceive the idea that much inte-
rest was connected with the study of Indian
Jiterature and story. He had no purpose or
notion of ever taking part in the affairs of
that country, at all events, within the penin-
sula itself.  In 1786, Lord Wellesley (as he
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then was) received the appointment of lord
of the treasury. He then obtained a high
reputation for scholarship, eloquence, and
wisdom. In 1795 he was made one of the
commissioners for the affairs of India. Up to
1797 he held both offices, and a seat in the
privy council. The conrt of directors nomi-
nated him governor-general of India, and he
accepted the charge. The common impres-
sion was that his lordship was unfit for the
post, as ignorant altogether of Indian affairs.
His able management in India afterwards, led
to the impression that he must have been a
man of surpassing genius to form, go soon after
his arrival, such just conceptions of the great
task he had undertaken. These impressions
were erroneous, except so far as that the
genius of this remarkable man was such that
had he gone to India ignorant of its affairs,
he would have probably grasped the great
subject, and mastered it under every disad-
vantage.

Every circumstance relating to the con-
nection of such a man with India is inte-
resting. M. Auber gives the following ac-
count of the outward voyage, its varied and
important incidents, and the unexpected eir-
cumstances which furnished the earl with
important information :— Lord Wellesley
had been requested to make a short stay in
Madras, for the purpose of effecting a modifi-
cation of the treaty with his highness the
Nabob of Arcot, in 1792. But as great im-
portance was attached to an exact observance
of treaties with the native powers,a principle
g0 honourably established under the adminis-
tration of Lord Cornwallis, no exertion of any
other power than that of persuasion was to be
used for the purpose of inducing the nabob to
adopt any alteration of the treaty. Lord
Wellesley embarked at Portsmonth on La
Virginie frigate, on the 9th November, and
on the 29th arrived at Madeira, where he
was received with every mark of attention by
the Portuguese authorities. On the following
day the Niger frigate, with the Surat Castle,
having on board Sir John Anstruther, who
was proceeding to Bengal as chief-justice,
accompanied by the whole of the convoy,
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arrived off the island. In the night the ships
of the fleet were obliged to slip their cables
and put to sea, to avoid the effects of a sudden
and tremendous storm. Lord Wellesley ar-
rived at the Cape of Good Hope in February,
1798, where he met with Major Kirkpatrick,
the late resident at-the court of Hyderabad,
which post that officer had been constrained

to quit, and to repair to the Cape for the be-

nefit of his health. Lord Wellesley was, in
some measure, aware that the increase of the
French influence had occasioned considerable
apprehension in the mind of Lord Teign-
mouth before he left India. His lordship,
therefore, embraced the opportunity which
the meeting with Major Kirkpatrick pre-
sented, to frame and submit a series of gues-
tions to that officer, whose replies enabled his
Jordship to form a more correct estimate of
the importance to be attached to the subject.
The result of his deliberations was communi-
cated in a letter to Mr. Dundas, accompanied
by his lordship’s opinion on the value of the
Cape, and more especially that of the island
of Ceylon, to the interests of Great Britain.
Ceylon had been placed under the Madras
government since its capture in 1796. Ac-
counts having reached Fort George, in Jan-
uary, 1798, that the chief of the insurgents
was in communication with the court at
Kandy, and that apprehensions were enter-
tained that the rebellious chiefs and the king
might unite with the French and Dutch
against the British interests, Lord Hobart
proceeded to Columbo, in company with Ad-
miral Rainier, on the 7th of July, for the
purpose of securing those interests. Having
effected the objects of his visit, he returned to
Madras, and on the 18th announced his in-
tention to relinquish the government, and to
proceed to Europe. General Hanrris, the com-
mander-in-chief at Fort St. George, suc-
ceeded provisionally to the government. In
reparation for the disappointment and loss
oceasioned to Lord Hobart, who it could not
be supposed would remain after two successors
had been nominated to the office of governor-
general since his lordship’s appointment as
suceessor to Sir John Shore, in 1793, an una-
nimous resolution was passed by the directors,
on the 8th of August, granting him a pension
of £1,500 per annum, to commence from the
time of his quitting Madras : which resolution
was confirmed by the general court, on the
6th of December, when the thanks of the
company were also unanimously voted to his
lordship for his able and meritorious conduct
in the government of Fort St. George. In
the same month, the court of directors ap-
pointed Lord Clive (now Earl Powis) his
successor. The question regarding the go-
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vernment of Ceylon was yet undecided; but
there were reasons to believe that it would
be assumed by the crown. The Honourable
Frederick North, in anticipation of this deci-
sion, having arrived at Bombay, addressed a
private letter to Lord Wellesley, as he con-
sidered his lordship might be called to account
‘ for the arrival in India of a person unhoused,
unappointed, unannealed,’ who, with seven or
eight more of his majesty’s servants, in em-
bryo, like himself, had no security for their
employment but the word of ministers,”*
The island being declared a king’s possession,
Mr. North was confirmed in the government.

Lord Wellesley landed at Madras in April,
1798. On the 18th of May he reached Cal-
cutta, and assumed his government. Scarcely
had the governor-general arrived at his post,
when the directors sent out the most rigorousin-
structions for his conduct. Tippoo was still the
bugbear of ““their honours,” and they advised
the noble governor not to wait for a declara-
tion of war on the part of Tippoo, but if they
found him engaged in any political coguetry
with the French, war was to be declared forth-
with. The directors were, no doubt, influenced
in giving these directions by the advice of
Lord Teignmouth, The company had arrived
at the conviction, which was expressed at this
period by General Craig—* A defensive war
must ever be ruinons to us in India.”

The year 1798 is rendered remarkable in
Indian history by the fact, that in it the Hon.
Colonel Wellesley, afterwards Duke of Wel-
lington, left England for Madras at the head
of the 33rd regiment, and embarked at Fort
Bt. George on the 15th of August. So active
were the measures of Lord Wellesley, that
the courtof directors were kept in continnous
correspondence and in anxious consideration
of his despatches, although, at the same time,
their confidence never for a moment wavered,
howevervast the magnitude of the conceptions,
the plans, or the undertakings of his lordship.
The grand source of alarm to the directors
was the French, Often as they had been
beaten, they still survived in India, and with
wonderful elasticity rose to influence again.
With an exceedingly small amount of terri-
tory, they yet continued to form connections
the most potential with the native courts, and
to land stores of war and military forces dan-
gerous exceedingly to the power of England
when used to strengthen some great native
power at war with her. Mogul, vizier, Mah-
ratta, nabob, sultan, or rajah, whoever pos-
sessed French alliance, was formidable to
England ; and although England always won
in the long run, the race of competition was

* Aunber’s Rise and Progress of the East India Com-
pany, vol. ii, chap, v. p. 163,
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often close. Francenowhere displayed against
England an energy so unflagging as in India.
Hence, the first care of the directors ever was
to provide securify against Freneh influence,
and by diplomacy to dissuade, or by battle to
deter, all native princes from confederacy with
France. These principles operated upon the
court of directors in 1798-99 with more pow-
erful influence than ever before : hence, every
movement of the Earl of Mornington was
watched from London with eager anxiety.
His lordship’s own mind was the reflex of the
general mind of the company and of the coun-
try; and therefore his policy was popular in
Britain, and met with the earnest and con-
fiding support of the directors. The noble
earl's government and policy sustained the
favour they at first received, Both houses of
parliament, the divectors, and the proprietary
of the company testified repeatedly and en-
thusiastically their respect for his lordship,
and gratitude for his services; and when at
length hislabours terminated, he was rewarded
with a pension of £5,000 a-year as a tribute
to his renown, and an acknowledgment of the
great advantages he had conferred on the
company,

During the year 1800 the services of Colo-
nel Wellesley became highly appreciated by
the court of directors and the government,
by a variety of independent operations, which,
although on a minor scale, were of great dif-
ficulty, and required a sound judgment and
ready address,

Such were the leading events connected
with the liome proceedings of the company,
and in relation to the company, during the
part of the 18th century the home history of
which has not been written in previous chap-
ters. It has been thought judicious to place
the account of the relation of the government
and the company at home during this period
before the reader in aconnected form, although

50 many great changes took place in India.
The reader, having before his mind the whole
outline of the company's affairs at home, the
nistory of the leading official appointments,
and the views of the directors, will be pre-
pared to understand more clearly the conduct
and policy of public servants in India, and to
connect them with the mighty issues of war
and peace in the peninsula. When the
18th century closed, English progress in
India had nade for itself already a grand
page in history ; British interests there had
become vast, complicated, and profound ; and
a future was opened for the ambition and use-
fulness of England into which it was possible
to look, as throngh a vista, however obscure
the detail of the prospect, and however veiled

| its remoter forms,
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CHAPTER XCIT.

MR, MACPHERSON SUCCEEDS HASTINGS AS GOVERNOR-GENERAL—HIS FINANCIAL MEASURES—
TIPPOO DEFEATS THE MAHRATTAS—LORD MACARTNEY SURRENDERS THE GOVERN-
MENT OF MADRAS AND REFUSES THAT OF BENGAL—AMBITION OF SCINDIAH—THE
SIKHS BECOME IMPORTANT—EARL CORNWALLIS ASSUMES THE GOVERNMENT OF
INDIA—HIS GENERAL MEASURES—TIPPOO INVADES TRAVANCORE,

Trg last two chapters related the progress of
home events connected with the East India
Company, in such a manner as to bring before
the reader the principal official personages in
India from the period when Hastings retived
from Bengal to the close of the century. The
domestic policy of the Marquis of Cornwallis
was also stated. The outline thus given of
the proceedings and policy of the directors
renders it unnecessary to dwell upon official
changes and contests in India, so that the
chapters relating the history of India during
the fifteen years which intervened between
the retirement of Hastings and the beginning
of the nineteenth century, may be occupied
with the great political events which influ-
enced so much the progress of the English
and the destinies of the native states.

When Mr. Hastings withdrew from the
government, Mr. Macpherson, as has been
already shown, assumed the presidency of the
supreme council. Secarcely had that gentle-
man taken upon him the onerous charge of
governing India, when he found himself sur-
rounded by fresh intrignes and difficulties
among the native states. The condition of
these states was restless as the sea. Scarcely
was one movement quelled than another more
disturbed began. No general policy could
gecure peace. The directions from home, the
instructions from government house at Cal-
cutta, were for peace; but the elements of
disturbance were susceptible and powerful,
and there were always influences to act npon
them, The Mahrattas were rapidly rising
into supremacy. Madajee Scindiah was the
most potent of all the chiefs of that remark-
able people, and his office of vakeel-ul-mul-
luck to the Mogul greatly inereased his influ-
ence. On the 27th of March Agra surren-
dered to Madajee, which he held in the name
of the Mogul emperor. After his conguest of
that great capital he marched for Telhi with
the Mogul, detained only by the fortress of
Allyghur, which had been armed and pro-
visioned for twelvemonths, and which Seindiah
could not approach except to reconnoitre.

Mr. Anderson was at this time the com-
pany’s agent to the Mogul, and was, therefore,
at head-quarters in the Mahratta camp. He
found Scindiah so exalted by his conquests,

his assumed vicegerency of the Mognl domi-
nions, and the services he had rendered to
the English as mediator between them and
the Mahratta confederation in the late Mah-
ratta war, that he began to treat the com-
pany’s officers with disrespect, and bore him-
gelf in such way to Mr. Anderson that he
prepared to leave the Mahratta camp. Scin-
diah, alarmed for the moment at the probable
consequences of driving away an agent and
envoy of England by insult, offered many
assurances that he had intended no affront,
Mr. Anderson was induced to remain, but
charged the Mahratta chief with meditating
war against the company. Scindiah, placing
his open hand upon his sword, said, “ By my
sword I swear I have no intention to male
war.! This, coming from a chief of such
warlike and haughty reputation, caused M.
Anderson to hope that no feud would break

out between the company and the Mahratta
power. Still Scindiah showed various tokens
of hostility to the English. Among them
that which excited most suspicion was the
| resistance which he offered to the residence of
an Euglish agent at the court of the Peishwa.
This agent, Mr. Mallett, was sent from Bombay
to Poonah; Scindiah received him with respect,
but objected to his permanent residence at that
capital. The comparative proximity of Poonah
to Bowmbay, and the great amount of com-
mercial business between the two places
rendered a resident agent essential. A dis-
tance of eight hundred miles would be
traversed, if Scindiah were the only medium of
communication between the company and the
Mahrattas. The supreme government deter-
mined to insist upon the recognition of the
agent sent by them to the courtof the Peishwa,
The views of Scindial against Tippoo Sultan
tended further to sow dissatisfaction between
him and the supreme council. The conduet
of Tippoo to the Mahrattas was provocative
of war, Hyder Ali had been little more than
a nominal Mohammedan ; he had little regard
to “ God or the prophet,” if the will of either,
as represented to him, stood in the way of his
policy. Tippoo's principles were, on the con-
trary, drawn from the Koran. He believed
himself to have been raised up as an avenger
of the faithful, and a scourge of the infidels,



420

and he made all the native states around him
feel his wrath. The Mahrattas were heathen,
and Tippoo believed that to convert such,
under the threat of sword and fire, was a
praiseworthy action. He was a Mohammedan
fanatie, and infuriated in his fanaticism. He
found means of compelling some sixty thou-
sand Mahratta subjects, in one of the outlying
provinces of that strange empire, to embrace
Mohammedanism ; and he put to death some
thousands of Brahmins who refused to become
followers of the prophet. His fury against
native Christians rivalled that of the most
- terrible persecutors among the Roman em-
perors. Scindiah was as anxious fo unite with
the English in the chastisement of Tippoo, as
he was to unite with-any other power or
powers for the humiliation of the Iinglish.
The indications of the working of these desires
in his mind rapidly increased,

In July, 1785, Scindiah made proposals for
an alliance between the English, the Nizam of
the Deccan, and the Peishwa of the Mahrattas
against Tippoo. The supreme government
at Calcutta would neither listen to these over-
tures, nor permit the government of Bombay
to do so. Scindiah considered this a breach of
treaty ; the supreme government thought so
too, but were compelled to bow to the new
act of parliament. The fierce Mahratta knew
nothing of the parliament, but considered the
English in India as a power which could not
be bound to engagements, as when they be-
came inconvenient or expensive, there were
orders from home, from company, king, or
parliament, which were made a pretext for
violating such agreements. Tippoo and the
Mahrattas fought it out, and the former was
the conqueror. Scindiah was recalled to
Poonah by the Peishwa, but refused obedience,
and maintained ambitious wars on his own
account. Pleading an especial treaty with
the English, they reluctantly entered into an
ambiguous agreement, promising aid to him
as a Mahratta chief, but refusing to be com-
promised by his engagements with the nizam.
Thus complicated, during the government of
Mr. Macpherson, were the connections of the
English with the Mahvattas; while the latter
by their own especial complications with the
Mogul, the Sikhs, the vizier of Oude, and
Tippoo, were involving the English in the
meshes of an inextricable entanglement with
native states, except so far as the judgment
of Mr. Macpherson averted such confusion.
This it was not in his power to do wholly,
for the force of circumstances was too strong
for him; but he showed much good sense
and tact, and had considerable success in his
measures to preserve peace, and keep the
company free from the embroilments from
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which none of the native states were long
exempt.
* The intrigues and activities of Scindiah
continued; his quarrels were as widespread as
India itself, and his fortunes were chequered :
—“The vicissitudes of the different parties
disputing for the last fragments of the Mogul
empire were so sudden and incessant, that
they baffled the lkeenest political foresight.
Scindiah, after holding the power of prime
minister for two years, was expelled from his
office by a new combination of the Mogul
chiefs. His army was defeated, and he him-
self obliged to fly to his own dominions. He
was sncceeded by wvarious nobles, amongst
whom was the infamous Gholam Kadir, by
whom Shah Alem was deposed and blinded.
This ontrage brought Seindiahagain to Delhi ;
but the consolidated power of the British ren-
dered him Jess formidable than he had been.
The Prince Juwan Bukht, after several vain
attempts to engage Nawab Vizir and the
British government to aid him, and after one
unsuecessful effort, in 1787, to re-establish
himself at Delhi by force of arms, returned
to Delhi, and died suddenly in 1788."#
Amidst the general confusion and intrigues
of native powers, the Sikhs at this time be-
came prominent. While Mr. Anderson was
at the camp of Scindiah, a person in the garb
of a merchant came to lis “ Moolavee,” and
after offering to sell him some cloths, stated
that he had rare jewels to show him in private.
On withdrawing to examine the precious
stones, the pretended merchant disclosed him-
self as a confidential messenger of Dooljah
Singh, the Sikh chief. He stated that his
prince was anxious for friendship with the
English, as a protection against the ever-
spreading encroachments of the Mahrattas.
He informed Mr. Anderson that thirty thou-
sand Sikhs were dispersed in various disguises
between Pamput and Delhi, and ready to
make a powerful demonstration at any well-
concerted juncture. Mr. Anderson informed
his government, which was anxious to avoid
giving offence to the Mahrattas, and yet eo-
licitous to avoid aiding by any indirect mea-
sure their progress. Mr. Hastings had fore-
seen that the great struggle in southern India,
and in all India from Delhi to Madras, must
ultimately be with them. He objected to
any opposition to them, which by being pre-
mature, would impair the resources of the
company, and consolidate the rival power,
His successor was guided by these views,
although he had never rendered to Mr. Has-
tings, an effectual or generous support in
that or any other department-of his poliey.

Ultimately a pacific solution of the jealousies
* Frauklin's Shak Aulum, p. 159,
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and differences between the Mahratias and
the Sikhs led to the latter placing five thou-
sand horse at the service of the former, in
case of any attack upon them by Tippoo.
Lord Macartney proceeded to Calcutta in
June, 1785, on business connected with the
pecuniary obligations of the Nabob of the
Carnatic. While at Calcutta he learned that
he had been nominated by the court of direc-
tors as the snecessor of Mr. Hastings. His
lordship declined accepting the honour, al-
though it was one he had long desired ; and
Mr. Macpherson as senior member of couneil,
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es-officio, remained at the head of the govern-
ment, The resignation of Lord Macartney
lud to the appointment of Earl Cornwallis, as
governor-general, and Mr. Macpherson re-
signed the post which, as a locum tenens, he
liad so well filled. His administration was
marked by the settlement of Penang as an
English colony., The British cabinet re-
commended him to his majesty for a baro-
netcy, His services have been well summed
up by Dr. H. Wilson in the following passage:
—“With regard to Scindiah, the only im-
portant transaction that took place with him,
was his demand on behalf of Shah Aulum, of
the tribute due to the Mogul, to the amount
of four millions sterling. The demand was
civilly, but peremptorily resisted by Sir John
Macpherson’s government, not, as might be
gupposed from the loose manner in which it
is alluded to in the text, by that of Hastings.
The leading feature of Sir John Macpherson's
administration, however, was the eminent
success which attended his efforts to reduce
public expenditure, and re-establish public
credit. Ina minute in the secret department,
dated 15th December, 1785, it is stated that
a comparison of the receipts and disburse-
wents of the year ending 30th April, 1786,
exhibit a deficit of about £1,300,000. The
arrears due to the armies of the three presi-
dencies, were about two millions, The ascer-
tained Bengal debt alone, was about four
millions. The troops at Madras and Bombay
were in a state of utter destitution, and some
of them in open mutiny, from the great
amount of their arrears. In this situation,
the government of Bengal declared itself re-
sponsible for the debts of the three presi-
dencies. All remittances of cash from the
collectors’ treasuries, were prohibited, until
the arrears of troops within or near their
districts, had been discharged. All eivil
servants, civil surgeons, and uncovenanted
servants, drawing more than 300 rupees per
month, wete to be paid their salaries and all
their arrears, with certificates bearing inte-
rest at 8 per cent. per annum until cashed.
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except the company's bonds, were ordered to
be registered, the registry was to be pub-
lished, and the paper was to be paid off in
the order of its issue. The cash accumnula-
ting in the treasuries was to form a fund, by
which the certificates and other paper were
dischargeable ; and under these arrangements,
the governor-general and council publicly
expressed their expectations, that “all the
paper in currency at the end of 1785, would be
paid off in the course of twelve months,
through funds derivable from the amount of
the reductions made in the established charges
of the government, aided by the effects of
these regulations, and the additional re-
sources to be derived from the upper pro-
vineces,” These measures were made known
to the public by advertisement in the Official
Caleutta Gazetle, 29th December, 1785, and
15th January, 1786. 'The orders were fol-
lowed up by subsidiary arrangements, which
completely altered the aspeet of affairs. “Every
man in the settlement,” observed a competent
authority on the spot, ¢ witnessed the magical
effects of this measure. It operated like a
charm in restoring public confidence, which
once secured, this moving fund acquired life
and activity, At no remote period from the
commencement of the plan, treasury certi-
ficates could raise cash in the market at a
discount less than the legal interest of the
money. I shall ever bear grateful testimony
of the salutary relief from ruin, which the
measure afforded to me, and to every trader
in the settlement.’* In a letter to the
governor of Madras, from the governor-
general, dated 20th May, 1786, he writes,
‘In our reductions of expense, which have
been very great (25 laes), £1,250,000, 1
shall have cold praise, and a thousand secret
enemies., He received, however, in Novem-
ber, 1786, the unanimous thanks of the court

All issues of paper, on account of the company,
VOL, IL :

of directors, for hig able administration of the
affairs of India, and was raised by his ma-
jesty to the dignity of a baronet. It was
during the government of Sir John Macpher-
son, that, by an amicable arrangement with
the King of Queda, the valuable settlement
of Penang, or Prince of Wales' Island, was
added to the company's eastern posses-
sions.”

On the 12th of September, 1786, Karl
Cornwallis landed at Caleutta, and imme-
diately took charge of the government. His
investigations of the condition of the revenue
were prompt, and his report to the directors
was, that the department was worked in a
manner the most unsatisfactory. The com-
pany’s paper was at a discount; the estimated

* Prinsep’s Proposal of a Substitute for Funding, 1797-
31
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and actual receipts of revenue were utterly
discrepant, the former was stated as 92 lacs
59,000 rupees, but the actual receipt into
“the khalsa’ was calculated as 66 laes 12,000
rapees. The debt was 6 crore 24 lacs, and
bore interest at 82 per cent. per annum. A
month after his assumption of government,
his lordship declared that the expenses of the
establishments of the presidencies absorbed
the whole revenue, and that investments for
trading purposes could only be made by
issuing paper, which would increase the evil.
The native chiefs had heard of the fame of
the new governor, and many of them repaired
to Calcutta to pay their respects. The vizier
gent his minister, Hyder Beg Khan, Moham-
med Reza Khan, the nabob Mobarek-ul-
Dowlah, and the Shah-zada; each sought a
personal interview.

Among the early communications of Lord
Cornwallis to the directors, there were severe
animadversions upon the condition of the
company's army. Physically the natives
were superior to the European recruits, ac-
cording to his representations, and morally
they were no worse, perhaps better. His
lordship considered the loyalty of the sepoys
doubtful,

In February, 1787, Sir Archibald Camp-
bell, entered into a newand especial arrange-
ment with. the Nabob of the Carnatie for the
defence of his territory. The nabob was to
contribute “to the peace establishment,” per
year, nine lacs of rupees. In time of war,
the company was to undertake the defence of
the province, the nabob seeing to the pay-
ment of revenue. The great advantage of
this. arrangement was, that it prevented the
divided councils and interests, which had pre-

viously, especially in time of war, so much
embarrassed the relations of the company
with the nabob. A treaty similar to the
former was made by the same diplomatist
with Ameer Singh, the Rajah of Tanjore.
These important treaties were followed by
another, in July of the same year, with
Asoff-ul-Dowlah, the wvizier nabob of Oude.
The noble ear] at the head of the company’s
affairs, resolved that no interference with the
internal affairs of the nabol's government
should take place during his administration.
His lordship forgave the vizier certain arrears
due to the company, and urged upon him a
more just administration of law in his domi-
nions, and a system less oppressive to his
people, pointing out, that from the contiguity
of the territories, and the peculiar relations of
the nabob and the company, oppression and
injustice in Oude would endanger the security
of that provinee, and thereby the territory of
Bengal. 1In 1788 a treaty of commerce with
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the vizier was effected on principles which
both governments regarded as equitable and
advantageous,

In 1788 Lord Cornwallis directed the at-
tention of the company to the conduet and
disposition of Tippoo, declaring that in case
of & war in Europe between England and
Trance, the latter power would be sure to
ally itself with Tippoo, and as a consequence
the Carnatie would once more be the theatre
of a desperate and dangerous struggle. The
Earl of Cornwallis felt convinced that a war
between England and France was imminent,
and his lordship knew that the intense desire
of France to found an oriental empire was
not diminished by former disappointment,
disaster, and defeat. His lovdship, on these
grounds, intimated to the directors his pur-
pose of watching Tippoo with unremitting
vigilance. The governor-general was much
engaged during the latter part of 1788, in
negotiations with the nizam (or soubahdar) of
the Deccan. Territory belonging to the
English by treaty, was surrendered by his
highness, and dubfous passages in existing
treaties settled and defined.

In July, 1789, an understanding was come
to between the governor-general and the
nizam, that a British contingent should be at
the service of his highness, on condition that
it should not be employed againgt any native
state with which the company was at peace.

In 1788 Tippoo, aware that he was an
object of jealousy and suspicion to the En-
glish, became peevish and affrontful to their
agents. He also acted in an aggressive way
towards the rajahs of Tanjore and Travan-
core, He advanced towards the Malabar
coast in a manner most menacing to the
Travancore rajah, and instigated the Rajah
of Cochin to elaim the ground upon which
“the lines of Travancore " were built. The
Rajah of Travancore addressed a requisition
for troops to the commander-in-chief of the
British forces of Madras, upon hearing which,
Tippoo retired npon Seringapatam. It was
clear that the period rapidly approached when
Tippoo and the English must try their vela-
tive strength once more upon the field
of Dattle. Before, however, the trumpet of
war summoned him to the scenes of strife,
Farl Cornwallis had opportunity to devote
his time to the adjustment of the “permanent
gettlement,” in conjunction with the cele-
brated Mr. Shore, afterwards Tord Teign-
mouth, The measures of these two eminent
persons required a number of years to ma-
tare. The arrangements for civil judicature,
magistracy, and police, which ultimately gave
an historical interest to the administration of

Lord Cornwallis were discussed by him, and
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the foundation laid for their execution in the
interval of peace, which took place between
the first symptoms of a renewed struggle on
the part of Tippoo, and the bursting forth of
the impetuous torrent of his hostility.

The hour at length arrived when war with
Tippoo must be proclaimed, however reluc-
tant the governor-general to proceed to ex-
tremities, however desperate the state of
Indian finance, and notwithstanding the
peaceful resolutions of the English parlia-
ment in 1784, in reference to Indian affaivs,
and the consequent instructions to Earl Corn-
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wallis to avoid by all means complications
which would lead to war.

The precise circumstances out of which the
war arvose are sufficiently set forth in the
formal demands of Tippoo upon the Rajah
of Travancore, and the reply of the rajah.
The demands, however, were only pretexts
on the part of Tippoo to cover designs of ag-
grandizement. He set up pretensions for the
sake of blinding the English government as
to his real wishes, In this he succeeded, so
far as the Madras government was concerned,
which recognised the justness of Tippoo’s de-
mands, without any investigation of the merits
of the case. The supreme council, however,
certified themselves of all the particulars, pro-
nounced the demands of Tippoo unjust, and
his allegations false. All the native states in
Southern India took the same view. The
supreme government also pronounced heavy
censure upon the want of intelligence and the
pusillanimity, indolence, and neglect of duty
on the part of the Madras government, seve-
ral of the members of which it was necessary
to displace :—* Towards the end of October,
1789, the army of Tippoo was Imown to be
encamped in the neighbourhood of Palgaut;
and the rajah was confirmed in his expecta-
tion of an attack. On the 14th of December,
Tippoo arrived at a place about twenty-five
miles distant from the boundary of Travan-
core, and the ravages of his eavalry were car-
ried within a mile of the wall. On the fol-
lowing day a vakel, a sort of character in
which the capacities of a messenger and ne-
gotiator were compounded, arrived from the
camp of the sultan, bearing a letter to the
rajah. It contained the annunciation of Tip-
poo's demands : that, as the rajah had given
protection within his dominions to certain
rajahs, and other refractory subjects of the
Mysore government, he should deliver them
up, and in future abstain from similar offences.
2, That as the Dutch had sold to him that
which was not theirs to sell, he should with-
draw his troops from Cranganore. 3. That he
should demolish that part of his lines which
crogsed the territory of Cochin, because it be-
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longed to the kingdom of Mysore. The rajah
replied : 1. That the rajahs of whose protec-
tion the sultan complained had obtained an
asylum in his country, becanse they were his
relations, at the distance of many years; that
no objection to their residence had ever been
taken before; that to prove his amicable dis-
position, they should nevertheless be removed ;
and that no refractory subject of the Mysore
government had ever, with his knowledge,
been harboured in Travancore. 2. That the
fort and territory which he had purchased
from the Dutch belonged to the Dutch, and
was in no rvespect the property of the depen-
dent of Tippoo. 8. That the ground on which
he had erected his lines was ceded to him in
full sovereignty by the Rajah of Cochin be-
fore that rajah became tributary to the so-
vereign of Mysore; and that the lines, exist-
ing at the time when he was included in the
late treaty between the English and the sultan,
were sanctioned by the silence of that im-
portant deed.”# 3

The events which immediately followed are
summed up with precision, and with admirable
condensation by Mill :—* On the 24th of De-
cember Tippoo encamped at not more than
four miles’ distance from the lines; began to
erect batteries on the 25th ; early in the morn-
ing of the 29th turned by surprise the right

flank of the lines, where no passage was sup-
posed to exist; and introduced a portion of
his army within the wall. Before he could
reach the gate which he intended to open,
and at which he expected to admit the rest
of his army, his troops were thrown into con-
fusion by some slight resistance, and fled in
disorder, with a heavy slaughter, across the
ditch. Tippoo himself was present at the
attack, aund, not without personal danger,
made his escape.

“ Intelligence of these events was received
by the supreme government from Madras on
the 26th of January; and on the morrow in-
structions were despatched to that presidency.
Tho governor-general expressed his expecta-
tion that the Madras rulers had considered
Tippoo as at war, from the first moment
when they heard of the attack; that they had
diligently executed the measures which he
had formerly preseribed; and in particular,
that all payments to the nabob’s creditors,
and all disbursements on the score of invest-
ment, had immediately ceased. He added,
that his intention was. to employ all the
resources which were within his reach ‘to
exact a full reparation from Tippoo for this
wanton and unprovoked violation of treaty.””

The efforts of the governor-general to form
especial alliances with the Mahrattas and with

# Mill ; Thornton ; Auber,
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the Nizam of the Deccan became at once
urgent. The Mahrattas were so powerful
that it became absolutely necessary to engage
them on the side of the English. A junction
between the Mahratta states and Tippoo
would have compelled the nizam (as the
Soubahdar of the Deccan had become univer-
sally styled), to join the confederacy. With
any amount of French aid, there could be but
little hope of the English company, in the
low state of its finance, being able to hold its
own, The first serions victories gained by
such an alliance wounld cause all the native
states in India to make common cause against
the British. The Mahrattas had been hu-
miliated so recently by Tippoo in the field—
such fanatical outrages in the name of Mo-
hammed had been perpetrated upon Mahratta
tribes by the orders, or direct cruelty of Tip-
poo, and so great had become his power, that
the Poonah government was willing to pledge
the Peishwa to alliance with the English.
The nizam’s wishes lay in the same direction;
but he feared, such robbers were the Mah-
rattas, that they would invade his territory as
soon as it was denuded of troops in the com-
mon cause. This delayed all action on the
part of the government of Hyderabad. The
nizam was willing to march at once against
Tippoo, if Lord Cornwallis would guarantee
his territory against Mahratta invasion. His
lordship dared not do that, from fear of of-
fending the power against whom the guaran-
tee was demanded. His lordship’s diplomacy
was surrounded by diffienlt and delicate con-
ditions, and rare courage and address were
required to bring out the company’s “raj”
safe through elements so conflicting.

The noble earl at the head of the govern-
ment succeeded in accomplishing all that was
necessary in the relations which he established
with these rival powers, When the tidings
of his measures reached England, the court of
directors passed resolutions of satisfaction, The
house of commons, having demanded explana-
tions from the board of control, and manifested
generally displeasure that war under any cir-
cumstances should break out with Tippoo, re-
ceived with satisfaction the answers given by
the president of the board of control, and ex-
pressed their approbation by a vote on the 2nd
of March, 1791, in the following terms :—

“Resolved, That it appears to this house
that the treaties entered into with the nizam
on the 1st of June, and with the Mahrattas
on the Tth of July, are wisely caleulated to
add vigour to the operations of war, and to
promote the futanre tranquillity of India, and
that the faith of the British nation is pledged
to the due performance of engagements con-
tained in the said treaties,”
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A considerable party in parliament which
did not objeet to the freaties, as contin-
gent upon a war necessary and unavoidable,
were of opinion that the war with Tippoo
could have been averted, and wished to press
parliament to a declaration to that effect.
These movements arose from party opposition
to the board of control, as a branch of the
general government, on the part of some, and
from jealousy of the East India Company,
which always to a considerable extent existed
in the commons. The result of the discus-
sions which ensued were the following decla-
rations :— . ;

“ Resolved, That it appears to this house,
that the attacks made by Tippoo Sultan on
the lines of T'ravancore on the 29th Decem-
ber, 1789, 6th March, and 15th April, 1790,
were unwarranted and unprovoked infractions
of the treaty entered into at Mangalore on
the 10th March, 1784.”

“ Resolved, That it appears to this house,
that the conduct of the Governor-general of
Bengal, in determining to prosecute with
vigour the war against Tippoo Sultan, in
consequence of the attack on the territories
of the Rajah of ''ravancore, was highly me-
ritorions.”

The governments of Madras and Bombay,
which were most immediately concerned, were

utterly unprepared for war. The council of
Madras was full of apprehension, ready to
submit to any terms Tippoo might dictate.
Had it not been for the firm intervention of
the supreme government, the honour and in-
terests of the company would have been irre-
deemably compromised,

Sir Thomas Munro* thus noticed the help-
lessness of the Madras government, the feeble-
ness of its measures, and the impolicy of the
unpreparedness for war in which the presi-
dencies most concerned then were. Sir
Thomas wrote from Awmboor in Jannary,
1790 :—*“ A second attack is daily expected,
and if the king is left alone, all his exertions
against a force so superior can delay but for
a very short time his ruin. The English
battalions were behind the lines, but not at
the place attacked : and it is said they have
orders not to act, even on the defensive. If
such be the case, the rajah ought to dismiss
them with scorn. The distinction made be-
tween recent acquisitions and ancient territory
appears to be a subterfuge of government to
cloak their dread of war under a pretended
love of peace, for Cranganore was a fair pur-
chase of the Dutch from the Rajah of Cochin,
subject to an annual tribute of thirty-five
rupees. Before we can assemble an army to
face the enemy, Tippoo may be in possession

* Not to be confounded with Sir Heetor Monro,
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of Travancore. We have derived but little
benefit from experience and misfortune. The
year 1790 sees us as little prepared as that of
1780, and before the war. We shall com-
mence the war under the disadvantage of a
want of magazines, The distresses and dif-
ficulties which we then encountered from
them, has not cured us of the narrow policy
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of preferring a small present saving to a
cerlain, though future, great and essential ad-
vantage."*

Upon this letter, as illustrated by the events
which followed, M. Auber thus remarks :—
“Fvery word of this letter was almost pro-
phetic.  In the following spring Tippoo ef-
fected his objects. He subdued Travancore,
laid waste the country, and took the fortresses
of Cranganore and Jaycottah, possessing him-
self of all the mnorthern portions of the pro-
vince of Travancore. The conduct of the
Madras government, during these proceedings,
excited the strongest indignation in the mind
of Lord Cornwallis. His lordship reprobated
the supineness which they had manifested in
making preparations to support the rajah, and
adverting to the general state of the com-
pany's affairs on the coast, determined to take
temporary charge of the government of Fort
St. George, but relinquished his intentions on
learning that Gieneral Meadows had been ap-
pointed to succeed Mr. Holland as governor.”

General Meadows arrived on the 20th of
February, 1790, and on March 3lst, wrate
the following despateh to the directors :—
“I found things in that state of confusion
that is generally attendant on a change of
systems. Whether a civil or a military go-
vernor is best, I shall not take upon me to
determine ; but either is certainly better, T
conceive, than neither or both. We have a
loug arrear both from and to us, His high-
ness the nabob is so backyward in his payments,
so oppressive to his polygars, that at this time
it is so necessary to have on our side, that I
conceive it will be absolutely necessary, upon
his first material delay of payment, to take
the management of his country into your own
hands : a measure, in spite of the opposition
to it, so advantageous to you, the country,
and even to his highness himself, when so
wisely projected and ably executed by Lord
Macartney. I came here at a most critical
period, with many things of importance to
decide upon in a less time than many prudent
people would have thought necessary to de-
cide upon one : but the approaching war with
V'ippoo was one of the most important. I
lieard and read all upon the subject a short
time would allow of, and then adopted the
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I thought the best, and which, from ecirenm-
stances, it was very probable he would have
to execute himself; for, in the present situation
of the government, it is impossible I would
leave it. I conceive the expense will be six
laecs of pagodas a month, and can conceive
anything but how or where we shall get the
money, even stopping investments, &ee. How-
ever unfortunate a war is, it should be made
if possible short, brilliant, and decisive.”

The suspension of the inefficient members
of council, and the appointment of others in
whom Lord Cornwallis and General Meadows
had confidence, enabled the general before
his despateh was sent away, to express his
intention of leaving the government in the
hands of the newly constituted council while
he took the field against the enemy.

These letters of Sir Thomas Munro and
General Meadows will make sufficiently clear
to the reader the state of the English at Ma-
dras on the eve of the conflict in which they
were once more destined to be conquerors.

The despatch of General Meadows gave
great satisfaction to the directors, who enter-
tained the highest confidence in the good
sense and manly judgment of the general, as
they also did in the statesmanlike qualities of
Earl Cornwallis.

The war with Tippoo must oceupy a sepa-
rate chapter. It isin this only necessary to
relate, that the preparations for bringing the
Mysorean chief to subjection were on a large
scale as ecompared with those attending other
Indian wars. General Meadows placed him-
gelf at the head of fifteen thousand men,
assembled in the Carnatic, His plan of ope-
rations was to march to Coimbatore, and
afterwards to enter Mysore, while the Mah-
rattas and the army of the Deccan operated
upon the north of the Mysorean territory.
Greneral Abercromby, at the head of eight
thousand men, was concentrated upon the

plan laid down by Colonel Musgrave, which
* Private letters. .

Bombay frontier to invade the possessions of
Tippoo in the Ghauts. The council of
Madras delegated to General Meadows, as
governor of that presidency and commander-
in-chief of its armies, the power of directing
and conducting the war, and authority to
make treaties or stipulations with the poly-
gars of the Carnatic, who upon Tippoo's
frontier were disposed to join him, and such
as upon the Travancore borders were at least
hostile to the rajah. It was supposed that
the nairs, especially certain of that order sub-
ject to Tippoo, could be induced to render
the British an effectual support, and the go-
vernor had full anthority conceded to him to
enter into agreements with them.

The general joined his army on the Tth of
May. “The centre army,” as the despatches
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call a force under Colonel Kelly, was ordered | of the commander just named. At that time

to take the field in July, to preserve the
Carnatic itself from marauding and desultory
incursions of the irregular Mysorean cavalry.
In Oectober, the command of this force de-
volved upon Colonel Maxwell, on the death

the arrears of revenue to meet the expenses
of the war, amounted to twenty-two lacs of
pagodas, Such were the preliminaries of
another great war with a great native power
in India.

CHAPTER XCIIL

WAR WITH TIPPOO SULTAN—SUCCESSES OF

COLONEL STUART—INVASION OF MYSORE—

REVERSES OF THE BRITISH—INVASION OF THE CARNATIC BY THE SULTAN—SUC-
CESSES OF THE BOMBAY ARMY ON THE COAST OF MALABAR—ATLARM AT MADRAS
AND CALCUTTA—ARRIVAL OF EARL CORNWALLIS AT MADRAS. .

Tae importance, political and military, of |

not permitting Travancore to fall under the
dominion of Tippoo, must be obvious to the
reader who studies its situation on the map of
India, and observes its relative position to
the territories then held by the Sultan of
Mysore, and by the East India Company :—
“The territory of the Rajah of Travancore
commences near the island of Vipeen, at the
mouth of the Chinnamangalum river, about
twenty miles to the north of Cochin, From
this point it extends to the southern extremity
of India, bounded on the west by the sea,
and on the east by the celebrated chain of
mountains which terminate near the southern
cape. The situation of this prince made a
connection between him and the Hnglish of
importance to both : he was placed at so great
a distance that he had little to apprehend
from the encroachments of the company;
his country, which was only separated from
their province of Tinnivelly by the ridge of
mountaing, formed a barrier to the invasion
of an enemy into that provinece, and through
that province into the Carnatic itself; the
gsupport of the company was necessary to
preserve the rajah against the designs of
such powerful and rapacious neighbours as
Hyder Ali and his son; the productiveness
of his dominions enabled him to contribute
considerably to the military resources of the
English; and, in the last war with Hyder,
his co-operation had been sufficiently exten-
sive to entitle him to be inserted in the

treaty with Tippoo under the character of an
ally, The descent of Tippoo, with an army,
into the western country, filled the rajah
with apprehensions. He was the only prey
on that side of the Ghauts, opposite the do-
minions of Tippoo, which remained unde-
voured; and the only obstruction to the
extension of his dominions from the Mahratta
frontier to Cape Comorin—an extension
attended with the highly-coveted advantage
of placing him in contact with Tinnivelly, the

most distant and most defenceless part of the
English possessions in Coromandel.”*

The importance of the territory thus de-
geribéd, and the dangerous policy of Tippoo,
having determined the Inglish to make war,
it was at once energetically prosecuted. Lord
Cornwallis relied much upon his native allies,
The Mahrattas had already proved themselves
formidable enemies even against English
armies, and the Nizam of the Deccan possessed
numerous troops, and, as the representative
of the Mognl, possessed a certain influence over
the religious prejudices of Mussulmen in the
gouth of India, The directors had, however,
with more judgment, than their servants in
India displayed when courting connection
with the government of “the soubah” (as
they were accustomed to ecall the nizam or
goubahdar), prononuneed the army of his high-
ness a worthless rabble, and expressed asto-
nishment that any relianice should be placed
upon his troops. Yet it was well that the
Mohammedan influence of the nizam should
be on the side of the English, as Tippoo ap-
pealed to the fanaticism of the Mchammedans
of Southern India in language naturally
calculated to inflame it.f Ie gave himself
out to be a descendant of Mohammed, as di-
vinely inspired to restore the religion of that
prophet, by destroying or proselyting all
heathens and infidels. He was fired with
the emulation of the great Savacen conquerors,
who by the sword and the koran desired to
subjugate all men. His seal had inseribed in
Arabicupon its centre. “T am the messenger
of the true faith.”” Round the seal in Persian
verge was inseribed :—

“Trom conquest, and the protection of the Royal

Hyder, comes my title of Sultan; and the world, as nnder
the Sun and Moon, is subject to my signet.”

Tippoo was the first Mohammedan prince

* Mill
4 Maleolm’s: Polilical History of India. Penhoen's
Einpire Anglais, vol. iv. p. 54,
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in India who formally and openly diselaimed
the authority of the great Mogul; and who
impressed coin with his own effigy and titles.*
This was the more singular as he was a fana-
tic of Islam, and the Mogul was the Padishaw
of all true believers within the bounds of
India. Tippoo probably reconciled the in-
consistency, by his claim of descent from the
prophet, and inspiration from God. Hyder
Ali had certainly set his son an example of
non-allegiance to the sceptre of Delhi; but
the independence of the father, although real
was not ostensible, and although avowed was
never declared formally. Tt was fortunate
that the English army, both of the company
and of the ecrown, at that period serving in

India, was in an excellent condition, and in

some degree prepared to cope with emergen-

cies.

The following representation of the state of
the British troops by an officer well acquainted
with the higtory of the period is correct :—
“There were in India, in 1788, & regiment
of British dragoons, nine regiments of British,
and two of Hanoverien infantry, in all about
eight thousand European troops, in addition
to the company’s establishments. Several of
the first officers in the British service were

- in command in that country; and a system
was established, which, by joining the powers
of governor to those of commander-in-chief,
united every advantage which could give effi-
cacy to the operations of war. The discipline,
which bad lately been ordered by the king
for establishing uniformity in his army, was
now equally practised by his majesty’s and
the company’s forces in India, The field
equipment was refitted and enlarged at the
several presidencies; and every preparation
made to act with the promptitude and effect
which unforeseen exigencies might require.

Public credit, increasing with the security
afforded to the eountry, and also in conse-
quence of like able arrangements in the con
duet of the civil line of the government, the
company's funds rose daily in their value;
and their affairs, as stated to parliament, by
the minister at the head of the India depart-
ment, were not only retrieved from supposed
ruin, but soon appeared to be in a state of
decided and increasing prosperity.”{ :

In an army thus constituted and uniform,
the commanders might well have confidence
even against the well-trained and numerous
hosts of the Sultan of Mysore. Atno previous
period had the company such a military force.
FFor the first time the royal troops and those

* Major Rennell’s Memoir of' Tippoo Sakib, p. T1.

T Narrative of the Campaign in India, whick ter-
minated the War with Tippoo Sultan in 1792. By
Major Diromn, deputy-adjutant-general of his msjesty’s
forces in India, London, 1793.
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of the company met in mutnal good feeling
and respect. Much of this resulted from the
regulations which had been made a short
time before, both in parliament and in the
court of directors; much more, however, de-
pended upon the impartiality and justice of
Lord Cornwallis, who dealt equally by all,
whether royal or company’s soldiers, exclud-
ing all sinister influences, ignoring cliques
at Caleutta, and simply doing what in his
judgment was best for the army and the go-
vernment, Lord Macaulay well observes, in
reference to a very different man, “No man
is fit to govern great societies who hesitates
about disobliging the few who have access to
him, for the sake of the many whom he willnever
see.” Lord Cornwallis had this quality for go-
verning great societies, as well as many other
rare gifts. The neglect previously permitted to
prevail in preserving the country in a.proper
state of defence was at last redeemed :—“ The
Carnatic, which had been the seat of the
former, and would probably soon-be the seat
of a future war—at least the scene where our
army must assemble, and the source whence
it must be supplied—required extraordinary
exertion of military arrangement, to prepare
it for the operations of defensive or offensive
war, To protect a weak and extensive fron-
tier; to discipline a detached army; and to
provide resources in a lately desolated coun-
try, fell to the lot of Sir Archibald Campbell.
Skilled in every branch of military science;
with knowledge matured by experience in
various countries and climates ; indefatigable
in all public duties, and endued with a de-
gree of worth and benevolence, which at-
tached to him all ranks in the army, and ex-
cited voluntary exertion in every officer to
second the zeal of his general, he had a task
to perform, which, though great and compli-
cated, was not beyond the reach of such

distinguished talents, Granaries were esta-
blished in the frontier and other stations in
the Carnatic, containing supplies for near.
thirty thousand men for twelve months; and
furnished in such a manner ag to provide
against the exigencies of famine or of war
without incurring additional expense to the
public; a complete train of battering and
field artillery was prepared, surpassing what
had ever been known upon the coast; a store
of camp equipage for twenty thousand men
was provided; the principal forts were re-
paired, and more amply supplied with guns
and stores; the cavalry were with infinite
difficulty completed to their full establishment ;
and @ general uniformity of discipline and
movement was established in the cavalry, in-
fantry, and artillery.”*

* Narrative of the Campaign.
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Authorities differ as to whether Tippoo
was prepared for the bold measures of the
English. Finding, as he did, that the Madras
government was timid and temporising—that
at Bombay they considered the attack upon
the lines of Travancore as not necessarily in-
volving war with the British, he was snr-
prised, it is alleged, when Earl Cornwallis
treated that circumstance as tantamount to a
declaration of hostilities against the East India
Company. Other authorities give Tippoo
credit for the nicest digerimination as to the
characters of those with whom he had to do,
and for having foreseen the course which
things would take, for which he amply pre-
pared himself.

The plan of operations by the army of
Madras was determined by a report of Colo-
nel Fullarton’s, made after the previous war
with Tippoo, The colonel averred that the
most direct route from the Carnatic through
the passes of the Ghauts, or the southern
boundary of Mysore, was practicable. Ge-
neral Meadows resolved accordingly to ascend
the Ghauts, and mareh upon Seringapatam.
This route was more remote from Madras than
that npon the northern boundary, through
the Baramahl. The southern road, however,
lay through a well-watered, grain-producing
country, and where forage and cattle might
be procured. General Meadows fixed his
point of support at Coimbatore, and directed
Colonel Stuart to begin hostile operations by
attacking the forts in the low country before
ascending the Ghauts. These strongholds
could not have been left behind while entering
the enemy's territory, and yet to reduce them
must cause considerable delay, unless a gmall
corps of the army could effect the purpose.

About thirty miles to the west of the basis
of operations chosen by General Meadows,
stood the strong post of Palgaut, which was
considered as a bulwark opposed to an army
advancing against Mysore in that direction.
As Stuart marched to Palgaut, he encountered
the first burst of the monsoon, which striles
that part of the peninsula with unexpended
fury. It smote the British column : the coun-
try was laid under such a deluge as defied
military operations ; while the storm, as if
wielded by the hand of a living foe, swept
away the tents of the campaigners, dispersed
their cattle, and all but utterly disorganized
the forece. Stuart arrived at Palgaut, and
made formal summons for its surrender, which
was all he could do at such a season. He
returned to Coimbatore, and was thence dis-
patched to Dindigul in the south-east, a hun-
dred miles distant from Palgaut. These long
marches wearied the troops excessively, and
many of the baggage animals died en route.
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He goon found that his appliances for redue-
ing Dindigul were insufficient. It was the
custom of the DBritish to neglect the proper
means of reducing strong places, and to rely
on the courage and physical strength of their
men, reckless of the sacrifice of human life
thus incurred. A very imperfect breach was
made by the time that nearly all Stuart’s am-
munition was expended. He stormed this
breach and was repulsed, notwithstanding
the most desperate valour on the part of the
troops. This display of daring intimidated
the enemy notwithstanding their suceess, and
being ignorant that the English were short of
provisions, terms of capitulation were offered,
which, of course, Stuart was glad to accept.
When he arrived again at head-quarters, he
was once more ordered to lay siege to Pal-
gaut. The weather wasnow mild and radiant,
and the earth was cooled by the monsoon;
his army, therefore, made a rapid and health-
ful march against the object of their attack.
Some delay was, however, created by the
large train of heavy artillery which Meadows
ordered to accompany the force, under the
belief that a very considerable resistance would
be offered. Such belief was unfounded. On
the morning of the 21st of September, before
all the batteries were opened, those of the fort
were silenced after a feeble fire. The gar-
rison gurrendered, making only one condition,
that they should be protected from the nairs
in the British service, who were furious against
Hyder for his recent persecutions of them.
While Colonel Stuart was thus occupied,
Greneral Meadows prosecuted with ardour and
address his ascent of the Ghauts. T'he cam-
paign condueted by that general has been
severely criticised, and warmly defended.
Probably the most impartial and clear ac-
count, in a brief compass, is that of an officer
of engineers, and author of a history of British
India— Hugh Murray, Esq. Having de-
seribed the plan of operations by which the
general reached the high table-land of My-
sore, Mr. Murray says :—“ A chain of posts
along the rivers Cavery and Bahvany,
namely, Caroor, Froad, Sattimungul, had
been successively reduced; and the last of
these, commanding the important pass of
Gujelhutty, which opened the way into the
heart of the country, was occupied by Colonel
Floyd, with a force of two thousand men.
By this arrangement the different corps were
very ill-connected together; for General
Meadows at Coimbatore was sixty miles dis-
tant from the division of Floyd, and thirty

from that of Stuart. The second of these
officers pointed out the danger of his situation,
and the intelligence he had received that the
enemy was colleeting a great force to attack
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him; but the commander paid no attention
to this warning, and ordered the detachment
to continue in its present position. The My-
sore cavalry, under Seyed Saheb, had indeed,
in their attack, been very easily repulsed, and
even compelled to retire behind the Ghauts ;
still, this failure of the advanced gunard under
a pusillanimous chief afforded no ground to
judge of what might be expected when the
whole force under the sultan himself should
be brought into action. Early in September
his horsemen were seen in large hodies de-
scending the Ghauts; and as, when crossing
the Bahvany at different points, they endea-
voured to surround the handful of English
and sepoys, the latter soon felt themselves in
a very critical situation. They nevertheless
made a gallant defence, and the enemy, having
entangled their columns in the thick enclo-
sures which surrounded the British position,
were charged very effectually with the bayonet,
and several squadrons entirely cut off. The
Mysoreans, however, still advanced with in-
creasing numbers, and opened a battery, which
did great execution among the native soldiers;
yet these mercenaries stood their ground with
great bravery, saying—‘ We have eaten the
company’s salt; our lives are at their dis-
posal” They accordingly maintained their
position, and Tippoo thought proper to with-
draw during the night to the distance of
several miles : but the casnalties had been so
very severe, and the post proved =o un-
tenable, that Colonel Floyd -considered it
necessary in the morning to commence his
retreat, leaving on the field three dismounted
guns, The sultan, at the same time, having
mustered his forces, began the pursuit with
about fifteen thousand men, and after mid-
day overtook the English as they retired in
single column. The latter, repeatedly obliged
to halt and form in order of battle, repulsed
several charges ; yet, as soon as they resumed
their march, the Indians hovered round them
on all sides. They were compelled to aban-
don three additional guns, and their situation
was becoming more and more critical, when
some cavalry being seen on the road from
Coimbatore, the cry arose that General Mea-
dows was coming to their aid, This report,
being favoured by the commander, was echoed
with such confidence through the ranks, that
though Tippoo had good information as to
the real fact, he was deceived, and withdrew
his cavalry, Colonel Floyd was thus enabled
to prosecute his retreat towards the main
army, which had already marched to meet
him, but by a wrong road ; so that the two
divisions found much difficulty, and suffered
many hardships, before they could rejoin
each other, The English, in the course of
VoL, IT,
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these untoward events, had lost above four
hundred in killed and wounded ; their plans
for the campaign had been deranged; the
stores and magazines formed on the proposed
line of march lay open to the enemy, and
were therefore to be removed with all speed.
General Meadows, notwithstanding, resumed
offensive operations, and had nearly come in
contact with the army of the sultan; but this
ruler, by a series of manceuvres, evaded both
him and Colonel Maxwell, then stationed at
Barmahl, and by a rapid march descended
into the Joromandel territory.”

Tippoo menaced Trichinopoly, but being
desirous to make a wide circuit of devastation
in a short time, he wheeled to the north, and
ravaged the Carnatic. His mode of proce-
dure was similar to that of his father, when
the latter marched to Madras, but either being
poorer or more politic, instead of wasting all
in his course by fire, as Hyder did in a large
portion of his progress, levied “black mail,”
and so successfully, that he realized a con-
siderable augmentation of his stores and trea-
sury. The opposition which he met was
nearly as slight as that which his predecessor
experienced, when English power was less,
and the Madras presidency not so capable of
resisting an invasion. Tippoo approached
Pondicherry, and negotiated with the French;
but their orders from home at that time were
peremptory, to come to no terms with him
hostile to the English. 'This disheartened
"Mippoo, who had already encountered a despe-
rate resistance at Thiagar, from a British officer
of talent named Captain Flint, the same who
in the previous war had met him with such
gallant warfare at Wandiwash.

General Meadows, who in single actions
fought with skill, and was industrious and
brave, was not equal to the complicated
movements of a campaign on so wide a
theatre, and in so difficult a country. He
was in fact out-generalled by Tippoo, and
was at this juncture reduced to great straits.
Neither his courage nor activity failed him,
but he still talked of offensive operations
when he was not able, with the force left
at hiz command after disasters so numerous
and so recent, to defend the Carnatic.

The campaign against Tippoo had proved
unsuccessful, The British were compelled to
resign their footing in the territory of the
sultan, while he, descending from his high-
lands, negotiated with their rivals under the
walls of Pondicherry, reduced the English
garrisons of the Carnatic, and caused alarm
ot Madras itself, Meadows had still a fine
body of men under his command, but they
were not concentrated, were not strategl-

cally well situated, and were, numerically, so
y 3K
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inferior to the forces of Tippoo, that their
very existence was in jeopardy.

During the progress of these events Gene-
ral Abercromby, at the head of the Bombay
army, effected too little to influence the re-
sults of the campaign. When Tippoo was
before Pondicherry, engaging a Frenchman
to go on a mission to the court of Louis XVI.
for troops, whom he was ready liberally
to subsidize, Abercromby was busy on the
coast of Malabar. His activity there was of
importance to the second campaign, so soon
about to commence, but was not effectual
either in relieving Meadows, retrieving his
reverses, or preventing the descent of Tippoo
upon the coast of Coromandel.

On the 14th of December Abercromby
took Cannanore. His previous delays enabled
him to put his army in fine condition, so that
the whole coast of Malabar was swept by his
troops, every fort and place of arms belonging
to the enemy surrendering at diseretion, while
Tippoo was equally triumphant on the eastern
shores of the peninsula. The victories of
Abereromby were not so influential upon the
war as those of Tippoo, The Malabar coast
Wwas not so important a theatre of action as that
of Coromandel.

When tidings of these things reached
Caleutta, the supreme council and the go-
vernor-general were much alarmed. Karl
Cornwallis still entertained the highest re-
spect for the gallant Meadows, and for his
capacity on a limited sphere of action, or as
second 1n command ; but he did not feel jus-
tified in any longer entrusting the military
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| conduct of the war to him, The tidings of

oceurrences on the Malabar coast did not reach
Calentta until a considerable time after the
desperate state of the Carnatic was known
there, Lord Cornwallis feared that under the
inflnence of the reverses which had befallen
the British, the nizam, or the Mahrattas,
perhaps both, might make separate peace, and
abandon the alliance. No confidence could
be placed in their professions at the outset of
the war; and as no prospect seemed to exist
of the conquest and dismemberment of the
country of Tippoo, it was not unlikely that
they would not only give up their English
ally, but join the sultan in his invasion of the
English territory.,

As early as the 20th of January, 1791,
Lord Cornwallis arrived at Madras with six
battalions of Bengal infantry, under Colonel
Campbell, and a large supply of ammunition
and military stores, with heavy guns. He
immediately assumed the command of the
Madras army, and lost no time in preparing
everything for a new campaign, After con-
sultation with the Madras council and his
officers, he resolved upon a plan of campaign
different from the former, except in the main
purpose of somewhere ascending the Ghauts
with the chief force at his disposal, and carry-
ing the war into the Mysorean country, He
ordered General Meadows to join him, and so
energetic and prompt was his lordship’s con-
duct of affairs, that within a week after he
landed in Madras, he took the field. The
second campaign will form the gubject of a
separate chapter.

CHAPTER XC(CIV,

SECOND CAMPAIGN AGAINST TIPPOO SULTAN—LORD CORNWALLIS ASSUMES THE COMMAND
OF THE ARMY—HE ENTERS MYSORE—FORCES THE LINES OF SERINGAPATAM—LAYS
SIEGE TO THE CITY AND FORTRESS—IS OBLIGED TO RAISE THE SIEGE—GENERAL
ABERCROMBY COMPELLED TO RETIRE-—SUFFERINGS OF LORD CORNWALLIS'S ARMY.

Tae policy of Tippoo towards the English
was supposed by the governor-general to de-
pend upon the aid which he received from
the French. Tt was presumed by the British
commander that, at all events, Tippoo’s
mode of conducting the war wounld depend
upon the prospect of the co-operation of a
French force in the Carnatic. The sultan
was determined, with or without the French,
to sustain a war, in which he had been so far
successful; for he believed that the defensive
power of Mysore was such as to baffle all the
efforts and sacrifices which the East India
Company could make to conguer it, while its

geographical position and character were such
as would enable an energetic sultan, with
military talent, at any time to invade and
plunder the low-lying lands of the English on
the Malabar and Coromandel coasts. He be-
lieved that a very moderate amount of French
aid in officers and men, especially in the
engineer department, would enable him to
conquer Madras, which he felt confident would
be followed the next season by the conquest
of Bombay. The sultan even boasted, that
with ten thousand auxiliary French he would
march across the country, and burn or retain
Calcutta,
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The first purpose of the general was to
elude Tippoo, leaving him in the Carnatic to
do his worst there, and ascend the Ghauts
before the sultan could either intercept him
or perceive his plan. For this end his
lordship marched to Vellore, and made as
though pressing for Amboor, en route to the
passes nearest and opposite to Madras.
Tippoo, astonished and alarmed by tidings to
this eﬂ'el;f: which the English took care to
have conveyed to him, disposed his resources
to prevent the accomplishment of what he
presumed must be the intention of the British
chief. Had Lord Cornwallis purposed to
adopt that plan, the rapidity of his movements,
and the suddenness of his departure from
Madras, would probably have enabled him to
do so in spite of Tippoo; but in that case
the sultan would have hung upon his rear,
and he would have been embarrassed in his
march, Tippoo was very unwilling to leave
the vicinity of Pondicherry, until he had
secured the co-operation of the French, and
was thus led to make delay which he tas
unable afterwards to redeem. He was also
less prompt to move, becanse he had a large
force of light cavalry, in which he knew the
English were deficient, and he concluded
that he could easily outmarch them, and in-
tercept them at & moment sufficiently oppor-
tune to prevent their marching through the
passes, towards which he supposed they would
proceed from Amboor. The English com-
mander, however; by a sudden detour to the
right, and marching with great celerity for
four days, came upon the northern pass of
Moogler. There a body of the enemy was
posted as a guard, but they were withont
any suspicion that an English force was near
them, and were surprised, many were slain or
captured, and the remnant were routed. By
another rapid march of four days, the English
general placed his army on the high plains of
Mysore. The suddenness of his appearance
there struck terror to the foe, DMessengers
arrived at the head-quarters of the gultan,
informing him of these feats of generalship,
which filled him with greater consternation
than even the presence of an English army in
the centre of his patrimonial territory.

Tippoo, leaving all his conquests in the
(larnatic, harried with so much rapidity as to
throw his army into disorder, and ascended
the Ghauts by the passes of Changana, and
Policode. He seemed bewildered, acting on
no plan, his rapidity was that of panic, not of
generalship. Notwithstanding his celerity
of ‘march, he expended time on matters of
inferior motive, and personally attended to
the removal of his harem from Bangalore,
when he ought, at the head of his army, to
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have hung upon the flanks of his invading
enemy. The English laid siege to the for-
tress of Bangalore on the 5th March. Thus,
in one month, by marches and mancauvres
worthy of a general, Tippoo was obliged to
evacuate the Carnatie, his country, guarded
so strongly by nature, was penetrated without
resistance, and a powerful British force sat
down before the second city in his dominions,

The English began their operations against
the place with the utmost vigour, but various
misadventures on the part of Lord Cornwallis’s
officers against the army of Tippoo, which
harassed the English flanks, cansed serious
loss in men, and very great loss of horses,
many of which were captured or stabbed by
the irregular troops attending the sultan’s
army :—*“ Another enterprise, whieh proved
gomewhat hazardous, was the carrying of the
fortified town of Bangalore, a place of very
considerable extent and importance. It was
gurrounded with an indifferent wall, but the
ditch was good, and the gate was covered by
a very close thicket of Indian thorns. The
attack was made, too, without any due know-
ledge of the ground; and the soldiers, both
in advancing and in endeavouring to force an
entrance, were exposed to a destructive fire
from turrets lined with musketry. Colonel
Moorhouse, one of the most accomplished
goldiers in the service, received four wounds,
which proved fatal. At length, when the
gate was almost torn in pieces, Lieutenant
Ayre, a man of diminutive stature, forced his
way through it, and Meadows, who preserved
an inspiring gaiety in the midst of battle,
called out, * Well done ! now, whiskers, try if
you can follow and support the little gentle-
man!  On this animating call, the troops
dashed into the town; though its great ex-
tent rendered the occupation difficult. Tippoo
likewise threw in a strong corps, which re-

newed the contest, opening a heavy fire with
gmall arms; but when the English betook
themselves to the bayonet, they drove the
enemy with irresistible fury through the
streets and lanes, and soon compelled them
to evacuate the pettah. Our loss, however,
amounted to one hundred and thirty-one.”
The fortress was breached-on the Zlst.
Tt was not in a condition to be stormed, but
the energy of Tippoo seemed to have re-
turned, and he was making such prodigious
exertions for the relief of the place, that it
was deemed necessary, even at a great sacri-
fice, to capture the stronghold as speedily as
possible. The commander-in-chief, after con-
sulting with his officers, ordered the assault to
be made that night. This was good general-
ship. The enemy had no expectation that
the night following the day on which an im-
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perfect breach appeared, an assault would be
attempted ; not a man in the fortress en-
tertained such an: idea. The night was
bright with all the beautiful clearness of
tropical moonlight, so that the breach could
be distinctly seen from the lines, and the
dusky sentinels of the sultan pacing to and
fro on the battlements. The signal for attack
was a whisper along the ranks from the front
of the assaulting column to the rear. They
were ordered then to advance in silence, and
with rapidity. At eleven o'clock the column
advanced, treading lightly along the covered
way, and then emerging with a rush, they
planted the ladders, and the forlorn hope was
within the place before the enemy were
aroused to their danger. The drums of the
sultan beat to arms, the killidar leading his
troops rushed to the post of danger, but the
English had already driven in troops posted
near the breach, and spreading to the right
and left around the wall, penetrated the
place. A fierce hand to hand encounter en-
gued, but the English had learned from their
chief the advantage in war of promptitude
and celerity, and poured in, charging with
the bayonet, and strewing their way with
slaughtered enemies. The governor and the
defenders fought bravely but vainly, the
bayonets of the English like a torrent of
steel swept all before them, and in a very
short time the place was mastered.

Tippoo received the intelligence with
despair, and even with stupor. He had ex-
pected the assault some days later, and was
prepared with a stratagem to raise the siege
at the period when his spies should announce
to him that the storm was to take place.
The suddenness of Lord Cornwallis’s move-
ments perpetually disconcerted his plans, and
rendered useless his superior numbers and
great resources.

The capture of Bangalore strengthened the
governor-general every way, but he did not
find there such supplies of provisions and
forage as the exigencies of his army required,
and the deficiency of his supplies of this nature
from all sources now became serious. Instead
of advancing upon Seringapatam, the sultan’s
capital, he was obliged to proceed northward
on a gigantic foraging expedition, and also in
the hope that the rear-guard of what the
nizam called his army might arrive, which, as
it was sure to plunder the country in its
course, would be well supplied, and part freely
with those supplies for money. Ten thousand
horse made their appearance, as was expected.
The astonishment and disappointment of the
English general could not be suppressed
when he beheld this force. Unacquainted
with Indian warfare, and with the natives of
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Southern India, his exeellency had formed no
conception of the sight which now met his
eyes. Wilks, the historian of the Mahrattas,
amusingly deseribes them thus :—“ 1Tt is pro-
bable that no national or private collection of
ancient armour in Europe contains any arms
or articles of personal equipment which might
not be traced in this motley crowd. The
Parthian bow and arrow, the iron club of
Scythia, sabres of every age and nation, lances
of every length and description, matehlocks of
every form, and metallic helmets of every
pattern. The total absence of every symptom
of order and obedience, excepting groups col-
lected round their respective flags, every indi-
vidual an independent warrior, self-impelled,
affecting to be the champion whose single
arm was to achieve wvictory.” These wild
heroeshad neither provender nor provisions.
The governor-general ordered them to relieve
the harassed light horsemen of his army on
the outposts, but they took no notice of the
duties imposed on them, and engaged them-
selves altogether in plundering the enemy,
when on outpost duty, and stealing from their
allies when in camp.

The condition of the English now became
truly alarming. Tippoo had laid waste the
counfry. No supplies could be obtained.
The governor-general determined to advance
upon the capital, and by one bold stroke, if
possible, frustrate his enemy and end the war.
He had no carriage, and from this eircum-
stance the march assumed a singular aspect.
The troops, officers, and men, suttlers, fol-
lowers, women, and even children, carried the
ammunition. Swarms of camp followers,
and nairs, each carrying a cannon-ball, exhi-
bited an aspect of earnestness and oddity such
as no army before probably ever displayed.
“The British army marched over the barren
heights above the valley of Millgotah, and
there commanded a view of the mighty fortress
of Seringapatam,—the nest of hewn stone, for-
midable even in the eyes of the British soldier,
where Tippoo had brooded over his ambitious
designs, and indulged his dreams of hatred in
visionary triumphs over the strangers who
had so lately imposed a yoke on Asia, Nature
and art combined to render its defences
strong. An immense extended ecamp withont
the walls, held the flower of the sultan’s
troope.”*

Tippoo prepared to abandon his eapital, or
at all events, to remove his treasures and his
harem to Chittledroog, a place built upon a
towering rock supposed to be impregnable.
The mother of the sultan, and some of his
wives, upbraided him for his want of spirit,

* History of British Conquests in India,vol.i. p.1835.
By Horace St, John,
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reminded him that such a movement would
alarm his people, and with stinging reproaches
urged him for once to give battle to the Eng-
lish upon the open field, and by his resolution
and numbers overwhelm them., He selected
a position with good military judgment, and
prepared to oceupy it with obstinacy. Drawing
up his fine army on a range of heights
above the Cavery, upon an island in which
Seringapatam stood, he thus placed himself
between his capital and his hitherto conquer-
ing enemy, and dared the issue. Lord Corn-
wallis made a skilful movement against the
left flank of his opponent. Tippoo threw up
redoubts on preecipitous hills, which covered
that part of his position, and as his army was
numerous, he could spare men to occupy all
those outposts in strength. The guns of the
sultan commanded in every direction the
approaches of the English, while the nature of
the ground over which they must mareh to
storm the heights was so broken by natural
and artificial inequalities, that the English
could not silence the fire of the Mysoreans,
nor adequately cover their own advance.
Through all difficulties, in spite of the most
terrible cannonade, midst showers of rockets,
and confronted by deadly ranges of small
arms, the English reached their enemies, steel
to steel, and dislodged them from every emi-
nence. Iivery reeky elevation was the scene
of a separate conflict. "With the same steady
advance over crag and ravine, up the steep
acclivity, and through the fiery flight of the
enemy's missiles, the English pressed their
unremitting way, occupying each post only
when clashing bayonets and sabres had, with
brief and decisive execution, closed the mortal
strife. The enemy fled at last for shelter
under the walls of the strong city. TFive
hundred British lay upon the slopes and sum-
mits of the contested ridges. The enemy
perished in far greater numbers. This was
accounted for by the mode in which the
British fought. As the lines of flashing
bayonets crested the well defended hills, they
were lowered with quick precision, and
searched with sure and sanguinary aim the
over-crowded masses of the enemy. Then
from the summits so well won, the English
musketry poured a deadly fire upon the fugi-
tives, who fell fast until pursuit could add
no vietims to vengeance, or glory to victory.
The deficiency of food for the men, and
of any kind of fodder for the cattle, rendered
it impossible for the British commander to
remain long enough before Seringapatam
to capture it. To 1retreat seemed almost
ag difficult, It was only possible by the
sacrifice of all his baggage and stores, and
of his splendid battering-train. His lordship
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has been ecriticised severely by some for ad-
vaneing at all against the capital, where he
knew the resources of Tippoo were concen-
trated, in the state of destitution as to sup-
plies of his army. It has been explained by
gome on the ground of the reasonable alarm
entertained by his lordship of the immediate
action of the French on the side of Tippoo.
Intelligence of the Irench revolution had
reached the governor-general, he apprehended
that war between France and England would
once more involve India in its vortex, and
that the Carnatic would be, as before, the
necessary theatre of battle. Under these
exciting apprehensions, it has been said that
his lordship acted with a precipitaney in
beginning his march upon Seringapatam from
Bangalore, out of keeping with his usual
coolness of judgment. At all events, the hour
for retracing his steps arrived. The fine ma-
terial of his army was abandoned or destroyed,
and a retreat commenced, in which his men,
wearied and hungry, fell back reluctantly
from before a foe they had vanquished, and
just when the prize appeared within reach.
His lordship was not only obliged to retreat
himsgelf, but to countermand those forces
which were hastening with all speed to his
gupport. In the last chapter the successes
of General Abercromby, on the Malabar coast,
were noticed as contemporaneous with the
campaign of General Meadows, and a part of
the latter's plan of operations. When Lord
Cornwallis began his march from Madras,
Abereromby was directed to operate from the
low lands of Malabar, and, if possible, ascend
the Mysore country, so that it would be taken,
as might be said of an army, on both flanks at
once. Abercromby met with an ally who
facilitated his enterprise. The people of
CUoorg were the enthusiastic enemies of Tip-
poo, on account of his civil oppressions and
religious persecutions. Their youthful rajah,

after a long captivity, had lately contrived to
effect his veturn. The greater part of his
subjects were groaning in exile; but in the
depth of the woody recesses there was still a
band of freemen, who rallied round him with
enthusiastic ardour. By a series of exploits,
that might have adorned a tale of romance,
the young prince recalled his people from the
distant quarters to which they had been
driven, organized them into a regular mili-
tary body, drove the oppressors from post
after post, and finally became undisputed ruler
of Coorg, expelling the Mohammedan settlers
who had been forcibly introduced. A com-
mon interest soon united him in strict alliance
with General Abercromby, who thus obtained
a route by which he could transport his army,
without opposition, into the elevated plain,
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The conveyance of the heavy cannon, how-
ever, was a most laborious task, as it was
often necessary to drag them by ropes and
pulleys up the tremendous steeps, which form
on, this side the declivity of the Ghaunts. At
length the general had overcome every diffi-
culty, and was in full march to join Lord
Cornwallis, when he received orders to re-
treat, which, in this case too, could be effected
only by the sacrifice of all the heavy artillery.
At this juncture the Mahrattas were ad-
vancing in another direction. Purgeram
Bhow and Hurry Punt, two of the chiefs of
that strange people, were very earnest in
the war. They took the field early in the
campaign,- but were impeded by obstacles
which delayed their course in a manner ho-
nourable to themselves. The strong fortress
of Durwar, garrisoned by some of the best sol-
diers of Tippoo, lay in the line of the Mahratta
march. There were two battalions of the
company's sepoys with this force, and with
their aid the Malirattas believed that they
could take the fortress—an operation most
unsuitable to the military tactics of those
tribes. The siege was conducted in a manner
so absurd and dilatory that protracted opera-
tions were necessary. The fortress held out
from December 1790 to June, 1791, and
then only surrendered because the Mahratta
cavalry made the blockade so strict that
the besieged could obtain no provisions. The
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terms of surrender were not observed by the
Malrattas, notwithstanding the remonstrances
of the English officers who accompanied them.

‘While Lord Cornwallis’s army was in full
retreat, the men dropping down dead from
sickness, fatigue, or hunger, a body of cavalry
appeared, and beyond them, in the distance,
vast clouds of dust arose, as if a numerous
army were on its march. The English
had just made their formation for encoun-
tering the supposed enemy, when a gro-
tesque horseman advanced slowly, and with
confidence. He was identified as a Mah-
ratta. He was one of the advanced gnard
of the army of Puarseram Bhow and Hurry
Punt. Great was the joy of the wearied,
and famished soldiery, and of their brave and
gkilful, but sorely afflicted chief. On came
the Mahrattas, as clouds drifting upwards
from the horizon before the risingstorm. Squa-
dron after squadron of wild cavalry—hardy,
seasoned-looking warriors—swept on over
the devastated and trampled plain ; and at last
the British sepoys, in their compact infantry
order, thoroughly officered, and appearing in
the finest state of efficiency, defiled before the
governor-general, The British met one another
with cheers, for which even the faint and the

famishing in the army of Madras found a |
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voice. The singular looking hosts of troopers
brandished their swords, shook their lances,
and curvetted their well-fed steeds. Had
the governor-general but known that such
an army—-well supplied, as a Mahratta army
always was—was hastening to his aid along
the steeps from the north, he would have held
his position before Seringapatam, and the
glory of Mysore had sunk suddenly as the
eastern sun sinks at evening. Tippoo's irre-
gular horse had intercepted all communica-
tion, and the governor was ignorant that the
Mahrattas had pierced the passes of the
Mysorean Ghauts. Had he known so much,
he would not have countermanded the advance
of General Abercromby; had that general
received intelligence which might have been
communicated to him seaward of Madras, if
at that presidency pains had been taken to
organize a system of procuring and commu-
nicating intelligence, he would have con-
tinued his march. The English, notwith-
standing the frequent failures of their plans

from similar deficiencies, were still charac-

terised by their want of alert and active vigi-
lance. The arrival of the Mahrattas was a
means of relief only to those who had money
to buy what these allies possessed in abun-
dance, but his lordship made such arfange-
ments as procured supplies of necessaries for
his whole camp. “ As goon as these auxi-
liaries arrived, the scarcity in the cantonments
of the English, which previously amounted
almost to famine, ceased, so far as they were
willing to pay the enormous prices that were
extorted from their necessities. Every article
abounded in that predatory host: it exhibited
‘the gpoils of the Hast, and the industry of
the West,—from a web of English broad-
cloth to a Birmingham penknife; from the
shawls of Cashmere to the second-hand gar-
ment of the Hindoo; from diamonds of the
first water to the silver ear-ring of a poor
plundered village maiden ;’ while ‘the tables
of the money-changers, overspread with the
coins of every country of the East, gave evi-
dence of an extent of mercantile activity
utterly inconeeivable in any camp, excepting
that of systematic plunderers by wholesale
and retail! These allies, moreover, intro-
duced the commander to a most useful class
of men, the brinjarries or grain-merchants,
who, travelling in large armed bodies with
their wives and children, made it their busi-
ness to sapply all the militant powers of
Hindostan, They distributed their corn with
the strictest impartiality to all who could pay
for it; and the general, now amply supplied
with funds, was no longer exposed to want, and
easily obtained apreference over Tippoo, whosge
pecuniary resoutces were beginning to fail."
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Notwithstanding the relief thus oppor-
tunely obtained, the governor-general did not
deem it practicable to retrace his steps to the
scenes of his recent conquests. His battering
train having been lost, a fresh one had to
be procured from Madras before he could
hope to besiege Seringapatam. Other ne-
cessary supplies of military material were also
necessary, in place of those which had heen
destroyed preliminary to the retreat.

Repose was now absolntely necessary for
the army of Lord Cornwallis. Nearly all the
cattle had died, either from overwork, or an
epidemic disease which quickly destroyed
them, and caused them to putrefy almost im-
mediately after death. This caused sickness
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in the camp, which was much increased by
the starved followers ecating the putrid flesh,
Small-pox, so common and so fatal in the Hast,
made great havoe. The store of rice was to a
considerable extent wasted, or embezzled by
the native drivers and servants. The sup-
plies which the Mahrattas sold at so high a
price were rapidly vanishing. Safe communi-
cations were opened with Madras, and the
wearied army, as it rested, awaited with zeal,
as well as obedience, the day when, with re-
eruited force, it might again march against
the boasted capital of Mysore. While these
events were passing, and indeed as soon as
the junction with the Mahrattas was formed,
Tippoo became anxious to negotiate. On the.
27th of May he gent a flag of truce, accom-
panied by numerous gervants and a bushel of
fruit, and a letter in Persian soliciting peace.
The flag and the frait were returned the next
morning, much to the gratification of the
troops. An answer to Tippoo’s letter was
also gent, “acquainting him that the English
nation would agree to no peace which did not
include their allies; and if he meant to nego-
tiate, he must in the first instance deliver up
all the British subjects who were prisoners in
his deminions, and consent that a truce should
take place, until his proposals could be con-
sidered and the terms adjusted. The fruit
was returned in the same manner as it had
been sent; not as an insult, but merely to
show that his lordship declined even the ap-
pearance of {riendly intercourse with the sul-
tan, In the army it was understood that
Tippoo, finding he could not treat separately
with the English, and seeing that he had an-
other geason to try his expedients for disunit-
ing the confederacy, as well as to, prepare for
hig defence, replied to his lordship, by asserting
that he had no DBritish subjects detained pri-
soners in his country gince the former war,
and that he would not agree to a truce.”*

* Review of Lord Cornwallis’ Second Campaigh against
Zippoo. By Major Dirom,
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It was of great consequence to the success
of another campaign that a good understand-
ing should be established with the Mahrattas.
This Lord Cornwallis succeeded in accom-
plishing before he dispatched General Mea-
dows, Colonel Stuart, and others of his su-
perior officers, on different expeditions. The
Mahrattas were a people of great military
pride and quick gensibilities; they were also
vindictive, and, like most oriental people,
fickle in their policy. Any ill-will springing
up between them and the British troops would
perhaps have been productive of irremediable
mischief. A want of respect to their chiefs
on the part of the governor-general would
have sent the whole host away, or have
caused them to make separate terms with
Tippoo, Yet, if the governor-general had
paid their chiefs any undue deference, or
appeared to depend upon the alliance as a sine
qud non for conducting the war with Tippoo,
they would have at once assumed the air of
conguerors or superiors, and become as trouble-
some as Tippoo himself. Lord Cornwallis had
but little experience of oriental peoples, and that
which he knew of the natives of India was
confined to the neighbourhood of Calcutta
previous to this campaign. He had, how-
ever, the mind of a statesman, with such su-
perior natural taste and judgment as qualified
him in an eminent degree for intercourse with
orientals, especially in the transaction of
political business. ~When the Mahrattas
formed their junction with the British, they
pitched their tents at some distance; and
Lord Cornwallis had to counsider with what
ceremonial his interview with the leaders of
this army should be associated, The follow-
ing graphic picture was given by an eye-wit-
ness, the deputy adjutant-general of Lord
Cornwallis's army, Major Dirom :—

“QOn the 28th May, the army fell back
towards Milgottah, where the Mahratta armies
were to encamp; and, to prevent disenssion
and delay on points of ceremony, Lord Corn-
wallis proposed to meet the Mahratta chiefs at
tents pitched midway between the Mahratta
and the British camps.

“ Lord Cornwallis, accompanied by General
Meadows, their staff, and some of the prinei-
pal officers of the army, went to the tents at
the hour appointed, which was one o’clock;
but the chiefs, who consider precision as in-
consistent with power and dignity, did not
even leave their own camp till three, though
repeated messages were sent that his lordship
waited for them., They at length mounted
their elephants, and, proceeding as slow and
dignified in their pace as they had been dila-
tory in their preparation, approached the place
of appointment at four o'clock, escorted by
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several corps of their infantry, a retinue of
horse, and all the pagentry of Eastern state.
The chiefs, on descending from their ele-
phants, were met at the door of the tent by
Lord Cornwallis and General Meadows, who
embraced them, and, after some general con-
versation, retired to a private conference in
another tent.

“ Hurry Punt, about sixty years of age, a
Brahmin of the first order, and the personage
of greatest consequence, is said to be the third
in the senate of the Mahratta state. His
figure is venerable, of middle stature, and not
corpulent; he is remarkably fair, his eyes
grey, and his countenance, of Roman form,
full of thought and character.

“ Purseram Bhow, aged about forty, stands
high in military fame among the Mahrattas.
He is an active man, of small stature, rather
dark in his complexion, with black eyes, and
an open animated countenance, in which, and
his mien, he seemed desirous to show his
character of an intrepid warrior. His an-
tipathy to Tippoo is said to be extreme; for
the sultan had put one of his brothers to death
in a most cruel manner, and Hyder's con-
quests to the northward fell chiefly upon the
possessions of his family, which he lately re-
covered by the reduction of Darwar. Hurry
Punt was destined to be the chief negotiator
on the part of his nation; each commanded
a separate army, but the Bhow was to be
employed more immediately in the active
operations of the field.

“The chiefs themselves, and all the Mah-
rattas in their suite, and indeed all their
people, were remarkably plain, but neat, in
their appearance. Mild in their aspeet, hu-
mane in their disposition, polite and unaffected
in their address, they are distinguished by
obedience to their chiefs, and attachment to
their’ country. There were not to be seen
among them those fantastic figures in armour
80 common among the Mohammedans, in the
nizam’s, or, as they style themselves, the
Mogul army; adventurers collected from every
quarter of the East, who, priding themselves
on individual valour, think it beneath them to
be useful but on the day of battle, and, when
that comes, prove only the inefficiency of
numbers, unconnected by any general prin-
ciple of union or discipline.

“The Mahrattas of every rank seemed
greafly rejoiced in having effected this junc-
tion, and considered it a happy omen, that
this event should haye taken place at Milgot-
tah, a spot so renowned in their annals for
the signal victory gained by Madharow in
1772, in which he completely routed and dis-
persed Hyder's army, and took all his can-
non. Many of the chiefs and people who had
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gerved with that general were now in these
armies; but they had since felt the superority
of the forces of Mysore, and were impressed
with such an idea of Tippoo’s diseipline, and
his abilities in the field, that they were not
a little pleased in having joined the British
army, without having occasion to try their
fortune singly with the sultan. They all
showed great eagerness to hear the nesws, and
to know the reason of our having burst our
great guns. On being told of the victory of
the 15th of May, and of the subsequent neces-
sity of destroying the hattering train, from
want of provisions, and not knowing of their
approach, they partook in the joy and grief
we had experienced on those events; and
seeing that we considered the late defeat of
Tippoo as a matter of course, and that we
looked forward with confidence to the cap-
ture of the capital, they expressed themselves
to the following effect :—¢ We have brought
plenty—do you get more guns—we will feed
you, and you shall fight.” The conference
between the generals and the chiefs broke up
between five and six o'clock, apparently much
to the satisfaction of both parties.”

The officer, who gave the description just
quoted, presents also an animated picture of
the military habits of our ally, It has been
already related that two sepoy battalions were
attached to the Mahratta forces. These re-
giments belonged to the Bombay army. The
chiefs always placed the British infantry in
front, so that they served as a picket to the
Mahratta camp. Indeed, the only measure
taken specifically to guard against surprise,
was that those infantry regiments were thrown
out in advance, encamping always in that
advanced position. Cavalry was spread in
detachments far on the rear and flanks of the
army, to secure plunder or cover the arrival
of supplies. These, without exercising any
especial vigilance, would be soon able to detect
an advancing enemy. Major Dirom expresses
gffeat surprise at the artillery appointments of
our ally :—

“The gun carriages, in which they trust to
the solidity of the timber, and use but little
iron in their construction, are clumsy beyond
belief ; particularly the wheels, which are
low, and formed of large solid pieces of wood
united. The guns are of all sorts and dimen-
gions ; and, having the names of their gods
given to them, are painted in the most fan-
tastic manner; and many of them, held in
esteem for the services they are said to have
already performed for the state, cannot now
be dispensed with, although in every respect
unfit for use, Were the guns even service-
able, the small supply of ammunition with

which they are provided has always effectually
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prevented the Mahratta artillery from being
formidable to their enemies.

“The Mahratta infantry, which formed part
of the retinue that attended the chiefs at the
conference, is composed of black Christians,
and despicable poor wretches of the lowest
caste, uniform in nothing but the bad state of
their muskets, none of which are either clean
or complete; and few are provided with either
ammunition or accoutrements, They are
commanded by half-caste people of Portuguese
and French extraction, who draw off the at-
tention of spectators from the bad clothing of
their men, by the profusion of antiquated lace
bestowed on their own; and if there hap-
pens to be a few liuropeans among the
officers and men, which is sometimes the
case, they execrate the service, and deplore
their fate.

“The Malrattas do not appear to treat
their infantry with more respect than they
deserve, as they ride through them without
any ceremony on the march, and on all ocea-
sions evidently consider them as foreigners,
and a very inferior class of people and troops.
Indeed the attention of the Mahrattas is di-
rected entirely to their horses and bhazars,
those being the only objects which immedi-
ately affect their interest. On a marching
day, the guns and the infantry move oft soon
after daylight, but vavely together; the bazars
and baggage move nearly about the same time,
as soon as they can be packed up and got
ready. The guns and tumbrels, sufficiently
unwieldy without farther burden, are so heaped
with stores and baggage, that there does not
seem to be any idea of its ever being necessary
to unlimber, and prepare for action on the
march. Asthere are no pioneers attached to
the Mahratta artillery to repair the roads, this
deficiency is compensated by an additional
number of cattle, there being sometimes a
hundred, or a hundred and fifty bullocks, in a
string of pairs, to one gun : the drivers, who
are very expert, sit on the yokes, and pass
over every impediment, commonly at a trot.
The chiefs remain upon the ground, without
tents, smoking their hookahs, till the artillery
and baggage have got on some miles; they
then follow, each pursuing his own route, at-
tended by his principal people ; while the in-
feriors disperse, to forage and plunder over
the country.

“ A few days after the junction of the Mah-
ratta armies, an irregular fire of cannon and

musketry was heard in their camp between
nine and ten at night. The troops imme-
diately turned out in our camp, and stood to
their arms, thinking that Tippoo had certainly
attacked the Malirattas ; but it proved to be
ouly the celebration of one of their ceremonies,
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in which they salute the new moon, on its first
appearance.”

Another cireumstance occurred soon after,
also characteristic of their customs and dis-
cipline :—* The ground on which our army
had encamped at the junction, being bare of
grass, and extremely dirty, Lord Cornwallis
was desirous of marching ; and sent to the
Mahratta chiefs, to request they would move
next morning, as their camp lay directly in
our route. They returned for answer, *that
they should be happy to obey his lordship’s
commands ; but, as they had halted eight
days, it was not lucky, nor could they, ac-
cording to the custom of their religion, march
on the ninth day.” His lordship gave way to
their superstitions prejudice, and deferred his
march.”

The allies moved on the 6th of June to the
north of the Mysore, towards Nagamangala.
Purseram Bhow had established a post and
depot there. From thence they marched
eastward to Bangalore. The objects of these
marches were to enable the Mahrattas to
withdraw in safety the posts they had estab-
lished on their line of march; to subsist the
allies at the expense of the enemy ; to cause
Tippoo to consume the provisions which he
had laid up for the defence of the capital.

The Mahrattas marched tumultuously, and
seemed to depend upon the vigilance and dis-
cipline of the English against surprise, the
very service which the Iinglish had expected
from the numerous Mahratta irregular horse,
Those Liorsemen were most active, but not so
much as the eyes of the grand army, as inde-
pendent corps, conducting all sorts of irre-
gular and eccentric expeditions on their own
account. They captured some of Tippoo's
clephants, and minor convoys. They way-
laid his cavalry scouts, and boldly fell upon
them when a chance of success was opened.
This was of importance to the English, whose
horses were much reduced by travel and in-
sufficient fodder.

Barl Cornwallis had much difficulty in
keeping the Mahratta chiefs in good humour,
each affecting the bearing of a sovereign
prince. It was also most difficult for him to
form plans of military co-operation with
them., New battering trains were soon sent
from Madras and Bombay, money came from
(aleutta, provisions were found by the Mah-
rattas, but horses and oxen to draw the guns
and stores could not be procured by any
amount of payment. By ingenious arrange-
ments with officers, especially those in com-
mand of battalions, Lord Cornwallis “ relieved
the bullock department,” as the deputy-adju-

tant-general of the army )

expressed it. Camels
were purchased by individual officers in their

3L
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zeal for the public service; and the whole
army was animated by an enthusiastic desire
to make up somehow every deficiency of
equipment. The only supplies issued to the
British sepoys were rice, salt, and arrack; the
European soldiers had cattle and sheep for
slaughter, in addition to rice and small rations
of corn. The British commander, like the
great Duke of Wellington many years after-
wards in the Spanish peninsula, became a sort
of grain merchant to supply his troops, and
with equal sucecess. Captain Read, an officer
well versed in the languages of Bouthern
India, and possessing a remarkable talent for
organization, made arrangements with the
grain merchants on a gigantic scale, and by
trusting to them in fair and open market,
treating them justly, and paying the value for
their commodities, the English army received
regular supplies, The Malrattas by plunder
barely provided for themselves, while the |
nizam's forces conld neither supply their wants J
by purchase or plunder. [
After the reduction of various forts, the]
army came in sight of Bangalore, Cap- |
tain Read succeeded in meeting it with a
convoy of brinjarries (or corn merchants),
having ten thousand, or as some writers of
the time affirmed, twelve thousand bullock-
loads of rice and grain. Here Lord Corn-
wallis received intelligence of the favourable
views which were entertained in England of
his conduct in waging and conducting this |
war.
him that half a million sterling was voted by
the company to replenish his exchequer, and
that large reinforcements of troops, especially |
artillery, were on their way out. From Cal-
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cutta, he heard that bullock draught was pre-
paring for his service, and a despatch from
Vellore informed him of the arrival there, from
Bengal, of one hundred elephants and twenty-
five bullocks. Thousands of coolies arrived
with provisions on their own speenlation, so
that supplies became abundant. The army
was thus encouraged and their noble com-
mander, confident of victory, communicated
by sympathy his confidence to his troops.

A new disposition of forces oceurred in
the neighbourhood of Bangalore, with a view
to protect the arrival of supplies to the
allies, eut off supplies from Tippoo, and se-
cure sufficient support for such vast bodies
of men, troops, and camp-followers. Colonel
Duff, whose name became afterwards so much

He also received despatches informing |

identified with the peoples and countries of
Southern India, took charge of the artillery,
and prepared a battering train for service once
more at Seringapatam. He had rendered in-
valuable aid to the army in the same way on
its previous advance to the Mysorean capital.

The approaching period of the monsoons
rendered an advance upon Seringapatam im-
possible. The grand army, under Lord Corn-
wallis, kept open its communications with the
Carnatic, to secure the arrival of guns, am-
munition, and stores. To ensure this impor-
tant end, it was necessary to secure the
pass of Palicode, and that conld only be ac-
complished by the capture of Oussoor, a for-
tified place which commanded it. This was
the first operation of the army of any mag-
nitude after the junction of the triune forces,
and, as it may be considered as the beginning
of the third campaign, is reserved for a se-
parate chapter.

LA U A PPN A, S e i

CHAPTER X(QV.

WAR WITH TIPPOO: THIRD CAMPAIGN—EARL

CORNWALLIS CONQUERS OUSSOOR—REDUCES

THE WHOLE TERRITORY OF MYSORE, AND ADVANCES TO THE FORTIFIED LINES OF

SERINGAPATAM.

Ox the 15th of July the army moved from the
cantonments of Bangalore towards Oussoor.
This part of the country had not as yet been
made the theatre of war, and the inhabitants
were engaged in attention to their fields.
The landscape was beautiful in its variety of
aspect, fertility, and careful cultivation. Rich
foliage crowned the knolls and hill-tops, as the
ground undulated or rose in bolder eminences.
The elevation of the region gave coolness,
yet it basked in all the glorious light of the
fndian sun.

The seventh brigade reached Oussoor
under Major Gowdie. On the appearance of
the British the enemy abandoned the place,
attempting unsucecessfully to blow it np before
commencing their flight, A large store of
grain and powder rewarded the march of the
British brigade. The fall of Oussoor was
very dispiriting to Tippoo; he regarded it as
strategically of great importance, and his
orders were to strengthen and defend it to the
uttermost. Previous to the arrival of Major

Gowdie, the English prisoners were murdered
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by express order of Tippoo, notwithstanding
remonstrances by the governor, and solicita-
tions for mercy from the inhabitants. Like
his father, the sultan delighted to shed the
blood of defenceless enemies. The various
hill-forts in the neighbourhood smrrendered,
or were taken, and the English held the im-
portant pass, by which their stores and con-
voys were chiefly to arrive during the re-
mainder of the campaign.

About the middle of August, Tippoo,
having consented to treat with the allies
jointly, instead of separately, as was liis policy,
sent a vakeel to Oussoor. This person, Apogy
Row, was well known to the English, having
in the previous war also acted the part of a
negotiator. He would not open his creden-
tials without certain ceremonies, which were
evidently designed for delay, and he was,
therefore, not permitted to enter the camp.

By the end of the month of September
twenty-eight thonsand bullocks were provided
in the Carnatic for the use of the army. The
laborious and expensive preparations in cattle,
material, and carriage equipment, of which
Tippoo had ample information by his spies,
alarmed him more than the actual presence of
numerous armies on the high table-land of
Mysore. He was convinced that the English
were in earnest, and had ample means to sns-
tain a nmew and protracted campaign. Yet
such was his hatred to the British, a feeling
inherited from his father, and provoked by
their shameless violation of treaty, that he
preferred risking his all in conflict with them,
to opportune concession.

During the remainder of the autnmn the
British were engaged in various directions,
but chiefly to the north-east of Bangalore, in
reducing forts, and cutting off communications
with the country from the sultan's liead-
quarters. His lordship in this way found
means of employing the army honourably, and
with great detriment to the enemy.

The country of Tippoo was studded with
“droogs,” fortified hills, or rocks. Some of
these were exceedingly precipitous. Nature
had provided Mysore with bulwarks of defence,
and Hyder Ali and Tippoo Sultan knew how to
make them available. Among these Nunde-
droog was one of the chief, and was held by
one of Tippoo’s most trusted officers. There
was only one of the faces of the rock which
was accessible, and that only under circum-
stances of diffienlty almost constituting the
impossible.  This portion of the crag was
defended near the summit by a double wall.
An English detachment commanded by Major
Gowdie, under the direction of General Mea-
dows, formed approaches on the steeps, built
batteries, and dragged up cannon. In twenty-
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one days two breaches were opened. General
Meadows himself' led the assault. A night of
soft clear moonlight, such as guided the for-
lorn hope so swiftly through the newly-formed
breach at Bangalore, favoured the English.
The assailants suffered hardly any loss from
the fire of the enemy ; the steepness of the
ascent brought them inside the range, but
huge masses of granite were rolled down,
which hurled away many of the KEnglish in
their descent, so that ninety men were lost
before the breaches were attained. Then
sword to sword, high up on that moonlit
summil, a fierce encounter took place in the
gaping chasms made by the English guns,
Thirty English fell in the breaches; these
once carried, the enemy strugeled no niore,
and Meadows, sword in hand, like a volunteer
subaltern, entered at the head of the stormers.
It was one of the most gallant feats ever per-
formed by Englishmen, and by an English
general,

Colonel Stuart attacked Savendroog, which
had been of equal importance with Nunde-
droog, but which, during the siege of the
latter, was so strengthened, that Tippoo's
officers considered it impregnable, It was
battered, breached, and stormed in twelve
days without a man being lost on the side of
the conquerors, Outredroog was surrendered
after a feeble resistance, so great was the
panic created by what were considered, pre-
vious to their accomplishment by the Inglish,
impossible feats. IKistnagherry town was
burned; the droog of that place was attempted
by a coup-de-main, but the attack failed.
T'ippoo, perceiving the moral effect of these
exploits, determined npon a bold attempt to
conntervail them. He led an expedition
southward, and suddenly attacked Coimbatore.
The garrison capitulated gn terms which re-
spected their liberty ; Tippoo violated the
capitulation, and sent the whole garrison pri-
soners to Seringapatam with every conceiv-
able indignity, and many cruelties. Tippoo
probably considered that even if ultimately
defeated, he might execute vengeance upon
guch men as he could get into his power, the
English in the former war having shown such
indifference to the fate of the prisoners he had
murdered, when they came to terms of peace.
Tippoo was not alile to effect much more than
the reduction of Coimbatore.

Before the month of October had far ad-
vanced, the supplies of men and money ar-
rived from England, including two companies
of Royal Artillery, under Major Scott. 'nree
hundred seasoned troops also arvived from St.
Helena. These troops endured the climate
of India better than those which eame dirveetly
from England. While from the presidencies
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of Bengal and Madras reinforcements and sup-
plies were poured in on one side of Mysore,
the reinforcements which arrived from Eung-
land at Bombay were organized, and ready to
ascend the Ghauts on the other side.
While these events occurred, Tippoo sent
a strong force into the Baramaul, which en-
dangered the British convoys. Lord Corn-
wallis ordered Licutenant-colonel Maxwell, at
the head of a strong infantry brigade, to co-
operate with some Mahratta irregular cavalry
to clear that country. The chief work of this
brigade was the reduction of forts, which the
enemy feebly defended; but in every case
where opportunity was afforded, they acted
with treachery and cruelty. By the end of No-
vember, Colonel Maxwell performed his mis-
sion, but not without having sustained oneseri-
ous repulse and heavy loss in officers and men.
While these events were transpiring, the
Bombay army, under General Abereromby,
was engaged in active operations. That
officer, as seen in the last chapter, had
been ordered by Lord Cornwallis to retreat.
He returned to Tellicherry from Bombay ear] y
in November, bringing with him drafts on
service, recruits, and a battering train. On
the 23rd of the month this force marched from
its cantonments, and assembled at Cannanore.
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Farl Cornwallis ordered General Abercromby |
to proceed upon the same plan as in the pre-
vious campaign.  That officer accordingly
marched on the 5th of December to the Pondi-
cherrim Ghaut, and on the Tth erossed the
river at Illiacore, this river being navigable
to within two miles of the place which the
general selected for the passage of his army,
so that the heavy guns and stores were
brought up to that point. From Illiacore the
ascent of the ghaut was steep and rugged.
Deep ruts had been formed by torrents during
the previous monsoon. It was necessary to
repair the road, that the guns and baggage
might be brought up in safety, and thus con-
siderable delay was oceasioned. The English
officers and soldiers were much impressed by
the grandeur of the route, the bold mountain
towering to the heavens, its steeps clothed
thickly with forest, the views of the country
beneath, and of the distant sea, presenting the
richness and variety peculiar tooriental scenery.
Having surmounted the difficulties of the ascent
near Illiacore, the army had a long march of
twenty-six miles through a wooded, partly
undulated, and partly abrupt country to Pon-
dicherrim, where the ascent of the great hill
offers the grand impediment to an army. The
number and strength of the trees peculiar to
the Indian forest furnished means for affixing

ropes to pull up the heavy guns and the store
carriages.

[Cuar. XOV.

Leaving the Pondicherrini Ghaut, the army
pursued its toilsome way over thirty miles of
wooded, rocky, picturesque, and most difficult
country, to the foot of the Sedaseer Ghaut.
At this point the services of the Rajah of
Coorg became available, as in the previous
advance, and much facilitated the march of
the army, not only by supplies of food, but by
the warlike and vigilant co-operation of a
brave people. Having penetrated the range
of successive ghauts, the Bombay army eu-
camped on the plains of Mysore, where it
awaited the period for co-operation with the
grand army. . General Abercromby’s force
consisted of four European regiments, eight
battalions of sepoys, four companies of artil-
lery in four brigades, amounting to nearly
nine thousand good soldiers. THere it is ne-
cessary to leave the army of Abercromby
until other events are related.

When, in July, the necessity of procuring
subsistence compelled the allied armies to se-
parate, the Malrattas, with a Bombay con-
tingent, under Captain Little, proceeded frowm
the neighbourhood of Bangalore in the direc-
tion of Sera and Chittledroog. The country
being fertile, the Malratta commander, Pur-
seram DBhow, selected it for his sphere of
operations. Captain Little, at the head of
the Bombay native contingent serving with
Lis army, made for himself much distinction,
One of the most sangninary pitched battles
of the war was won by him, and siege was
laid to Scooly-Onore by the end of Decem-
ber. On the second of January the place
capitulated.

Purseram Bhow was elated with his suc-
cesses, which were chiefly due to Captain Little
and his Bombay sepoys. The Mahratta, there-
fore, instead of joining General Abercromby's
army, went in an opposite direction, disarrang -
ing the comprehensive plan of the campaign,
and hazarding the suceess of the war. When
“the bhow” ought to have been with Aber-
cromby, so as to make the Bombay army un-
assailable, and secure the safety of his own,
he was at Bidenore, unable to effect any-
thing bearing upon the grand scope of the
campaign.

Tippoo, alarmed by the rapidity of tle
Mahratta movements, and the enterprises
which Captain Little had directed, detached
Cummer-ud-deen Khan in the direction of
Bidenore.  The bhow became alarmed in
turn, and, desisting from his designs on
Bidenore and other cities in its vicinity, re-

tired from before the corps of the khan, and,
yielding to the stern letters of Lord Corn-
wallis and Hurry Punt, directed his course
towards Seringapatam, to take his place in
the military array formed against that city.
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The kban, emboldened by the retirement of
the bhow, from terror, as he supposed, of
his superior prowess, performed various ex-
ploits with his cavalry, making long marches
and effecting several surprises. A strong
body of Mysorean horse penetrated into the
Carnatic, committed extensgive devastation,
reached the neighbourhood of Madras, ex-
citing much alarm, and were only repelled after
all the Buropeans had volunteered to go out
against them. The council, always timid,
although often rash, was of course panie-
struck. The agriculturists all around Ma-
dras deserted their fields. il T

While these military movements were tak-
ing place, the English navy inflicted much in-
juryupon the enemy’s strong places on the coast
of Malabar. Commodore Cornwallis, Captains
Byron, Sutton, Troubridge, and Osborne at-
tacked various coast fortifications belonging to
Tippoo, assisted in the conquest of Cannanore,
and captured Fortified Tsland, at the mouth of
the Onore river. The French had sent out
store-ships from their settlements for Tippoo’s
service, under protection of their own frigates,
although the two nations were then af peace.
The English commodore stopped one of these
convoys. The French commodore fired two
broadsides without any previous declaration
or warning of hostile intent; the result wasan
action, in which the French were severely
punished, and their frigate captured.

On the 14th of Janunary, 1792, the various
bodies of the grand army, with the exception
of that belonging to the nizam, formed a junc-
tion in the neighbourhood of Outredroog. On
the 25th of January, the advanced guard of
the nizam’s army was seen approaching, and
Lord Cornwallis proceeded out to meet it.
The allied armies marched next day, and on
the 27th reached Hooleadroog. In the pre-
vious June that place had been conquered by
the British. After the retreat of Lord Corn-
wallis, the Mysoreans again took possession
of it, and strongly fortified it. The town
was small, but the fort was considered inac-
cessible to assault; nevertheless, the killidar
(governor) surrendered to Colonel Maxwell
Upon SUMmMOons.

Lord Cornwallis posted a garrison at this
place, and assembled all his forces in its vici-
nity. After such preparation as was neces-
sary, his army moved forward towards the
capital. Tippoo had no well-founded hope
of defending his provinces; but in his obsti-
nacy and determination he had resolved to
defend the city to which his father had given
g0 much fame as the seat of his government.
Tippoo believed that it was strong enough
to resist the allied arms of Hyderabad,
Poonah, and Madras, and he counted npon
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the exhaustion of their resonrces in the siege,
which would necessitate a disastrous retreat,
lead to dissension among the allies, another
invagion of the Carnatic by himself, and the
siege—perhaps eapture—of Madras. With
aid from the French and from the Sultan of
Turkey, he believed he could expel the Eng-
lish from the shores both of Malabar and Coro-
mandel; that the nizam and peishwa would
be glad to make separate terms, and that his
supremacy would be recognised in the penin-
sular portion of India. As the Emperor
Nicholas of Russia, at a much later period,
believed that Sebastopol would exhaust the re-
sources of the great powers of Western Europe
which besieged it, so Tippoo concluded that the
allied powers of Southern India would pour
out fruitlessly their blood and treasure before
Seringapatam, so as to ensure him an ultimate
and complete conquest.

Lord Cornwallis had succeeded in gaining
the confidence of the governments of Hydera-
bad and Poonah, and in uniting in his plans
the generalissimos of the armies of these states.
He exercized, therefore, virtually, the supreme
direction of the armies, and was enabled to
carry out his plans of action without opposi-
tion. Hisresolution was to march at once upon
Seringapatam. Hooleadroog was established
as an advanced post, being ten miles nearer
the grand object than Outredroog, and from
which the allied armies, now finally assembled,
were to commence their march, for the second
attempt upon the enemy’s capital.

Before proceeding upon the final struggle
and grand issue of his enterprise, Lord Corn-
wallis was desirous of affording the nizam
and the Mahratta chiefs, a view of his army
in its full strength and array of was Those
personages appeared highly pleased with the
compliment which his lordship proposed to
confer, but did not seem to contemplate the
utility of forming an intimate acquaintance
with the discipline, equipment, arrangement,
and component peculiarities of an ally’s
troops. They thought it a fine opportunity
for displaying their own elephants, their per-
sonal pomp and glory, and for impressing
upon the minds of the English troops, ideas of
the greatness of the native sovereigns and
commanders associated with them in the field.

On the 31st of January, the British troops
were ordered under arms, for review by the
nizam and the Mahratta chiefs. The noble
ear], and General Meadows, proceeded to meet
the princes and generals of the allies to the
right of the English line.

The following graphic deseription of what
followed, was given by the only officer pre-
sent, who, acquainted with all the facts,
thought proper to describe theiroceurrence :—
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“The camp was pitched in a valley close
to Hooleadroog, and, from the nature of the
ground, could not be in one straight line, but
was formed on three sides of a square, with a
considerable interval, on aceount of broken
grouud, between the divisions, which were
thus encamped each with a different front.
The reserve, consisting of the cavalry, with a
brigade of infautry in the centre, formed the
division on the right of the line, and the
two wings of the iufantry formed the two
other divisions of the encampment ; the bat-
tering train being in the centre of the left
wing fronting Hooleadroog. ‘I'he extent of
the line, including the breaks between the
divisions, was above four miles. The prince,
the minister, Hurry Punt, and the tributary
Nabobs of Cuddapu and Canoul, who had
accompanied Secunder Jau from Hyderabad,
were on elephants richly caparisoned, attended
by a numerous suite of their best horse, and
preceded by their chubdars, who call out their
titles ; surrounded, in short, by an immense
noisy multitude. The prince was in front,
attended by Sir John Kennaway, on an
howdered elephant, near enough to answer
such questions as might be asked by his high-
ness respecting the troops. On his reaching
the right of the line, a salute of twenty-one
guns was fired from the park, while the
cavalry, with drawn swords and trumpets
sounding, received him with due honours
as he passed their front. He returned the
officers’ salute, and looked attentively at
the troops. The 19th dragoons, of which
they had all heard, attracted their particular
notice as they passed the corps of the reserve.
Having ssen a regiment of Europeans, be-
sides the dragoons in the first division, the
chiefs were not a little surprised to find a
brigade of three regiments, on proceeding a
little farther, in the centre of the second divi-
sion. They had passed the sepoys at rather
a quick pace, but went very slow opposite to
the European corps, and seemed much struek
with their appearance. The troops all in
new clothing, their arms and accoutrements
bright and glittering in the sun, and them-
selves as well dressed as they could have been
for a review in time of peace: all order and
silence, nothing heard or seen but the uniform
sound and motion in presenting their arms,
accompanied by the drums and musie of the
corps, chequered and separated by the parties
of artillery extended at the drag-ropes of
their guns. The sight was beautiful even to
those accustomed to military parade; while
the contrast was no less striking between the
good sense of our generals on horseback, and
the absurd state of the chiefs looking down
from their elephants, than between the silence
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and order of our troops, and the noise and
irregularity of the mob that accompanied the
Eastern potentates. After passing the right
wing, the road leading through some wood
and broken ground, the chiefs, on ascending
a height; were not a little astonished to dis-
cover a still longer line than the two they
had passed, and which, in this situation, they
could see at once through its whole extent.
But for the battering train, which occupied a
mile in the centre of this division, at which
they looked with wonder; but for the differ-
ence of the dress and music of the Highland
regiments in the second European brigade,
and the striking difference of size and dress
between the Bengal sepoys in the right, and
the coast sepoys which they now saw in the
left wing; but for these distinctions which
they remarked, such was the extent of ground
which the army covered, and the apparent
magnitude of its numbers, that the chiefs
might have imagined a part of the same
troops were only shown again upon other
ground, an expedient not unusual among
themselves, whenever they have it in view
to impress strangers with a false idea of the
strength of their forces. It was five o'clock
before the chiefs reached the left of the line,
when, having expressed themselves lighly
gratified with all they had seen, they accom-
panied Lord Cornwallis to his tents, After
a short visit, and fixing the time and order
of their march for the following day, they
returned about sunset to their own camps.”

The same anthor, from his official know-
ledge, gives the following account of the
march :—

“On the 1st of February, the allied armies
commenced their march from Hooleadroog in
the following order:—The Bnglish army
moved off as usual, at daybreak, in three
columns.  Firstly, the battering guns, tum-
brels, and heavy carriages on the great road,
formed the centre column. Secondly, the line
of infantry and field-pieces, on a road made
for them at a distance of a hundred yards or
more, as the ground required, marched pa-
rallel to the battering train, and on its right,
that being the flank next to the enemy.
Thirdly, the smaller store carts and private
baggage carts marched in like manner, on a
road to the left of the battering train, beyond
which was the great mass of baggage, carried
on elephants, camels, bullocks, and coolies, all
the servants of the army, and families of the
sepoys. This immense multitude on the
baggage flanks, was prevented from going
ahead of the columns by the baggage-master
and his guard, and was flanked, giving it a
space of several miles which it required, by

the part of the cavalry not on other duties,
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and the infantry of the reserve. The ad-
vanced grard was formed of a regiment of
cavalry, the body guards, and the detail of
infautry for the pickets of the new camp.
The rear-guard was formed of a regiment of
cavalry, and the pickets of the old camp, and
did not move till they saw the baggage and
all stores off the old ground of encampment.
“In this manner the line of march was
shortened to one-third of what would be its
extent if confined to one road ; and, from the
component parts of the army being thus
classed and divided, the whole moved on with
as much ease as if the battering train only
had been upon the march. The heavy equip-
ment of the army, great guns, store carts,
provision and baggage, thus formed a mass
of immense breadth and depth, guarded in
such manner on all sides, that on no quarter
could the enemy approach the stores or bag-
gage without cpposition from some part of
the troops on the march. The armies of the
allies, which were not mixed in our details,
followed, as is their custom, at a later hour,
and without any disposition for their defence.”

The army, after successive marches, ar-
rived before Seringapatam. The enemy's
horse hovered upon the flanks, and offered
congiderable opposition to the advanced guard.
Tippoo appeared disposed to dispute the pas-
sage of the river Madoor, but Lord Cornwallis
having reinforced the advanced guard with a
brigade of infantry, the enemy, after a show
of resistance, dispersed, laying waste the coun-
try, and retiring upon the main army. As-
cending high ground on the opposite banks
of the Madoor, the British had a magnificent
landscape, rich alike in fertility and variety,
spread before them; far away on every side
patrols of the enemy’s horse were in obser-
vation, and the flame and smoke of burning
villages and homesteads appeared along the
whole horizon, The route now taken was
different from that along which the army had
advanced to the first attack of Seringapatam,
and it was also different to that upon which
Lord Cornwallis had retired ; the troops were
thus enabled to form a more extensive ac-
quaintance with the country, which afforded
the Europeans a lively pleasure; as compared
with the low eountry beneath the Ghauts, it
was alike beautiful and temperate.

The last march of the allies was made on
the 5th of February, and lay over the barren
hills to the north-east of the capital. From
the line of route, the* valley beneath was fre-
quently spread out to view in all its extent ;
the proud city, with its cupolas, palaces, and
fortifications, was distinctly seen; and be-
neath the walls in numerous lines were ranged
the tents of the sultan's troops. Every step
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the army advanced, the irregular cavalry of
Tippoo harassed it ; regular troops appeared
on the flanks, and threw fiery showers of
rockets. The advanced guard was obliged fre-
quently to halt and draw up in line of battle.
As the allies advanced, the impediments
offered by the enemy increased, and when
at last it reached the place of encampment,
the quartermaster-general, his assistants and
guards, were placed in imminent danger while

marking out the ground. The line chosen

for the encampment lay across the valley of
Milgotah, and was parallel to that of the sul-

tan, at a distance of six miles. The encamp-

ment of the allied armies was divided by a
small stream, called the Lockany river, which,

taking its rise from the lake below Milgotah,

rans through the valley into the Cavery.
The British army, forming the front line, its

right wing reached from the river along the

rear of the French rocks to alarge tank which

covered that flank of the line. The park and

the left wing extended from the other side of
the river to the verge of the hills which the

army had crossed on their last march. The

reserve, encamped about a mile in the rear,

facing outwards, left a sufficient space hetween

it and the line, for the stores and baggage.

The Mahratta and the nizam’'s armies were

also in the rear, somewhat farther removed,

to prevent interference with our camp. The

encampment of the confederate army was

judiciously pitched at such distance from Se-

ringapatam, and so covered by the French

rocks in front of its right, as to prevent im-

mediate alarm to the enemy, either [rom its

proximity or apparent magnitude. The first

night in which the allies lay before Seringa-

patam, they were disquieted by the activity

of the enemy’s cavalry, and the Deccan troops

were much alarmed by flights of rockets which

came perpetually among their tents, This

alarm continued long after it was proved that

more confusion than danger ensued from these

missiles. The English took no notice of them,

but their scouts stealing out and concealing'

themselves behind the crags which were scat-

tered round, bronght down with musket shots

many of their foes.

On the 6th of February reconnoitering par-
ties were out to examine the enemy’s lines,
rom the left, Lieutenant-colonel Maxwell
and his attendants had a elear although rather
remote view of the sultan’s camp. The fol-
lowing description of it was given by one of
the staff of the British army :-—* On both sides
of the river, opposite to the island of Seringa-
patam, a large space is inclosed by a bound
hedge, which marks the limits of the eapital,
and is intended as a place of refuge to the
people of the neighbouring country from the
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incursions of horse. On the south side of the
viver this inclosure was filled with inhabitants,
but that on the north side was occupied only
by Tippoo’s army. The bound hedge on the
north side of the river includes an oblong
space of about three miles in length, and in
breadth from half a mile to a mile, extending
from nearly opposite to the west end of the
island to where the Lockany river falls into
the Cavery. Within this inclosure the most
commanding ground is situated on the north
side of the fort ; and, besides the hedge, it is
covered in front by a large canal, by rice
fields, which it waters, and partly by the
winding of the Liockany river. Six large re-
doubts, constructed on commanding ground,
added to the strength of this position, one of
which, on an eminence, at an ead-gah or
mosque, within the north-west angle of the
hedge, advanced beyond the line of the other
redoubts, was a post of great strength, and
covered the left of the encampment. The
vight of Tippoo’s position was not only covered
by the Lockany river, but beyond it by the
great Carrighaut Hill, which he bad lately
fortified more strongly, and opposite to the
lower part of the island, defends the ford.
The eastern part of the island was fortified
towards the river by various redoubts and
batteries, connected by a strong intrenchment
with a deep diteh, so that the fort and island
formed a second line, which supported the
defences of the first beyond the river; and

when the posts there should be no longer

tenable, promised a secure retreat, as from the
outworks to the body of a place. Tippoo's
front line or fortified camp, was defended by
heavy cannon in the redoubts, and by his field
train and army stationed to the best advantage.
In this line there were one hundred pieces,
and in the fort and island, which formed his
second line, there were at least three times
that number of cannon. The defence of the
redoubts on the left of Tippoo’s position was
intrusted to Syed Hummeed and Syed Guffar,
two of his best officers, supported by his corps
of Europeans and Lally's brigade, commanded
by Monsieur Vigie. Sheik Anser, a sipadar
or brigadier of established reputation, was on
the great Carrighaut Hill. The sultan himself
commanded the centre and right of his line
within the bound hedge, and had his tent
pitched near the Sultan’s Redoubt, so called
from being under his own immediate orders.
The officer is not known who commanded the
troops in the island ; but the garrison in the
fort was under the orders of Syed Sahib. The
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[ sultan’s army certainly amounted to above
five thousand cavalry, and between forty and
filty thousand infantry. Ever since the junc-
tion of the Mahratta armies, Tippoo, secing
he could not continue to keep the field, had
employed his chief attention, and the exer-
tions of the main body of his army, in forti-
fying this camp, and improving his defences
in the fort and island.”

The hostile armies were now in presence
of one another on the grand theatre of action.
The stake for which they contended was high.
The defeat of the allies must result in a dis-
astrous retreat, in which they would be obliged
to separate, and would be attacked and beaten
in detail ; or,if the British succeeded by their
skill and boldness in forcing their way against
all attempts to cut them off, they wonld reach
Madras with terribly diminished numbers.
Geeneral Abercromby's army might be unable
to make good its retreat, and would be ex-
posed to the chance of attack unsupported by
the army of Mysore. On the other hand, if
the sultan suffered defeat, all was lost. He
had but two chances left; one was in the great
strength of his fortified camp, the other in that
of the city and fortress of Seringapatam. He
reasonably caleulated that the only portions
of the allies who would dare to storm his for-

tified camp would be the British, and that
even if they succeeded, their army must be so
reduced in numbers by the conflict as to ren-
der it impossible for them to prosecute a siege
of the fortress, and he would then assail and
defeat the native armies in the open field.
Should the French render him assistance, he
would then be enabled to conquer the Carnatic,
and carry his arms also along the western
coast. He expected that a great battle of
i artillery would take place before his forti-
fied lines, which wonld lessen the numbers of
the English, while his cavalry harassed and
wearied out the Mahrattas and the troops of
the nizam. His hopes were that the lines of
 his fortified camp would prove too strong for
his enemies, and that the campaign would
terminate in his favour without siege being
laid to the capital itself. Thus both parties
looked forward to the struggle as one of vast
magnitude and consequence, and awaited with
eager and anxious suspense the moment when
| the terrible tonrnament of the mations and
powers of Southern India should meet in the
| concussion of deadly conflict which must one
| way or the other terminate the war. Another
| chapter must reveal the incidents and issue of
| the struggle.
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, CH APTER XCVI.

THIRD CAMPAIGN AGAINST TIPPOO SULTAN

(Coutinued)—STORMING OF THE FORTIFIED

CAMP BEFORE SERINGAPATAM—PASSAGE OF THE CAVERY, AND OCCUPATION OF THE

ISLAND.

Tre rival armies now confronted one another

with concentrated strength. ™Tippoo waited‘
for the attack dogged and resolute. The

IZar] of Cornwallis determined upon bold and |
prompt measures. Having carefully recon- |
noitered the enemy’s position, he issued the

orders for attack in the evening of the Sth of
February. As this was one of the mogt
memorable and interesting actions ever fought
by the British in India, it will interest the
reader to peruse his lordship’'s own deserip-
tion of the plan of battle, as made known in
his order of the day :—

The army marches in three divisions at seven this
evening to attack the ememy’s camp and lines; pickets
to join, field-pieces, quarter and rearguards, and eamp-
anards, to stand fast,

Right Division. Major-general Meadows.
Centre. Lord Cornwallis; Lient.-colonel Stuart.
Left Division.  Lieut.-colonel Maxwell.

If the right attack is made to the westward of the
Somarpett, the troops of that attack should, after entering
the enemy’s lines, turn to the left. But if the attack is
made to the eastward of Somarpett, the troops should
turn to the right to distodge the enemy from all the posts
on the left of their position.

The froops of the centre attack, after enfering the
enemy’s lines, should turn to the left; the front divi-
sions, however, of both the right and centre attacks
should, after entering, advance nearly to the extent of the
depth of the enemy’s camp before they turn to either
side, in order to make room for those that follow; and
such parts of both divisions, as well as of the left division,
as the commanding officers shall noft think it necessary to
keep in a compaet body, will endeavour to mix with the

fugitives, and pass over into the island with them.

The reserve, leaving quarter and rearguards, will form
in front of the line at nine this night, and Colonel Duff
will receive the commander-in-chief’s orders concerning
the heavy pavk, the encampment, and the reserve.

Young soldiers to be put on the quarter and rearguards
at gun firing, and the pickets to join when the troops
march off. y

A careful officer from each corps to be leffin charge of
the camp and regimental baggage. ;

Colonel Duffto send immediately three divisions of gun
lascars of fifty men each to the chief engineer, to carry the
scaling ladders, and the chief engineer is to send them to
fhe divisions, respectively, along with the officers of his
corps. !

Tlie officers of engineers and pioneers to be responsible
{hat the ladders, after having been made use of by the
soldiers, are not left carelessly in the enemy’s works.

Surgeons and doolies to attend the troops, and arrack
and biscuit to be held in readiness for the Europeans.

"The divisions to form, as follow, after dark :—

The right in front of the left of the right wing.
The centre in front of the right of the left wing.
T'he left in front of the left of the left wing.

“In addition to the troops detailed in the
orders, Major Montague of the Bengal, and |
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Captain Ross of the royal artillery, with a
detachment of two subalterns and fifty Euro-
pean artillerymen with spikes and hammers
from the park, accompanied the centre, and
smaller parties the two other columns.

“The troops had just been dismissed from
the evening parade at six o'clock, when the
above orders were communicated ; upon which
they were directed to fall in again with their
arms and ammunition.

“ By eight o’clock the divisions were formed,
and marched out in front of the camp; each
in a column by half companies with intervals,
in the order directed for their march,

“The number of fighting men was at the
utmost 2800 Europeans and 5900 natives.

“The officers commanding divisions, on
finding that their guides and scaling ladders
had arrived, and that every corps was in its
proper place, proceeded as appointed at half
an hour past eight o’clock.

“The evening was calm and serene; the
troops moved on in determined silence, and
the full moon, which had just risen, promised
to light them to success,

“The right column was conducted by Cap-
tain Beatson, of the guides, the centre column
by Captain Allen, of the guides, and Lieuten-
ant Macleod of the intelligence department;
and harcarrahs (native guides or spies), who
had been within the enemy’s lines, were sent
both to these and the left column.

“Tippoo’s pickets having made no attempt
to interrupt the reconnoitering parties in the
forenoon, he probably did not expect so early
a visit. The distance of our camp seemed a
circumstance favourable to his security, and
he did not, perhaps, imagine, that Lord Corn-
wallig would attack his lines till strengthened
by the armies commanded by General Aber-
eromby and Purseram Bhow.”

Tippoo was wholly unprepared for an at-
tack by infantry alone on a fortified camp,
protected by guns of every calibre, in every
direction. When the columns of attack moved

on, the tents of the camp were struck, and

preparations made for its defence in case of
sudden attack. The cavalry were drawn up in
the rear in support of it. Great was the anxiety
of the camp guards as they stood to their
arms, prepared for every casualty, and await-
ing the issue of the terrible crisis in which

the army was placed. Lord Cornwn]lisf:very
o M
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judiciously withheld from his allies any know-
ledge of the contemplated assault, until the
army was actually in motion. Had they been
made acquainted with the plan, they would
have raised all sorts of objections, and, finally,
refused co-operation. When they heard of
~ the enterprise consternation seized them. The
idea of a body of infantry, so small in number,
without artillery or cavalry, advancing upon
so strong a place, garrisoned so numerously,
bristling with cannon, and held by a deter-
mined ruler, totally appalled them. When
they learned that Lord Cornwallis himself
commanded the column by which it was in-
tended to penetrate the enemy’s defences,
their astonishment and alarm rose even higher.
They could not conceive of a great English lord
fighting as a common soldier, and voluntarily
placing himself in a position so imminent of
peril.  The chiefs immediately prepared for
the only issue of the counflict which they could
comprehend as possible—the total defeat of the
British, and the consequent dangers of destrue-
tion to the allied armies.

Onward marched the assailing columns,
Between ten and eleven o'clock, the centre
came 1ipon a body of cavalry, with a strong
detachment of the enemy’s rocket brigade.
The cavalry, astonished at being confronted
by the head of a battalion of British infantry,
galloped away, but left the rocketmen to make
feint of attack. These did little harm to the
English, who, amidst showers of innoxious
fire flashing over their ranks like meteors,
prosecuted the advance with rapid but steady
step.

g.t. this juncture the left column of the
assailants were ascending the Carrighant
Hill, and the scene presented to head-quarters
was grand and imposing, for instantly the
hill was topped with a circle of flame, from
continuous flashes of musketry. The centre
column was quickened by the discovery of
their approach made by Tippoo's cavalry,
and, animated by the fusilade from the Carri-
ghaut, they pressed on with extraordinary
vigour, so that the retreating cavalry had
scarcely reached the camp fifteen minntes
before them. The English broke through
the bound hedge which surrounded the camp,
and penetrated at once the enemy’s lines.
The right column, from the nature of the
ground, had been compelled to make a con--
giderable detour, and unfortunately did not
reach the hedge until half-past eleven o’elock.
Lord Cornwallis had foreseen the probability
of such a mishap, and had halted his troops
half-an-hour in the early period of the march.
Nevertheless the right column had wound its
intricate way so much farther to the right
than hislordship’s plan contemplated, that after
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all, the proposed approach to the boundary
line was far from simultaneous. When this
column did penetrate the hedge, it was at a
spot too mear that where the division under
the commander-in-chief in person had already
entered, but diverging to the right within
the hedge, made directly against the chief
redoubt upon which the defence relied on its
left. The moon shone out brilliantly upon
the cupola of the large white mosque which,
crowning a hill, was as a beacon to the
English. The mosque became the object
towards which their march was directed,
When diverging to the right this column
proceeded in part without the hedge, and
diverted the attention of the ememy, while
the remainder of the division pushed on to the
redoubt. It was not the intention of Lord
Cornwallis that this redoubt should be at-
tacked, because its situation was so far in
advance of the enemy’s proper lines of de-
fence. The hattle having already raged from
the left to the centre, and thence to the right,
the troops at the White Mosque Redoubt
were thoroughly prepared, and a heavy fire
of cannon loaded with grape and of musket-
balls, smote the head of the a